University of Alberta

Galectin expression and effect of galectin hapten inhibitors on epithelial cell phenotype in the embryonic chick mesonephros.

by

Kathryn Marie Murphy

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

in

Physiology and Cell Biology

Department of Biological Sciences

Edmonton, Alberta

Spring, 1999



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-40090-5



This thesis is dedicated to

.... John Murphy, my Dad, who would have been proud.

.... Marilyn Murphy, whose patience, understanding and support gave me the strength to finish this thing. Thanks Mom! You're the greatest.

ABSTRACT

Galectins are galactoside-binding animal lectins. In vertebrates, galectin proteins have been implicated in cell adhesion to polylactosamine-bearing glycoproteins of the extracellular matrix, such as laminin. Using immunofluorescence, Western blotting, and *in situ* hybridization I have described the localization of the chick 14 kDa and 16 kDa galectins during embryonic development of the mesonephric/gonadal complex. In the mesonephros, a temporary organ of excretion, the 16 kDa galectin (C16) is abundant in nephron basement membranes (BMs). C16 in BMs colocalizes with two potential glycoprotein ligands, laminin and fibronectin. To test the hypothesis that galectin-mediated laminin-epithelial cell interactions play a role in the maintenance of epithelial differentiation, an in vitro system for the culture of chick mesonephroi was developed. When compared with control saccharide-free or maltose-treated cultures, mesonephroi cultured with the galectin hapten inhibitors thiodigalactoside and lactose displayed several defects in the organization of epithelial tissue. These included a distorted tubule cell shape, pseudostratification of tubule epithelia, and an apparent disruption of glomerular podocyte adhesion to the GBM. Tubules expressing the epithelial-specific adhesion molecule E-cadherin also re-express vimentin, an intermediate filament typically restricted to mesenchymal cells. Also in hapten-treated cultures, the Na⁺/K⁻ATPase, a renal epithelial protein normally expressed at high levels only in the distal tubule, is expressed at low levels in most tubules. Re-expression of the mesenchymal protein vimentin by epithelial cells could indicate a reversion to the mesenchymal phenotype. Results suggest that galectin-BM glycoprotein interactions are important for the maintenance of the renal epithelial phenotype.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my gratitude for the patience, understanding, and support provided by my supervisor, Dr. S. E. Zalik. In addition, I would like to thank Dr. M.M. Palcic (Department of Chemistry) and Dr. D.B Pilgrim (Department of Biological Sciences) for their guidance and support while serving on my thesis committee.

Sincere thanks to the faculty and support staff of the Department of Biological Sciences for their guidance, support and assistance throughout my graduate and undergraduate experience at the University of Alberta.

I would also like to thank Dr. E. Didier (Universite de Clermont Blaise Pascal, Laboratoire d'Immunologie G, Aubiere Cedex, France) for her generous gift of an excellent antiserum. Thanks also to Dr. K. Kasai (Teikyo University, Department of Biological Chemistry, Kanagawa, Japan) for his gift of antisera and DNA clones, and to Dr. W. J. Gallin (University of Alberta, Department of Biological Sciences, Edmonton, Canada) for donating antisera to this project.

Several antisera (Table 4) were obtained from the Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank maintained by the Department of Pharmacology and Molecular Sciences, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, and the Department of Biological Sciences, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA. under contract N01-HD-6-2915 from the NICHD.

A portion of this work was presented as a poster at the 35th Annual Meeting of the American Society for Cell Biology (December, 1995), for which the abstract was published: Murphy, K.M. and Zalik, S.E. (1995). Expression of galactose-binding lectins is developmentally regulated in the somatic and germ cell components of the mesonephric/gonadal complex of the chick embryo. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **6S**: 324a.

Financial support was provided by the University of Alberta Graduate Teaching Assistantship program, a Province of Alberta Graduate Scholarship (1995-1996), and the Medical Research Council of Canada which funded a Research Traineeship.

This research was supported by the Medical Research Council of Canada.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX	2
Components of the extracellular matrix	2
Cellular receptors for the extracellular matrix	4
Mesenchymal/embryonic matrices vs. basement membranes	5
GALECTINS	6
Soluble galactoside-binding animal lectins: galectins	9
Galectins can be grouped according to binding specificities	
and structure1	.1
Proto-type galectins1	.2
Chimera-type galectins1	4
Tandem repeat-type galectins1	17
Galectins are proteins with intracellular characteristics and	
have an atypical secretion1	18
Galectin receptors1	19
Functional roles of galectins2	20
a) RNA processing2	21
b) Modulation of cell growth2	21
c) Cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions 2	22
THE VERTEBRATE EXCRETORY SYSTEM 2	25
The glomerulus 2	26
The proximal tubule 3	30
The distal tubule and collecting duct 3	32
DEVELOPMENT OF THE AVIAN EXCRETORY SYSTEM 3	34
The pronephros	36
The mesonephros 3	36
The metanephros	37
DEVELOPMENT OF THE NEPHRON	38

Nephrogenesis	39
Molecular aspects of differentiation	41
Characteristics of the inductive signal	44
What is the inductive signal?	44
FUNCTIONS AND CHARACTERISTICS OF EPITHELIA	47
Epithelial junctions	48
Maintenance of epithelial polarity	51
The influence of extracellular matrix components on	
epithelial polarity	53
STATEMENT OF PURPOSE	56
EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE	58
Immunohistochemistry of the chick mesonephric/gonadal	
complex	58
Fixation, embedding, and sectioning	58
Immunofluorescence staining	58
In situ hybridization to detect galectin mRNA in the	
mesospheric/gonadal complex	61
Preparation of crude galectin extracts from chick embryo	
mesonephros and gonads	62
Partial purification of galectin from crude mesonephros extract	63
Purification of galectin using an affinity column	63
Purification of galectin by a batch method	64
Immunodot analysis of fractions obtained during	
galectin purification	65
SDS-PAGE of crude and partially purified galectin extracts	66
Immunoblot analysis of extracts	67
Culture of isolated mesonephroi in a defined medium	68

RESULTS	7()

Immunolocalization of 14 kDa and 16 kDa galectin in the	
chick mesonephric/gonadal complex7	70
Detection of C16 mRNA in the 4 day embryonic mesonephros 7	'3
SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis of crude galectin extracts 7	'6
Concentration of 16 kDa galectin in crude extracts of the	
mesonephros by batch and column affinity	
chromatography7	'8
Colocalization of C16 and two potential ligands in the	
mesonephros8	31
Histology of the mesonephros under culture conditions	34
Localization of basement membrane proteins in cultures of	
mesonephric tissue8	8
In vivo expression of molecular markers of mesonephros	
differentiation9	0
Expression of marker molecules in cultured mesonephroi	17
DISCUSSION)3
Localization of galectin and its potential ligands in the	
mesonephric/gonadal complex10	13
Characteristics of the mesonephros cultured in a defined	
medium	15
Molecular markers for mesonephric tissue	6
Effects of hapten inhibitors of the galectins on cultured	
mesonephroi10	8
a) Programmed cell death10	19
b) Adhesion to the GBM11	0
•	
c) Modification of cellular phenotype 11	.2
c) Modification of cellular phenotype 11	.2

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Characteristics of the five major families of animal lectins	8
Table 2. Effectiveness of saccharides in inhibiting hemagglutination by galectins with Type I and Type II CRDs	12
Table 3. Characteristics of galectins isolated from different sources	. 15
Table 4. Antisera used in the course of this study	59
Table 5. Localization of marker molecules in 5 and 7 day embryonic mesonephros.	93

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Sequence alignment of critical carbohydrate binding residues from bovine Galectin-1, the chick 16- and 14- kDa galectins, and murine Galectin-3.	11
Figure 2. Structure and domain organization of the 3 types of galectins.	13
Figure 3. Structure of the vertebrate nephron, and detailed structure of the glomerulus.	28
Figure 4. Development of the avian excretory system.	35
Figure 5. Development of the mesonephric nephron	40
Figure 6. Immunofluorescence staining of C14 and C16 in the developing gonad.	71
Figure 7. Immunofluorescence staining of C14 and C16 in the developing mesonephros.	72
Figure 8. Detection of C16 mRNA and immunofluorescence staining of C16-rich cytoplasmic condensates in the 4 day mesonephros.	75
Figure 9. SDS-PAGE and immunoblot analysis of crude galectin extracts from left and right gonad, and mesonephros of 10 day chick embryos	77
Figure 10. Immunodot analysis of fractions obtained during partial purification of galectin in crude extracts from 10 day chick mesonephros and subsequent immunoblot analysis of those partially purified extracts after SDS-PAGE	79
Figure 11. Immunofluorescence staining of C16 galectin and the potential galectin ligands laminin and fibronectin in the developing gonad of 6 and 10 day chick embryos	82
Figure 12. Immunofluorescence staining of C16 galectin and the potential galectin ligands laminin and fibronectin in the developing mesonephros of 6 and 10 day chick embryos	83
Figure 13. General histological appearance of mesonephros cultured for 48 hours in the absence of added sugars or in the presence of maltose, TDG or lactose.	87

Figure 14. Histological appearance of glomeruli in mesonephros cultured for 48 hours in the absence of added sugars or in the presence of maltose, TDG or lactose.	89
Figure 15. Immunofluorescence staining of C16 and laminin in the GBM of cultured mesonephric tubules.	91
Figure 16. Double-staining immunofluorescence detection of E-cadherin and vimentin proteins in sections of mesonephros from 5 and 7 day embryos.	94
Figure 17. Double-staining immunofluorescence detection of α-actinin and Na ⁺ /K ⁺ ATPase proteins in sections of the embryonic mesonephros.	96
Figure 18. Double-staining immunofluorescence detection of α-actinin and Na ⁺ /K ⁺ ATPase in mesonephric tissue cultured for 48 hours in the absence of added sugar and in the presence of maltose.	98
Figure 19. Double-staining immunofluorescence detection of α-actinin and Na ⁺ /K ⁺ ATPase in mesonephric tissue cultured for 48 hours in the presence of TDG and lactose, hapten inhibitors of galectins.	99
Figure 20. Double-staining immunofluorescence detection of E-cadherin and vimentin in mesonephric tissue cultured for 48 hours in the absence of added sugar and in the presence of maltose.	. 101
Figure 21. Double-staining immunofluorescence detection of E-cadherin and vimentin in mesonephric tissue cultured for 48 hours in the presence of TDG and lactose, hapten inhibitors of galectins.	. 102

ABBREVIATIONS

- ATPase adenosine triphosphatase
- BM basement membrane
- BSA bovine serum albumin
- C14 chick 14 kDa galectin
- C16 chick 16 kDa galectin
- CRD carbohydrate recognition domain
- DAPI diamidino-2-phenylindole
- ECM extracellular matrix
- ER -endoplasmic reticulum
- FN fibronectin
- Fuc fucose
- Gal galactose
- GalNAc N-acetylgalactosamine
- GBM glomerular basement membrane
- Glc glucose
- GlcNAc N-acetylglucosamine
- hnRNP heterogenous ribonucleoprotein
- IgG immunoglobulin G
- LAMP lysosome-associated membrane protein
- mAb monoclonal antibody
- Mac-2-BP Mac-2 binding protein
- MDCK Madin-Darby canine kidney (cell line)
- MEPBS PBS with 4 mM β -mercaptoethanol
- NCAM neural cell adhesion molecule
- Neu neuraminic (sialic) acid
- pAb polyclonal antibody
- PBS phosphate buffered saline
- PG proteoglycan
- RNA ribonucleic acid
- SDS-PAGE sodium dodecylsulfate polyacrylamide gel electophoresis
- TBS Tris-buffered saline
- TPBS PBS with 0.1% Tween-20

INTRODUCTION

Embryonic development involves not only proliferation and differentiation of cells, but also cell-cell and cell-substratum adhesive interactions. Modulation of cell adhesion is crucial for such diverse processes as the segregation of different tissues into organs and the subsequent development of tissue architecture, axon pathfinding during development of the nervous system, development and activity of the immune system, and many others. In addition, binding of a cell-surface receptor to ligands on neighboring cells, or to non-cellular material such as that in the extracellular matrix, can influence cell proliferation, differentiation, and death. Thus, the cell-surface and extracellular matrix proteins that interact to mediate these effects have been, and continue to be, the focus of much study. Many of these molecules and their binding partners are glycosylated, and recently attention has been focused on the information, crucial to normal development and function, that can be encoded in glycoconjugate structures. Lectins are proteins that bind specifically to carbohydrate residues, and thus can interpret such "glycocodes" (Kasai & Hirabayashi, 1996). Galectins are a family of animal lectins that bind only β -galactose-containing carbohydrate structures; their biological role in nephrogenic differentiation in the mesonephros is the subject of this study. Because a lot of my work touches on the extracellular matrix, before I speak specifically about galectins I will give a general overview of the extracellular matrix.

EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX

Animal and plant tissues have two components: cells and their secreted non-cellular material; the latter is called extracellular matrix (ECM). ECM is a scaffolding which supports cells and provides a substrate for cell adhesion, thus maintaining tissue structure and function (MacDonald, 1988). In addition, the ECM plays several important roles during cell differentiation and organogenesis (MacDonald, 1988; Von der Mark, et al. , 1992).

Components of the extracellular matrix

Extracellular matrices consist chiefly of collagens, proteoglycans, and glycoproteins (Birk & Linsenmayer, 1994; Mosher, et al., 1992). Collagens are the major component of many extracellular matrices. They may be either fibril-forming (interstitial; types I, II, III, etc.) or network-forming (basement membrane, among these, type IV) (Birk & Linsenmayer, 1994; Yurchenco, 1994). Both fibrillar and network-forming collagens selfassemble once they are secreted into the ECM (Kuhn, 1995). Collagen proteins have domains that bind other collagen molecules for selfassembly, as well as domains that interact with cell surface receptors and other ECM components (Kuhn, 1995; Veis & George, 1994). Thus collagens stabilize the ECM and facilitate adhesion of cells to the matrix.

Proteoglycans (PGs) are proteins with attached sulfated polysaccharide (glycosaminoglycan) moieties (Ruoslahti, 1988). In the

extracellular matrix, PGs perform several functions. They are typically highly hydrated and thus maintain a fluid environment in the ECM. PGs also interact with other ECM constituents and contribute to the tensile strength of a matrix. The charge-specific filtering activity of certain extracellular matrices, such as the glomerular basement membrane, is partly due to the charge density of PGs (Ruoslahti, 1988; Weber, 1992). Finally, PGs have binding sites for soluble growth factors and can maintain high local concentrations of those factors, mediating tissue growth and differentiation (Vogel, 1994; Ruoslahti, 1988). One of the most abundant PGs in extracellular matrices is the heparan sulfate proteoglycan perlecan (Yurchenco & O'Rear, 1994; Iozzo, 1994).

Glycoproteins are proteins with at least one covalently attached carbohydrate moiety (Blackshaw, et al. , 1995). Several different glycoproteins have been isolated from ECM including fibronectin, laminin, and nidogen. Fibronectin (FN) is a ubiquitous extracellular glycoprotein that forms fibrils in the ECM (Potts & Campbell, 1994). Unlike the interstitial collagen fibrils, fibronectin fibrils do not selfassemble; an interaction with specific cell-surface FN receptors is required to generate fibrils (MacDonald, 1988; Peters & Mosher, 1994). In addition to the domain that mediates binding to cell-surface FN-receptors, FN has binding sites for collagen, proteoglycans, and other matrix glycoproteins (Potts & Campbell, 1994; Peters & Mosher, 1994). The binding of FN to several constituents of the matrix, as well as to the cell surface, helps

stabilize the matrix around the cell. The laminins self-assemble into a stable network which is the major component of specialized ECM structures called basement membranes (Timpl, 1996; Timpl & Brown, 1994; Yurchenco, 1994). In addition to the homotypic binding to other laminin molecules for network formation, laminin binds heterotypically to perlecan, other ECM glycoproteins, and cell-surface receptors (Timpl & Brown, 1994). One of the glycoproteins bound by laminin is nidogen. Nidogen binds very tightly to laminin and less tightly to collagen type IV (Mayer & Timpl, 1994). Thus, independent networks formed by selfassembly of laminin and collagen IV can be crosslinked by nidogen, further stabilizing the basement membrane (Timpl, 1996; Mosher, et al. , 1992). Nidogen has also been shown to bind FN and perlecan.

Cellular receptors for the extracellular matrix

Most interactions between the cell surface and the ECM components collagen, FN and laminin are mediated by cell-surface receptors called integrins (Haas & Plow, 1994; Dedhar & Hannigan, 1996). Integrins are heterodimeric integral membrane proteins composed of an α and a β subunit. Different combinations of α and β subunits have different ligand specificities. For example, $\alpha_2\beta_1$ integrin binds collagen, laminin and FN. $\alpha_4\beta_7$ integrin binds only FN, while $\alpha_6\beta_1$ integrin binds only laminin (Haas & Plow, 1994). Binding of the appropriate ECM component to its integrin receptor activates intracellular signaling pathways which result in a variety of cellular responses (Dedhar & Hannigan, 1996; Von der Mark, et

al. , 1992). In addition to the integrin-family of ECM receptors, there are a number of less well characterized non-integrin receptors (Timpl & Brown, 1994). One such receptor, α -dystroglycan, links laminin and the proteoglycan agrin in the ECM to the actin cytoskeletal network inside the cell (Henry & Campbell, 1996). Given the complex and dynamic interactions between the ECM and cells within a tissue, it is not surprising that the physical characteristics and molecular constituents of ECM are often tissue specific.

Mesenchymallembryonic matrices vs. basement membranes

Cells of mesenchymal and relatively undifferentiated embryonic tissues deposit ECM uniformly around the cell surface. In such tissues, cells are embedded in a randomly organized ECM (Ekblom, 1981b). Fibrillar components of this type of matrix include interstitial collagens and/or FN (MacDonald, 1988; Veis & George, 1994). FN, in particular, is a characteristic constituent of ECMs where tissue remodeling and reorganization is taking place, for example, during wound healing or organogenesis (MacDonald, 1988; Potts & Campbell, 1994). Development of mesenchymal cells into epithelial tissues such as the renal tubule, mammary gland, or skeletal muscle is accompanied by the disappearance of "interstitial" ECM and the formation of a basement membrane (Ekblom, 1981; Abrahamson & Leardkamolkarn, 1991).

Cells in epithelial tissues have functionally specialized domains of the cell surface and cytoplasm; they are polarized. ECM material is not

secreted randomly around the cell but is restricted to the basal surface, and consists of a continuous sheet of organized matrix material called a basement membrane. Basement membranes (BMs) always contain laminin, and often contain the network-forming collagen type IV. Collagen IV and laminin networks in BMs are cross-linked by nidogen. The heparan sulfate proteoglycan perlecan is also characteristic of BMs (Timpl, 1996; Yurchenco & O'Rear, 1994; Weber, 1992). In addition to providing physical support for epithelial cells, BMs provide cues for the maintenance of cell polarity (Eaton & Simons, 1995); they also form selectively permeable barriers which separate epithelial tissues from surrounding tissues (Yurchenco & O'Rear, 1994).

GALECTINS

In the last few decades, researchers have come to realize that biological information is not solely encoded in nucleic acid and amino acid sequences, but also in the structure and sequence of carbohydrate residues linked to proteins or lipids as glycoconjugates. The majority of these glycoconjugates are present as glycolipids or glycoproteins at the cell surface, or in the extracellular milieu as glycosylated proteins of the extracellular matrix. The extracellular location of glycoconjugates has suggested to researchers that these carbohydrate structures play a role in cell adhesion and cell signaling, providing machinery exists to decipher

these "glycocodes" (Sharon & Lis, 1989; Kasai & Hirabayashi, 1996). In fact, such machinery does exist, in the form of proteins called lectins.

Lectins recognize and bind specific carbohydrate residues. They were first isolated, in the late 1880's, as hemagglutinating factors from plant seeds (Sharon & Lis, 1987; Barondes, 1997). It was subsequently established that the hemagglutinating factors from different seeds were proteinaceous and that their activity could be selectively blocked by various simple sugars. The finding that some plant lectins were blood group-specific led to the concept that differing cell surface carbohydrates form the chemical basis for blood group specificity (Sharon & Lis, 1987).

Although plant lectins stimulate cell division in some animal cells, their effects, although interesting, are not directly relevant to animal cell function since plant lectins are exogenous factors (Sharon & Lis, 1987). In the early 1970's, the first animal lectins were discovered (Sharon & Lis, 1987; Barondes, 1997). Study of animal lectins, some of which do not have agglutinating activity, has led to acceptance of a broader definition of lectins: carbohydrate-binding proteins, other than antibodies, which do not have enzymatic activity (Barondes, 1988).

Five major families of animal lectins have been identified based on the structural and functional characteristics of their carbohydraterecognition domains (CRDs) (Drickamer, 1988; Drickamer & Taylor, 1993; Hirabayashi, 1993; Gabius, 1997). Essential characteristics of each lectin

Lectin Identifyin Family Feature		Carbohydrate Binding	Localization	Examples
C-type '	conserved CRD	variable: cation dependent	extracellular and integral membrane proteins	selectins asialoglycoprotein receptor
I-type ²	immunoglobulin- like CRD	variable; cation independent	integral membrane proteins	sialoadhesin N-CAM
Р-туре '	conserved CRD	mannose-6- phosphate; cation dependent or independent	integral membrane proteins	mannose-6- phosphate receptors
pentraxins '	pentameric subunit arrangement	variable; cation dependent	extracellular (serum)	serum amyloid P C-reactive protein
galectins '	conserved CRD	β -galactosides: cation independent	extracellular/ intracellular	Galectin-1 Galectin 3 (CBP- 35/Mac-2)

Table 1. Characteristics of the five major families of animal lectins.

¹ From Hirabayashi, 1993; ² From Powell & Varki, 1995; ¹ From Gabius, 1997

family have been summarized in Table 1. C-type lectins require calcium for carbohydrate binding, and are found in serum, extracellular matrix, and cell membranes. Although each C-type lectin recognizes a specific carbohydrate residue, as a family of proteins these lectins bind to a diversity of carbohydrates and have been shown to have many functions. I-type lectins were recently identified as carbohydrate-binding members of the immunoglobulin superfamily (Powell & Varki, 1995). The immunoglobulin-like domains of I-type lectins form the CRD, which binds various carbohydrate residues in the absence of a divalent cation. Itype lectins are integral membrane proteins, preferentially expressed on

the plasma membrane, and their immunoglobulin-like CRD is extracellular. Another group of animal lectins, **P-type** lectins, are also integral membrane proteins. In contrast to the I-type lectins, however, Ptype lectins are expressed in intracellular membranes such as the Golgi apparatus, the endoplasmic reticulum, and lysosomes (Gabius, 1997). Ptype lectins have a conserved CRD which binds to mannose-6-phosphate moieties (Kishore, et. al, 1997). Some P-type lectins are cation independent, while others require a ligand-associated calcium ion for binding. A fourth lectin group, the pentraxins, are found in extracellular locations, especially in the serum (Gabius, 1997). The pentraxin CRD has not been well characterized but is known to bind various carbohydrate ligands in a cation-dependent fashion. The identifying feature of this lectin family is the formation of pentameric, disk-shaped multimers. Finally, galectins are lectins which do not require calcium ions for activity and recognize only β -galactoside-containing carbohydrate residues (Gabius, 1997; Leffler, 1997). Galectins are found both extra- and intracellularily and have been isolated from a wide range of organisms (reviewed by Cho & Cummings, 1997; Hirabayashi, et al., 1997; Gitt, et al., 1997; Magnaldo & Michel, 1997; Hadari, et al., 1997; Müller, et al., 1997; Vasta, et al., 1997). This group of animal lectins is discussed in more detail.

Soluble galactoside-binding animal lectins: galectins

Galectins were first isolated and characterized as agglutinins whose activity could be inhibited by lactose, thiodigalactoside, and galactose

(Kobiler & Barondes, 1977; Levi & Teichberg, 1981). They were named lectins because of their sugar binding capacity. Unlike some other known animal lectins, the lactose-binding lectin was soluble, that is, could be extracted in an aqueous buffer containing lactose. Furthermore, agglutinating activity did not require the presence of calcium (Den & Malinzak, 1977; Leffler, 1997). Lactose- and galactose-binding lectins were subsequently isolated from several organisms and tissues and were found to have significant amino-acid sequence similarities (Figure 1) (Paroutaud, et al., 1987). X-ray crystallography studies of the lactose-galectin and the N-acetyllactosamine-galectin complexes have shown that the side chains of certain highly conserved amino acids form hydrogen bonds with hydroxyl (-OH) groups in these sugars (Lobsanov, et al., 1993; Liao, et al., 1994). The tightest binding of the galectin was to the β -galactose residue, but hydrogen bonding with the glucose or N-acetylglucosamine moieties of lactose and N-acetyllactosamine played a role in complex formation. Thus, the affinity for β -galactoside-containing saccharides displayed by members of the galectin family is a result of both their primary structure i.e., amino acid sequence, and tertiary structure i.e., protein folding (Lobsanov & Rini, 1997). Proper orientation of amino acid side chains in the folded molecule is so important for carbohydrate binding activity that mutations in almost any section of the sequence, even in those amino acids not directly involved in ligand binding, can eliminate galectin activity (Abbott & Feizi, 1991).

. 4	«1				<u> </u>	, :	60	<u>*</u>	、	*	、		60						r	•	70			*	
Gal-1	LCL	н	FI	N P	R	F	N A	н	G	D	l v n	тι	vc	N	SF	< D	Α	GΑ	w	G	A	Ę	a	R	ES
C16 ²	LML	н	FI	N P	R	F	рο	Н	G	D	V N	ΤV	VC	Ν	SF	¢Ε	D	GΤ	w	G	E	ε	D	8	ΚA
C14 ³	<u>Ē</u> G L	н	FI	N P	R	F	DA	H	G	D	V N	ΤI	VC	Ν	SF	ĸ	М	ΕE	w	G	т	Е	a	8	ΕT
4	169					1	78	1					187								197				
Gal-3	VAF	н	F١	A N	R	F	NE	N	N	R	RV	- 1	VC	Ν	Τŀ	Q	D	NN	w	G	к	Ę	E	R	GΑ
	1				L			Ļ	, ,	*			l		1				L	E	l			÷	

Figure 1. Sequence alignment of critical carbohydrate binding residues from bovine Galectin-1 (Gal-1), the chick 16- and 14 kDa galectins (C16 and C14 respectively), and murine Galectin-3 (Gal-3). Galectin residues forming hydrogen bonds with ligand hydroxyl groups, which are invariant in Type I CRDs (Gal-1, C-16, & C-14), are boxed. Residues which are variable in Type II galectin CRDs (Gal-3) are boxed and marked with an asterisk (*). ¹ Abbott, et al., 1989; ² Sakakura, et al., 1990; ³ Hirabayashi, et al., 1987; ⁴ Jia & Wang, 1988.

Galectins can be grouped according to binding specificities and structure

Galectins have been divided into two broad groups based on fine specificity of carbohydrate binding, and this division has been correlated with conservation of specific residues in the galectin CRD (Ahmed & Vasta, 1994). Type I galectins have conserved CRDs in which His⁴⁴, Arg⁴⁸, His⁵², Asp⁵⁴, Asn⁶¹, Trp⁶⁸, Glu⁷¹, and Arg⁷³ are invariant (Figure 1), and they show more affinity for N-acetyllactosamine, and poly-Nacetyllactosamine, than for lactose (Table 2) (Ahmed & Vasta, 1994). Type II galectins have variable CRDs which can have substitutions for, or deletions of, His⁵², Asp⁵⁴ and Arg⁷³ (Figure 1). Variance of those three residues results in marked differences in fine binding specificity (Table 2), with many Type II CRD-galectins showing particular affinity for complex saccharides like the tetrasaccharide GalNAcα1,3(Fucα1,2)-Galβ1,4Glc (Ahmed & Vasta, 1994). Complex saccharides of blood group antigens are often high affinity ligands for Type II galectins (Hughes, 1994). Table 2. Effectiveness of saccharides in inhibiting hemagglutination by galectins with Type I and Type II CRDs. Inhibition of agglutination is directly correlated with binding affinity. (Adapted from Ahmed & Vasta, 1994).

Inhibitory Saccharides	All Type I CRDs	Representative Type II CRD (Gal- 3)
most effective	N-acetyllactosamine (Galβ1.4GlcNAc)	GalNAcα1,3(Fucα1,2)Galβ1,4Glc
Ψ	lactose (Gaiβ1,4Glc)	N-acetyllactosamine
least effective	sialyllactose (NeuAcα2.3Galβ1,4Glc)	fucosyl lactose (Fucα1,2Galβ1,4Glc)

Based on the number and organization of CRDs and the presence or absence of other heterologous protein domains, three types of galectins have been identified: proto, chimeric, and tandem-repeat (Figure 2). *Proto-type galectins*

Proto-type galectins have an apparent molecular weight of 14-16 K and consist of a single CRD, usually of Type I carbohydrate binding specificity, with little additional sequence (Figure 2). They are widely distributed in the animal kingdom (Table 3) among mammals, birds, amphibians, fish, the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*, and a marine sponge. Recently, two proto-type lectins were isolated from a mushroom, *Coprinus cinereus* (Cooper, et al. , 1997), which suggests that the galactoside-binding galectin CRD is an evolutionarily ancient cellular entity (Hirabayashi, 1997).



Figure 2. Structure and domain organization of the 3 types of galectins. Schematic of each type of galectin, shown as both a linear protein (left) and as a folded protein (after Barondes, 1988) (right). For the folded molecules , the carbohydrate binding site is represented by the cleft in the globular carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD). N, aminoterminus; C, carboxy terminus; hnRNP, sequence with homology to heterogenous ribonucleoprotein complex; Pro/Gly/Tyr, collagenase sensitive sequence rich in proline, glycine, and tyrosine amino acids.

Most proto-type galectins are capable of dimerization and exist in a monomer-dimer equilibrium (Cho & Cummings, 1997). The predominance of either the monomer or the dimer is characteristic of individual galectins. For example, under non-denaturing conditions, the chick 16 K galectin appears as a dimer (apparent MW = 31 K), while the chick 14 K galectin appears as a monomer (Beyer, 1980). The agglutinating activity of proto-type lectins is mediated by the dimeric form, since two carbohydrate binding sites are necessary to cross-link saccharide residues on adjacent cells (Cho & Cummings, 1997). X-ray crystal analysis of dimeric Galectin-1 in complex with N-acetyllactosamine indicates that the two subunits dimerize through interaction of their N and C terminal domains. These domains are presented on one side of the folded galectin protein, opposite the ligand binding site (Figure 2) (Liao, et al., 1994). Site directed mutagenesis of Galectin-1 from Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells has confirmed that a few N-terminal residues are critical for dimerization (Cho & Cummings, 1996).

Chimera-type galectins

Chimeric galectins have an apparent molecular weight of 29-35 K, and consist of a C-terminal Type II galectin CRD and an N-terminal domain with sequence similarity to proteins of the heterogenous ribonucleoprotein (hnRNP) complex (Figure 2) (Jia & Wang, 1988). The hnRNP complex interacts with nucleic acids and regulates transport and processing of messenger RNA (mRNA) between the nucleus and

Designation	Structurai Type	Animal Source	Tissue Distribution	Apparent Mol. Wt. (SDS- PAGE)	CRD Type
Mammals Galectin-1	proto	human ^t calf ² hamster ¹ mouse ⁴	placenta, lung liver, spleen, heart.thymus ovary adult muscle, blastocyst	14 K	Type I ¹⁷
Galectin-2	proto	human	liver	14.K	Type II 77
Galectin-3	chimeric	human, mouse [*] human ⁷ human [*] mouse embryo ["] human ¹⁰ rat, dog ¹¹	liver, thymus, spleen, muscle breast carcinoma colon carcinoma notochord, bones, skin macrophages macrophages, epithelial tissues	29-32 K	Type II "
Galectin-4	tandem- repeat	rat ¹² pig ¹³ human ⁸	alimentary canal oral epithelium colon carcinoma alimentary canal	36 K	Type II ¹⁷
Galectin-5	proto	is rat	erythrocytes	18 K	Type 1115
Galectin-6	tandem- repeat	mouse	alimentary canal	33-34 K	N/D
Galectin-7	proto	human	skin keratinocytes	14.5 K	Type II ³⁸
Galectin-8	tandem- repeat	17 rat	liver, lung, kidney, heart, skeletal muscle, spleen, brain	34 K	Туре [[17
Galectin-9	tandem- repeat	mouse, rat	kidney, thymus, liver, heart, lung, muscle, intestine	36 K	N/D
Galectin-10 (Charcot-Leyden Crystal Protein)	proto	human ¹⁹	eosinophil. basophil	17 K	N/D
Birds Chick 14K	proto	chicken ²⁰ chick embryo ²¹ chick embryo ²²	intestine liver, intestine, pancreas, kidney yolk sac, neural tube, notochord, heart	14 K	Type I ³⁷

Table 3. Characteristics of galectins isolated from different sources.

Designation	Structural Type	Animal Source	Tissue Distribution	Mol. Wt. (SDS- PAGE)	CRD Type
Birds cont'd.		20	liver muscle	16 K	Type 137
Chick Tok	proto	chicken ²¹ chick embryo ²¹	liver, intestine, cardiac muscle,	10 K	i ype i
		chick embryo ²²	yolk sac, germ cells. ECM surrounding		
		chick embryo ^{23,24} chick embryo ²⁵	skeletal muscle mesonephros. metanephros		
Chick 30K	chimeric	chick embryo ²⁶	hypertrophic chondrocytes	30 K	Type II ²⁶
Amphibians				······	
Xenopus 16K	proto	Xenopus laevis ²⁸	skin	16 K	Type II ¹⁷
Bufo 15K	proto	Bufo arenarum Hensel ^{2°)}	oocytes	15 K	N/D
Fish					
electrolectin	proto	electric eel	electric organ	16.5 K	Type 1 ³⁷
congerin	proto	conger eel	skin mucus	16 K	Туре 1137
Nematodes					
32K nematode lectin	tandem- repeat	Caenorhabditis elegans	cuticle epithelium	32 K	Туре II''
16K nematode lectin	ргого	Caenorhabditis elegans	N/D	16 K	Type II ³³
Sponges					
GCA-1 & -2	proto	Geodia cydonium	extracellular (in sponge matrix)	15 K	Туре П"
Fungi		- · ·			
Cgl-I/II	proto	Coprinus	fruiting bodies	16 K	Type II "

Apparent

Table 3. continued

¹ Paratoud, et al., 1987; ² Briles, et al., 1979; ³ Cho & Cummings, 1995; ⁴ Poirer & Robertson, 1993; ⁵ Gitt, et al., 1992; ⁶ Crittenden, et al., 1984; ⁷ Oda, et al., 1991; ⁸ Huflejt, et al., 1997; ⁹ Fowlis, et al., 1995; ¹⁰ Hughes, 1994; ¹¹ Herrmann, et al., 1993; ¹² Oda, et al., 1993; ¹³ Chiu, et al., 1994; ¹⁴ Gitt, et al., 1998; ¹⁵ Gitt et al., 1995; ¹⁶ Madsen, et al., 1995; ¹⁷ Hadari, et al., 1995; ¹⁸ Wada & Kanwar, 1997; ¹⁹ Leonidas, et al., 1995; ²⁰ Beyer, et al., 1980; ²¹ Beyer & Barondes, 1982; ²² Zalik, et al., 1994; ²³ Nowak, et al., 1977; ²⁴ Den & Malinzak, 1977; ²⁶ Nurminskaya & Linsenmayer, 1996; ²⁷ Ozeki, et al., 1991; ²⁸ Marschai, et al., 1992; ²⁹ Ahmed, et al., 1996; ³⁰ Levi & Teichberg, 1981; ³¹ Muramoto & Kamiya, 1992; ³² Hirabayashi, et al., 1992; ³³ Hirabayashi, et al., 1996; ³⁴ Pfeifer, et al., 1993; ³⁵ Wagner-Hulsman, et al., 1996; ³⁶ Cooper, et al., 1997; ³⁷ Ahmed & Vasta, 1994, ¹⁸ Magnaldo & Michel, 1997..

cinereus ³⁶

cytoplasm. One stretch of the heterologous domain of the mammalian chimeric galectin, Gal-3, has a repeating motif rich in proline (Pro), glycine (Gly), and tyrosine (Tyr) residues which has been reported as a substrate for bacterial collagenases (Hermann, et al., 1993). Galectin-3 is often found in the ECM and that of the rat lung copurifies with a 92 K protein with collagenase activity (Herrmann, et al., 1993), suggesting a physical interaction between Gal-3 and the 92 K protein. In the absence of protease inhibitors, Gal-3 from the rat lung is slowly degraded. In addition, certain matrix proteases cleave the N-terminal domain of human Gal-3, leaving a 22 K C-terminal fragment with an intact and active CRD. (Ochieng, et al., 1998). Some portion of the N-terminal sequence of these galectins has been implicated in dimerization which is critical for agglutinating activity (Massa, et al., 1993; Kuklinski & Probstmeir, 1998)). Chimeric galectins have been isolated only from mammals and birds at this point (Table 3). The apparently more restricted distribution of chimeric lectins might reflect a more recent divergence within the galectin family.

Tandem-repeat-type galectins

Tandem-repeat galectins (32-36 K) consist of two galectin CRDs joined by a linking protein sequence (Figure 2). The first tandem-repeat galectin was isolated from the nematode *C. elegans*, but recently several mammalian tandem-repeat galectins have been characterized (Table 3). Tandem-repeat galectins are likely the result of gene duplication (Hirabayashi & Kasai, 1993).

The linking regions of different tandem-repeat galectins vary in length and sequence (Hirabayashi, et al. , 1992; Gitt, et al. , 1995) and are sensitive to protease enzymes (Lobsanov & Rini, 1997). All of the tandemrepeat galectins characterized so far have Type II CRDs (Table 3), and display a wide range of carbohydrate affinities. Adding to the functional flexibility of these galectins is the fact that the two CRDs within one tandem-repeat may be divergent and have different sugar-binding properties (Oda, et al. , 1993; Arata, et al. , 1997).

Galectins are proteins with intracellular characteristics and have an atypical secretion

Glycoconjugates are found predominantly outside the cell, either on the cell surface, in the extracellular matrix, or circulating in the serum (Hart, et al. , 1989). All galectin sequences examined so far have neither putative transmembrane segments nor signal sequences for secretion (Leffler, 1997). There is also evidence that lectins are synthesized on free cytoplasmic ribosomes (Wilson, et al. , 1989) and are not glycosylated (Hirabayashi & Kasai, 1993). Despite having such characteristics of intracellular proteins, galectins are often found extracellularily and appear to be secreted by a non-classical route that does not involve the ER-Golgivesicle system. Studies with cultured cell lines that secrete Galectin-3 have demonstrated that a number of drugs that block ER-Golgi-vesicular traffic have no inhibitory effect on secretion of the galectin (Sato, et al. , 1993; Lindstedt, et al. , 1993; Mehul & Hughes, 1997).

Immunohistochemical localization of Galectin-1 during its externalization from differentiating myoblasts revealed that cytosolic galectin first becomes concentrated in patches just beneath the plasma membrane (Cooper & Barondes, 1990). Subsequently the plasma membrane above a galectin patch evaginates and a galectin-containing vesicle pinches off the cell. Membrane evagination of this sort is called membrane blebbing and has recently been demonstrated for Galectin-3 (Mehul & Hughes, 1997). Results of these investigators, using fusion proteins, suggests that part of the N-terminal (non-CRD) domain of Gal-3 somehow directs the externalization. It is not known if N-terminal sequences from proto- and tandem-repeat galectins lacking the heterologous N-terminal domain of Gal-3 can support galectin release by blebbing.

Galectin receptors

Despite the prevalence of β -galactosylated molecules on the cell surface or in the extracellular milieu, galectins bind specifically to relatively few extracellular ligands. Both Type I and Type II galectins have very high affinity for linear polylactosamine chains (Merkle & Cummings, 1988). Polylactosamine consists of repeating units of lactosamine, $(\rightarrow 3Gal(\beta 1,4)GlcNAc\beta 1\rightarrow)_n$. It has been theorized that the increased affinity for polylactosamine, when compared to N-acetyllactosamine, may be due to simultaneous contact sites in the galectin CRD with more than one lactosamine unit within the polylactosamine chain (Cho &

Cummings, 1997). In many cases where galectins have been shown to modulate cell adhesion, galectin binding partners have been polylactosamine-bearing. The ECM glycoprotein laminin is heavily glycosylated with abundant polylactosamine side chains and is a very high affinity ligand for galectins (Zhou & Cummings, 1990; Castronovo, et al., 1992; Ochieng & Warfield, 1995; Cooper, 1997). In vitro, Galectin-1 binds to human placental FN, another ECM glycoprotein (Ozeki, et al., 1995). The chick 14 K galectin has been shown to bind to a polylactosaminoproteoglycan from chick skin (Oda & Kasai, 1984). Cell surface molecules which have been identified as galectin ligands also have (poly)lactosamine residues. In particular, LAMPs (lysosome associated membrane proteins), which cycle between lysosomes and the cell membrane, bear a large number of polylactosamine chains and are high affinity ligands for galectins (Do, et al., 1990). Recently, heavily glycosylated transmembrane enzymes have been identified as ligands for Galectin-4 in the intestinal brush border (Danielsen & van Deurs, 1997). Glycosylated lipids in the plasma membrane can be bound by galectins, such as the β -lactosamine glycolipid implicated in cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion of olfactory neurons (Mahanthappa, et al., 1994). Galectins also display high affinity for polylactosamine serum proteins such as Mac-2 binding protein (Mac-2-BP) (Inohara, et al., 1996).

Functional roles of galectins

Regulated expression of galectins during development suggests that these proteins play an important role in normal cellular function and development. There is evidence supporting a role for these proteins in the following cellular activities:

a) RNA Processing. Gal-3 and Gal-1 are present in the cell nucleus as well as the cytoplasm and extracellularly (Wang, et al., 1992; Hubert, et al., 1995; Vyakarnam, et al., 1997; Patterson, et al., 1997). A functional role for Galectin-3 in nuclear RNA splicing activity was suggested by the observation that saccharide ligands of the lectin (lactose, thiodigalactoside, and a blood group A tetrasaccharide) inhibits the processing of pre-mRNA to mRNA in HeLa cells (Wang, et al., 1992). Dagher, et al. (1995) demonstrated that Gal-3 meets the standard identifying requirements for factors involved in pre-mRNA processing by the spliceosome, since depletion of Gal-3 from a cell-free nuclear extract abrogated splicing activity and addition of recombinant Gal-3 restored mRNA processing activity to the extract. Galectin-1 has also been implicated as a splicing factor, since it was shown that either Gal-1 or Gal-3 could restore splicing activity to a galectin-depleted extract (Vyakarnam, et al., 1997). Thus Gal-1 and Gal-3 appear to be functionally redundant factors in mRNA processing.

b) Modulation of Cell Growth. Galectins have been shown to act as mitogens (Lipsick, et al., 1980; Matsutani & Yamagata, 1982; Sanford & Harris-Hooker, 1990), to act as cytostatic factors (Wells & Mallucci, 1991),

and to have transforming effects (Yamoaka, et al. , 1996) on different cell types. Galectins have also been identified as factors capable of modulating immune function by regulating apoptosis of T-lymphocytes (Pace & Baum, 1997; Perillo, et al. , 1997; Rabinovich, et al. , 1997; Wada, et al. , 1997; Akahani, et al. , 1997b; Yang, et al. , 1996; Perillo, et al. , 1995).

c) Cell-cell and Cell-matrix Interactions. Galectins have been proposed to function as mediators of cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion. The majority of galectins can function as bivalent molecules capable of cross-linking ligands. Indeed, galectins have been shown to form networks of cross-linked ligands in solution (Bourne, et al. , 1994; Brewer, et al. , 1997). Galectins could form links between glycoconjugate-bearing cellular receptors on adjacent cells, mediating cell-cell adhesion. These lectins could also link glycosylated cell surface molecules to glycoproteins and proteoglycans in the extracellular matrix, mediating cell-matrix adhesion.

Galectin-1 is synthesized at high levels by mouse myoblasts, which are the precursors of muscle cells. This lectin is not secreted until terminal myoblast differentiation begins (Cooper, et al., 1991). Evidence indicates that this galectin might bind to polylactosamine chains on laminin and sterically block laminin/ $\alpha_7\beta_1$ integrin interactions. As a consequence myoblasts lose adhesion to the ECM, stop migrating, and onset of myoblast fusion occurs (Cooper, 1997). Evidence indicates that Gal-1 disrupts binding of the integrin to laminin (Gu, et al., 1994). Thus

in this system, disruption of cell-matrix adhesion by galectins may play a crucial role in the formation of skeletal muscle.

Galectin-1 is expressed in the neuroblasts and axons of the rat olfactory bulb (Mahanthappa, et al. , 1994) where it binds to a member of the laminin family in the ECM and to a β -lactosamine-containing glycolipid in the axon cell membrane. Both ligands colocalize with Gal-1 in this system (Mahanthappa, et al. , 1994). It has been suggested that Galectin-1 may be involved in axon fasciculation by cross-linking the cell surface glycolipid to laminin in the ECM. This suggestion is supported by studies of galectin null mutant mice (Poirer & Robertson, 1993) in which it was found that neurons expressing N-acetyllactosamine do not project to the correct termination sites in the dorsal surface of the caudal olfactory bulb (Puche, et al. , 1996).

Expression of galectins and their ligands are often upregulated in malignant cells compared to their untransformed counterparts (Sarafian, et al. , 1998; Inohara & Raz, 1995; Skrincosky, et al. , 1993; Castronovo, et al. , 1992), and increased galectin-ligand expression has been suggested to play a role in metastasis and invasion (Lotan, et al. , 1994; van den Brûle, 1995 a & b; Akahani, et al. , 1997a). Some tumour cell lines express Gal-3 and secrete Mac-2-BP (Inohara & Raz, 1995; Inohara, et al. , 1996). Since in isolated cells aggregation can be promoted by the addition of Mac-2-BP it has been suggested that Gal-3/Mac-2-BP interaction could promote embolus formation in blood vessels and allow invasion of surrounding

tissues. Cross-linking of cells to the ECM by divalent galectins requires a cell-surface ligand such as the LAMPs; surface expression of LAMPs is often increased in malignant cells (Sarafian, et al., 1998). In some malignant cell lines, adhesion of cells to immobilized Galectin-1 is mediated by galectin-binding to lactosamine elements in cell-surface LAMPs (Skrincosky, et al., 1993; Woynarowska, et al., 1994).

The chick 14- and 16 K galectins are expressed throughout embryogenesis (Zalik, et al. , 1994; Guay & Zalik, 1994; Zalik, et al. 1990). During gastrulation both galectins are found in the cells migrating to form the primitive streak, a structure formed by the migration of superficial cells into the embryo (Zalik, et al. , 1990). Embryos cultured at the onset of gastrulation in the presence of galectin saccharide inhibitors or anti-16 K galectin antisera do not form a primitive streak and normal expansion of the embryo is inhibited (Jeeva & Zalik, 1996). Embryonic FN is heavily glycosylated and contains polylactosamines (Ozeki, et al. , 1995), and cells in the embryo express lactosamine-bearing molecules at their surfaces such as the HNK-1 epitope (Murumatsu, 1988). It has been suggested that the block in gastrulation could be due to the disruption of galectinglycoprotein interactions with the consequent disruption of cell-cell and cell-ECM contacts.

One approach to study *in vivo* functions of proteins is to generate a null mutation in an organism. Null mice for the genes encoding Gal-1 and Gal-3 have been generated (Poirer & Robertson, 1993; Colnot, et al. ,
1997). These mice are viable and develop without any major abnormalities. A detailed examination of the olfactory nervous system, however, revealed defects in primary olfactory neuron outgrowth (Puche, et al., 1996) in Gal-1 deficient mice. Double knockout mice lacking both Gal-1 and Gal-3 were described recently and these mice also appear phenotypically normal (Colnot, et al., 1997). However, since at least 10 galectins have been reported in mammals whose expression patterns overlap considerably (Colnot et al., 1997; Leffler, 1997) the possibility of functional redundancy and a compensation effect cannot be ruled out. Another consideration is that galectins may be most crucial for survival under stressed conditions. Galectin null mice were generated from extremely healthy laboratory stock and protected from pathogens, hunger, and other stresses during development. Galectin deficiency may not be critical under these conditions but could be extremely deleterious under stressed conditions (Leffler, 1997).

THE VERTEBRATE EXCRETORY SYSTEM

Since the excretory system of the chick embryo is my system of study, I will give a general overview of the function and organization of this system. Following that, I will briefly review the development of the excretory system in the chick embryo.

The function of the excretory system is to remove waste products from the blood, to regulate osmolarity of blood and body fluids, and to

control the acid-base balance of the blood (Bulger, 1983). In vertebrates, this function is performed by the kidney, whose functional unit is the nephron. The nephron has three basic components: the glomerulus, the secretory tubule composed of proximal, intermediate and distal segments, and the collecting ducts (Figure 3a). The glomerulus is the site of initial filtration of the blood during formation of the urine. After passing through the filtration barrier of the glomerulus, the filtrate is conducted through the secretory tubule where additional substances can be secreted into the glomerular ultrafiltrate, and where selective resorption of ions and water occurs. Finally, the collecting duct makes final adjustments on the pH and ionic concentration of the waste fluid and conducts it to a common duct; the latter leads eventually to the external opening of the excretory system which is the cloaca in birds.

The glomerulus

The glomerulus has two parts, the tuft and the capsule. The tuft contains capillaries and the various cell types and tissues involved in glomerular filtration, and is surrounded by the Bowman's capsule. (Figure 3, B and C) The lumen of the capsule is continuous with the lumen of the proximal secretory tubule. Blood enters the tuft via the afferent arteriole, and the rapid decrease in vessel diameter creates high pressure within the capillary, forcing much of the fluid through the filtration barrier. The

Figure 3. Structure of the vertebrate nephron, and detailed structure of the glomerulus. (A) Schematic of the mesonephric nephron (after Baird, et. al., 1994; Friebova-Zemanova & Goncharevskaya, 1982). (B) is a sagittal section through the glomerulus as depicted in (A). (C) is a cross-section through (B).

aa, afferent arteriole; bc, Bowman's capsule; bcbm, Bowman's capsule basement membrane; c, capillary; cd, collecting duct; dt, distal tubule; ea, efferent arteriole; en, endothelial cells; g, glomerulus; GBMen, endothelial glomerular basement membrane; GBMep, epithelial (podocyte) GBM; ma, mesangial cell; mm, mesangial matrix; msd (wd), mesonephric duct (Wolffian duct); p, podocyte; pe, pedicel (podocyte foot process); pt, proximal tubule; se, squamous epithelium; tbm, tubule basement membrane. A more complete description is found in the text.







filtration barrier retains macromolecules (proteins larger than albumin, approximately 70 kDa) but allows the passage of solutes of lower molecular weight (Mundel & Kriz, 1995). The resulting filtrate is collected in the lumen of the Bowman's capsule and flows into the proximal secretory tubule. Blood exits the tuft via the efferent arteriole. (Figure 3)

The most straightforward way to describe the components of the glomerulus in more detail is to begin from the capillary loop and work outwards towards the capsule (Figure 3, B and C). The endothelial cells which form the walls of the capillary are attached to each other in such a manner as to allow the existence of gaps, or fenestrations, between them (Gibley & Chang, 1967; Jones, 1977, Tiedemann & Egerer, 1984). Thus the fluid portion of the blood can pass through the gaps while the cellular components are retained. The capillary loop is completely surrounded by the endothelial glomerular BM and the mesangial matrix, a relatively fluid ECM, in which mesangial cells are embedded (Michael, et al., 1980; Schlondorff, 1996; Gauer, et al., 1997). The endothelial/mesangial matrix is secreted by the mesangial cells and by the endothelial cells of the capillary. Another, more rigidly organized, layer of ECM surrounds the endothelial/mesangial matrix. This ECM is produced by epithelial cells called podocytes which form the outermost layer of the glomerular tuft (Walker, 1973; Huang, 1979; Ekblom, 1981b; Sariola, 1984; Sariola, et al., 1984 a & b). The endothelial/mesangial matrix and the epithelial matrix together comprise the glomerular basement membrane (GBM).

Macromolecules and other filtration residues retained in the GBM are cleared by the continual resorption of matrix material by the mesangial cells (Walker, 1972; Michael, et al. , 1980; Schlondorff, 1996). The podocytes surrounding the tuft are highly specialized epithelial cells with a very distinct cellular architecture (Mundel & Kriz, 1995). Podocyte cell bodies do not rest on the glomerular basement membrane, but rather extend several "foot processes" or pedicels that rest on and secrete the epithelial portion of the GBM. The foot processes of a given podocyte interdigitate with the foot processes from other podocytes to cover 90% of the GBM (Mundel & Kriz, 1995). The filtration slits between the interdigitating foot processes are spanned by an extracellular structure, of a tight junctional nature, called the slit diaphragm (Brown & Stow, 1996). The slit diaphragm has pores which retain macromolecules larger than 70 kDa and thus plays a major role in forming the glomerular filtration barrier.

The function of the Bowman's capsule surrounding the tuft is essentially just to collect the glomerular filtrate and funnel it into the proximal tubule. It is lined with a BM, which is continuous with the epithelial portion of the GBM as well as the BM lining the proximal tubule (Huang, 1979). The capsule BM is secreted by the epithelial cells lining the Bowman's capsule (Figure 3).

The proximal tubule

The proximal tubule, so-called because it is the portion of the secretory tubule closest to the glomerulus (Figure 3, A), is lined by

columnar epithelium with basal nuclei and an apical brush border (Bulger, 1983; Brown & Stow, 1996). In the metanephros, the proximal tubule is specialized for bulk resorption of fluid, ions, and low molecular weight proteins (Brown & Stow, 1996). Detailed functional analysis of the mesonephros has not been performed. However, given the high degree of morphological similarity between meso- and metanephros of various species (Tiedemann, 1979; Schiller & Tiedemann, 1981; Friebova-Zemanova, 1981; Tiedemann & Zaar, 1983) and the observed conservation of nephric structure and function among vertebrates, it is reasonable to conclude that the function of the mesonephric proximal tubule is equivalent to that of the metanephric tubule.

In the proximal tubule, the volume of the glomerular filtrate is rapidly reduced to about 20% of the original volume (Bulger, 1983). The large fluid volume received by the proximal tubule is reflected in its structure; the proximal tubule typically has a larger diameter than the distal tubule (Friebova-Zemanova, 1981), and the columnar epithelial cells are tall, forming thick tubule walls (Tiedemann & Zaar, 1983; Wettstein & Tiedemann, 1981). In addition, the absorptive surface area in the proximal tubule is greatly amplified by a dense apical brush border of microvilli present in the epithelial cell (Gibley, 1967; Tiedemann & Zaar, 1983; Bulger, 1983).

Absorption of water and ions by the proximal tubule is isotonic. That is, water and electrolytes are absorbed from the filtrate until the

filtrate osmolarity is equivalent to that of the blood circulating near the basal face of the proximal tubule epithelium (Huss & Marsh, 1975). Solutes that are actively absorbed through apical channels, transporters, and receptors are subsequently transported through the cytoplasm by transcytosis, and are finally released into the basolateral intercellular spaces. Water moves into the intercellular spaces due to osmosis, via a paracellular pathway where water passes around the epithelial cells and through the tight junction barrier (Brown & Stow, 1996; Huss & Marsh, 1975). Water can pass through the proximal tubule tight junctions because in this segment of the nephron, the tight junctions are "leaky" due to the presence of fewer junctional complexes with several discontinuities between complexes (Brown & Stow, 1996; Schiller & Tiedemann, 1981; Tiedemann & Zaar, 1983). The BM surrounding the proximal tubule is porous and allows resorption of fluid from the basolateral spaces into the bloodstream (Brown & Stow, 1996).

The distal tubule and collecting duct

In the mesonephros, after passing through the proximal tubule, the isotonic filtrate enters the distal tubule (Figure 3, A), and then the collecting duct. The metanephric nephron of mammals and some birds has a loop of Henle between the proximal and distal tubules, which is a highly specialized region of secretory tubule that functions in urinary concentration (Wettstein & Tiedemann, 1981). The distal tubule and the collecting duct are structurally and functionally similar so they are usually

considered together as the distal nephron (Bulger, 1983). As with the proximal tubule, comparison of the ultrastructure of meso- and metanephric distal nephron suggests similarity in function (Wettstein & Tiedemann, 1981; Tiedemann, 1985). In the distal nephron, the isotonic filtrate from the proximal tubule can be concentrated, that is, made hypertonic with respect to the blood, or diluted, that is, made hypotonic, in accordance with the physiological needs of the organism. The distal nephron is also the site of acid-base regulation (Bulger, 1983; Masden & Tisher, 1986).

The distal nephron is lined by two types of columnar epithelial cells: principal cells and intercalating cells. Intercalating cells are interspersed among the principal cells, and the ratio of principal to intercalating cells varies between the distal tubule and the collecting duct (Masden & Tisher, 1986; Wettstein & Tiedemann, 1981; Tiedemann, 1985). The principal cells selectively absorb or secrete solutes into the filtrate under hormonal direction (Masden & Tisher, 1986). In contrast to the proximal tubule, paracellular flow of water at the distal tubule and collecting duct is prevented by "tight" tight junctional complexes (Brown & Stow, 1996; Schiller & Tiedemann, 1981; Tiedemann, 1985). If necessary, water is actively secreted or absorbed through water transport channels (Brown & Stow, 1996). The intercalating cells are specialized to secrete protons and bicarbonate ions as a means of regulating the pH of body fluids. There are two types of intercalated cells, which differ in polarity.

The A cells secrete protons into the tubule lumen and bicarbonate into the renal interstitium; the B cells secrete bicarbonate ions into the filtrate and protons into the interstitium (Brown and Stow, 1996; Masden & Tisher, 1986). Urine exiting the collecting duct is conducted through a common duct, the Wolffian duct for the mesonephros, or the metanephric duct which leads eventually to the external opening of the excretory system.

DEVELOPMENT OF THE AVIAN EXCRETORY SYSTEM

The development of the avian excretory system involves the formation of three temporally and spatially distinct kidneys (Romanoff, 1960) (Figure 4). The first to develop, the pronephros, is nonfunctional and degenerates rapidly. The second, the mesonephros, functions through a large portion of embryonic life and contributes to the formation of the gonads and associated structures. In birds and mammals, the metanephros is the last to develop and remains as the functional kidney throughout adult life.

All three kidneys develop from "nephrogenic mesenchyme", which is simply a portion of the intermediate mesoderm that, given the appropriate inducing signal, has the capacity to form nephric structures. Inductive events are common throughout embryogenesis (Saxen, 1987), and are said to occur whenever one tissue is known to influence the development of a different separate tissue (Grobstein, 1956) In the case of the development of the vertebrate excretory system, the inducing tissue is



Figure 4. Development of the avian excretory system (after Saxen, 1987; Romanoff, 1960; Hamilton, 1952). (A) 20-40 hours of incubation. (B) 50-70 hrs. (C) 80-100 hrs. (D) 120 hrs (5 days). (E) Post-hatching (>21 days). Plates (A)-(C) are sexually indeterminate stages; in (D) and (E) male versus female development is indicated. cl, cloaca; g, gonad; gc, gonadal cortex; gm, gonadal medulla; ms, mesonephros; msd, mesonephric (Wolffian) duct; mt, metanephros; mtd, metanephric duct; mud, Müllerian duct; o, ovary; od, oviduct; p, pronephros; pd, pronephric duct; t, testis; u, ureter; ub, ureteric bud; vd, vas deferens. A description of the events here depicted can be found in the text.

an epithelial duct which develops from an anterior portion of the intermediate mesoderm and grows caudally until it connects to the cloaca (Figure 4). This duct is termed the pronephric duct or the mesonephric (Wolffian) duct, depending on its location in the embryo (Romanoff, 1960). The mechanism and consequences of induction in the nephros will be discussed in more detail below.

The pronephros

The pronephros is the first and most anterior organ of excretion to develop in the chick (Figure 4, A). Pronephric tubule primordia appear as early as 30 hours incubation (Romanoff, 1960), and once fully developed, consist of rudimentary glomeruli connected by tubules to the pronephric duct. Despite the presence of all necessary structures, the pronephros is believed to be nonfunctional in the chick embryo. It is not known if induction by the pronephric duct is required for development of the pronephros, but scanning electron microscopic studies have clearly demonstrated that the duct develops before pronephric tubules begin to form (Jarzem & Meier, 1987). In the chick embryo, the duct and tubules of the pronephros begin to degenerate after 50 hours of incubation. The pronephric glomeruli degenerate more slowly but are absent from the 8 to 9 day embryo (Romanoff, 1960).

The mesonephros

The mesonephros develops just posterior to the degenerating pronephros, in response to an inductive signal from the mesonephric or

Wolffian duct (Friebova, 1975; Saxen, 1987). Growth of the mesonephros is rapid and proceeds in an anterior to posterior direction, in conjunction with the caudal growth of the Wolffian duct (Figure 4, B). Rudimentary mesonephric tubules are first found in the embryo after about 50 hours of incubation, and excretory function begins at around the 5th day (Figure 4, C) of incubation (Romanoff, 1960; Friebova, 1975; Narbaitz & Kapal, 1986). Excretion by the mesonephros reaches a peak around the 11th day, after which time the mesonephros begins to degenerate in an anterior to posterior fashion (Morris, 1967). The time of cessation of function is a matter of debate, but in any case once the metanephros begins to function in earnest the mesonephros becomes redundant. In addition to being the primary organ of excretion during a significant portion of embryonic life, the mesonephros is important because the medulla or inner portion of the gonad develops from tissue of mesonephric origin (Figure 4, D) (Carlon, et al., 1983) In addition, in male chicks the Wolffian duct persists and serves as the vas deferens of the testis (Figure 4, E) (Romanoff, 1960).

The metanephros

The metanephros develops in response to an inductive signal from a bud off the mesonephric duct (Romanoff, 1960; Saxen, 1987; Herzlinger, 1995). This ureteric bud grows laterally into the nephrogenic mesenchyme, where development of the metanephros begins (Figure 4, D). The first indications of metanephric development appear around the 4th day of incubation, but the definitive kidney does not begin to function

in the embryo until around the 12th day of incubation (Romanoff, 1960). For a period of several days the meso- and metanephroi function simultaneously, so that when the mesonephros degenerates the process of excretion is not interrupted. The metanephros continues to function throughout the adult life of the chicken (Figure 4, E).

DEVELOPMENT OF THE NEPHRON

The most striking feature of the development of the vertebrate kidney is the transformation of the dispersed cells of the nephrogenic mesenchyme into the highly organized structure of the nephron. Mesenchyme has been defined as embryonic tissue originating from the mesoderm (Blackshaw, et al., 1995), but the term implies a tissue which is not highly differentiated. Mesenchymal cells are typically spindle-shaped (Herzlinger, 1995) and are embedded in randomly organized interstitial ECM (Ekblom, 1981b). Differentiated renal epithelial cells, in contrast, are cells with functionally specialized cell membrane and cytoplasmic domains which rest on a discrete ECM basement membrane (Sorokin & Ekblom, 1992). With the notable exceptions of the podocytes of the glomerular tuft, which are modified to perform a specialized role in a unique locale, and the squamous or flattened epithelial cells lining the Bowman's capsule, renal epithelial cells have a characteristic cuboidal shape. These cells form junctions with neighboring cells which creates a barrier between the lumen of the renal tubule and the interstial spaces

containing capillaries and blood vessels. The mesenchyme to epithelium transition and the subsequent formation of the nephron from the newly converted epithelial cells will be discussed below.

There is a scarcity of information regarding the causal factors involved in chick nephrogenesis. Due to the fact that a well established *in vitro* system exists, most studies on the cell biology of nephrogenesis have been performed in the developing mammalian metanephros of the mouse. The mammalian and the chick excretory organs, however, have the same tissue of origin and respond to an inductive signal from similar structures. In addition, their development appears morphologically similar (Saxen, 1987). It is therefore useful to discuss events occurring during the development of the mammalian metanephros, while noting cases where the chick mesonephros has been specifically investigated. *Nephrogenesis*

Nephrogenesis begins with the condensation of induced nephrogenic mesenchyme into a tight ball (Ekblom, 1981; Saxen, 1987; Sorokin & Ekblom, 1992) (Figure 5, A and B). In the pro- and mesonephroi, mesenchymal condensates form lateral to the nephric duct, while in the metanephros condensates form around tips of the ingrowing ureteric bud. Shortly, the ball of mesenchymal cells elongates somewhat and becomes curved into the characteristic "comma shape" (Figure 5, C). The end of the comma- shape most lateral to the duct will be the proximal/glomerular end of the tubule. A slit develops in the proximal



Figure 5. Development of the mesonephric nephron (adapted from Davies, 1996; Herzlinger, 1995; Saxen, 1987). aa, afferent arteriole; bm, basement membrane; c, capillary; cd, collecting duct; dc, developing capillary; dg, developing glomerulus; dp, developing podocyte epithelium; ds, distal slit; dsc, developing squamous epithelium; dt, distal tubule; ea, efferent arteriole; en, ingrowing endothelial cells; msd (wd), mesonephric duct (Wolffian duct); ps, proximal slit; pt, proximal tubule. A description of the events represented in this figure can be found in the text.

area as the surrounding cells begin to differentiate. Subsequently, a second slit forms in the opposite end of the comma, at the end closest to the nephric duct. By this point, the condensate has assumed an S-shape (Figure 5, D). Subsequently the distal end of the tubular S-shape joins the nephric duct or ureteric bud and thus forms the collecting system (Figure 5, E). Cells in the presumptive proximal and distal secretory tubules begin to differentiate as the distal and proximal slits of the S-shape join together to form a continuous lumen.

At this stage in the development of the nephron, the glomerulus takes shape as the proximal tip of the S-shape flattens and curls up around capillary endothelial cells (Saxen, 1987; Sorokin & Ekblom, 1992). The capillary loops of the glomerulus develop from endothelial cells that migrate into the developing glomerulus (Figure 5, D) (Ekblom, et. al, 1982). The glomerular tuft forms as the BM surrounding the proximal end of the S-shaped stucture becomes associated with the BM secreted by the developing capillary endothelium and the mesangial cells. The latter are also thought to be of endothelial origin (Ekblom, et.al., 1982; Sorokin & Ekblom, 1992). The tubular epithelial cells resting on the BM of the forming tuft differentiate into podocytes. The widening slit becomes the lumen of the Bowman's capsule which is continuous with the lumen of the developing proximal tubule. The capsule itself develops as the tubular epithelial cells across the lumen from the developing glomerular tuft flatten into the typical capsular squamous epithelium. (Figure 5, F)

Molecular aspects of differentiation

Induction by the nephric duct or ureteric bud involves a mesenchymal to epithelial transformation of the nephrogenic mesenchyme, and the first stage in nephrogenesis is the condensation of mesenchymal cells. In the mouse metanephros, levels of two proteins involved in cell adhesion, NCAM and syndecan 1, increase in the mesenchyme before cell aggregation into condensates (Davies, 1996).

As mesenchymal condensation proceeds, expression of ECM components is dramatically altered (Ekblom, 1981b; Baird, et al. , 1994). The secretion of interstitial-type collagens I and III decreases to undetectable levels, and expression of BM collagen IV begins. The basement membrane-specific ECM components laminin and perlecan also start to be expressed (Ekblom, 1981; Davies, 1996). These molecules are secreted around the condensates as the BM forms. Around this time, cells begin to produce $\alpha_6\beta_1$ integrin heterodimers. These are transmembrane receptors for the laminin α chain; these receptors allow cells to adhere to the laminin in the developing BM (Davies, 1996).

Differentiation into an epithelial cell type is reflected by the synthesis of epithelium-specific proteins by the cells in the condensate. Cells in the proximal end of the condensate, which are the presumptive podocytes, begin to differentiate first, and differentiation proceeds in a proximo-distal direction (Saxen 1987; Ekblom, 1981). During the later stage of condensation, aggregated cells begin to express E-cadherin, desmocollin,

and α -catenin, the first two being epithelial-specific (Davies, 1996). Shortly following the acquisition of these proteins, cells in the condensate polarize so that the basal domain faces the BM and the apical domain faces the lumen. Development of the full epithelial phenotype occurs when the intermediate filament cytoskeleton of the tubular cells changes from one containing vimentin intermediate filaments to one containing cytokeratins (Davies, 1996)

Subsequent to the transition from a mesenchymal to an epithelial character is the further differentiation of cells into podocytes, proximal tubule and distal tubule epithelial types. Regional specialization of the nephric epithelium is indicated by the acquisition of segment-specific molecular markers which reflect the specialized functions of the different nephron segments (Ekblom, 1981b). Again, this differentiation occurs in a proximo-distal sequence, with the unique character of the podocyte epithelium of the glomerulus becoming apparent first, followed by final differentiation of the cells of the proximal and then distal tubule. The final differentiation of the podocytes is unique because it involves a reacquisition of some characteristics of mesenchymal cells (Sorokin & Ekblon, 1992). For example, podocytes express typical epithelial proteins such as components of the cell junctions called desmosomes, and $\alpha 6$ integrin. However, they also lack the epithelium-specific cytokeratins, and express vimentin and α_3 integrin; the latter proteins are characteristic of mesenchymal cells and typically absent from epithelia. Structurally,

podocytes form a cell sheet that is more organized than a mesenchyme but more "leaky" than tubular epithelium (Mundel & Kriz, 1995).

Characteristics of the inductive signal

In the embryo, the ureteric bud provides the inductive signal for the transition of the mesenchyme into an epithelium (Ekblom, 1981b; Saxen, 1987; Sorokin & Ekblom, 1992; Davies, 1996). *In vitro*, mesenchymes from other embryonic tissues can trigger this transition (Saxen, 1987, Sariola, et al., 1989). It has been concluded that the presumptive renal mesenchyme has a "nephrogenic bias" and that the inducing signal consists of a stimulus to express the renal phenotype to which the mesenchyme has previously been committed. Transmission of the inductive signal appears to occur by short-range diffusion of soluble factors, interactions of cell membrane-associated or extracellular matrix-associated factors, or formation of intercellular channels (Saxen, 1987; Sariola, et al. 1989). *What is the inductive signal*?

The signal that triggers nephrogenesis remains unknown, although current research indicates that members of the *Wnt* gene family are likely to be involved in the signaling pathway regulating nephrogenesis. Members of the *Wnt* gene family are closely related to the extensively studied *Drosophila* gene *wingless* (*wg*) (Nusse & Varmus, 1992; Klingensmith & Nusse, 1994), which functions as an extracellular signal

capable of influencing the development of adjacent cells (Klingensmith & Nusse, 1994).

Fibroblast cells expressing *Wnt*-1 can induce nephrogenesis in mouse metanephric mesenchyme (Herzlinger, et al. 1994), and inductive capacity of tissues which can induce nephrogenesis correlates with their expression of *Wnt*-1 (Herzlinger, et al., 1994). However, *Wnt*-1 is not expressed in the ureteric bud. Given the high degree of structural similarity and apparent functional similarity of known *Wnt* genes, it is possible some member of the *Wnt* gene family is expressed in the ureteric bud and can signal the mesenchyme to differentiate into nephrons.

Condensation of mesenchyme and subsequent tubulogenesis occurs exclusively around the ureter tips. One *Wnt* gene, *Wnt*-11, is expressed in the tips of the branching ureter (Kispert, et. al, 1996), but does not induce nephrogenesis. It is likely that some as-yet-uncharacterized member of the *Wnt* family is the *in vivo* inductive signal for the formation of the nephron. Some chemicals such as lithium that induce mesenchyme to epithelium transition *in vitro* (Davies, 1996) activate the signaling pathway induced by Wnt (Hedgepeth, et al. , 1997), and several properties of Wnt proteins also make them likely candidates for the inductive signal.

Wnt genes encode secreted glycoproteins that are known to interact with components of the ECM and to modulate adhesiveness in Wntresponsive cells. (Nusse & Varmus, 1992; Klingensmith & Nusse, 1994). Extracellular Wnt proteins are located at the cell surface or in association

with extracellular matrix material (Nusse & Varmus, 1992), which suggests that Wnt signaling would be short-range. Amino-acid sequences of Wnt proteins reveal several potential glycosylation sites (Nusse & Varmus, 1992; Klingensmith & Nusse, 1994), and it has been found that cells transfected with *Wnt-*1 secrete several Wnt-1 glycoforms which vary in the character and extent of glycosylation (Reichsman, et al. , 1996). Certain Wnt glycoforms expressed by a *Drosophila* cell line bind sulfated proteoglycans such as heparin or heparan-sulfate which contain N-acetylglucosamine and N-acetyl-iduronic acid residues; other glycoforms bind chondroitin-sulfate which contains N-acetyl-glucosamine and N-acetylgalactosamine groups (Reichsman, et al. , 1996).

The role of Wnt in signaling cell fate is probably due to its effect on cell adhesiveness. Wingless protein (wg) in Drosophila is known to activate a signaling pathway which results in the accumulation of the armadillo protein. The vertebrate homologs of armadillo are β -catenin and plakoglobin which are the cytoplasmic proteins with which the membrane cell adhesion proteins cadherins interact (Nusse & Varmus, 1992; Hinck, et al. , 1994; Hedgepeth, et al. , 1997). One consequence of the accumulation of these proteins in the cytoplasm is the stabilization of the interaction between β -catenin and the cadherins. The latter also leads to reorganization of membrane-linked cytoskeletal proteins and to the activation of several intracellular signal cascades with multiple and

profound effects such as a functional reorganization of the cell, or cell differentiation (Nathke, et al., 1995; Drubin & Nelson, 1996).

FUNCTIONS AND CHARACTERISTICS OF EPITHELIA

Since some of my thesis deals with changes in the epithelial phenotype, I will give a general overview of epithelial polarity. The epithelial cells lining the renal tubule form a barrier between two distinct environments: the filtrate/urine filled lumen and the pericellullar matrix which contains blood vessels. The osmoregulatory activity of the nephron is due to directional transport of solutes and water across this barrier. Controlled, vectorial transport is made possible by two specializations of epithelial cells (Griepp & Robbins, 1983). First, the cells are closely associated to each other via several types of junctional complexes. Second, epithelial cells have polarity and have structurally and functionally distinct plasma membrane domains. The free surface of the cell, which in the kidney tubule faces the lumen, is called the apical surface. The basolateral cell surface is the region of cell-cell or cell-substratum contact. Cell adhesion molecules mediating intracellular junctions are restricted to the lateral membrane, where cell-cell contacts occur (Wollner, et al., 1992; Garrod, et al., 1996; Nathke, et al., 1994). Receptors for BM components and other molecules that participate in cell-substratum adhesion are localized to the basal cell surface (Borradori & Sonnenberg, 1996; Green & Jones, 1996; Salas, et al., 1992; Ojakian & Schwimmer, 1994).

Polarized distribution of ion pumps and channels permits vectorial transport across the epithelial barrier (Le Gall, et al., 1995; Shiel & Caplan, 1995; Brown & Stow, 1996). For example, in the distal tubule the intercalated cells regulate the pH of the bloodstream. There are two types of intercalated cells (Schuster, 1990; Madsen & Tisher, 1986). A-type cells, which secrete hydrogen ions into the lumen and bicarbonate ions (HCO3-) into the pericellular matrix, have a hydrogen ion adenosine triphosphatase (H+ATPase) pump in the apical membrane and a chloride/HCO3- pump in the basolateral membrane. B-type cells have a reversed polarity, with the Cl-/HCO3- pump in the apical membrane and the H+ATPase in the basolateral membrane, and thus secrete HCO3- into the tubule lumen. Another ion exchange pump, the sodium/potassium ATPase, is restricted to the basolateral surface of renal epithelia, where it functions in the resorption of sodium ions from the bloodstream (Marrs, et al. , 1993: Mays, et al. , 1995).

Epithelial junctions

Epithelial cells adhere to neighboring cells and to the BM with junctional complexes. Tight junctions, adherens junctions, and desmosomes link cells together and are located on the lateral cell surface. Hemidesmosomes and adhesion plaques link the basal surface of epithelial cells to the underlying BM (Borradori & Sonnenberg, 1996).

Tight junctions form the permeability barrier of epithelial cell sheets and function as the boundary between apical and basolateral

membrane domains (Furuse, et al. , 1993; Furuse, et al. , 1994). The plasma membranes of adjacent cells are very tightly apposed in the region of the tight junction, which forms a belt around the circumference of the cell just below the apical surface. Freeze-fracture electron micrographs of tight junctional complexes show distinct strands where the outer leaflets of the plasma membranes of adjacent cells appear to be fused (Brown & Stow, 1996). A "leaky" epithelium, such as in the proximal tubule of the nephron, has tight junctions with few and incomplete strands (Schiller & Tiedemann, 1981; Tiedemann & Zaar, 1983). In contrast, the collecting duct epithelium permits no paracellular flow of water or solutes and has tight junctions with several anastomosing strands (Schiller & Tiedemann, 1981; Tiedemann, 1985).

The strands of the tight junctional complex are thought to consist of a transmembrane protein called occludin (Brown & Stow, 1996; Furuse, et al., 1993). Tight interactions between strands of occludin molecules embedded in the membranes of adjacent cells are proposed to form the paracellular seal. In addition, this seal creates a barrier to lateral diffusion of integral membrane proteins between the apical and basolateral domains (Brown & Stow, 1996; Furuse, et al., 1994). Peripheral components of the tight junction are not integral membrane proteins but rather are thought to interact with occludin and link the tight junction strands to the underlying actin cytoskeletal elements (Brown & Stow, 1996). Peripheral components identified so far include: ZO-1 (zonula occludens 1), which

binds to occludin; ZO-2, which binds to ZO-1; and cingulin, which is associated with the ZO-1/ZO-2 complex by an unknown interaction (Furuse, et al. , 1994; Citi, et al. , 1988).

Adherens junctions are located on the lateral membrane below the apical/basolateral boundary imposed by the tight junctions. Cell-cell adhesion at adherens junctions is mediated by cadherins (Cowin & Burke, 1996), transmembrane glycoproteins that contribute to calcium-dependent cell adhesion via homotypic binding in a variety of tissues (Barth, et. al, 1997; Nathke, et al. , 1994). In epithelial cells, the predominant cadherin is E-cadherin (Ozawa & Kemler, 1992), which is linked to actin microfilaments via the intermediate proteins α , β , and γ -catenin (Ranscht, et al. , 1994; Nathke, et al. , 1994). γ -catenin is also known as plakoglobin. β -catenin and plakoglobin are components of signaling cascades that regulate cell function and differentiation (Barth, et al. , 1997).

Desmocollin and desmoglein are other cadherins that mediate desmosomal adhesion (Garrod, et al., 1996; Koch & Franke, 1994). Desmosomal cadherins are linked to cytoskeletal elements of the intermediate filament family through the cytoplasmic accessory proteins desmoplakin and plakoglobin. (Barth, et al., 1997, Garrod, et al., 1996; Schmidt, et al., 1994; Green & Jones, 1996). Plakoglobin forms complexes with both desmocollin and desmoglein and is believed to also function as a signal transduction molecule (Garrod, et al., 1996).

Epithelial cells can be attached to the BM via hemidesmomes which link the ECM to the intermediate filament cytoskeleton (Garrod, 1993; Dowling, et al. , 1996; Green & Jones, 1996; Borradori & Sonnenberg, 1996). Two transmembrane components of hemidesmosomes have been identified. One is the bullous pemphigoid antigen 1 (BPAG-2/BP180) whose BM ligands have not been identified (Borradori & Sonnenberg, 1996; Green & Jones, 1996). The other transmembrane component of the hemidesmosome is $\alpha_6\beta_4$ integrin (Green & Jones, 1996; Spinardi, et al. , 1993) which binds to several laminin isoforms (Spinardi, et al. , 1995). Various accessory proteins bind to the cytoplasmic region of this integrin and link to intermediate filaments (Spinardi, et al. , 1995).

Simple epithelia (i.e./ one layered) such as that found in the renal tubule do not form intermediate filament-linked hemidesmosomes (Dowling, et al. , 1996). Adhesion to the BM in these tissues is mediated by adhesion plaques composed of integrins other than $\alpha_6\beta_4$ (Dedhar & Hannigan, 1996). Binding of integrin receptors to extracellular matrix components leads to clustering of integrins into adhesion plaques (Dedhar & Hannigan, 1996).

Maintenance of epithelial polarity

In order for harmonious nephrogenic differentiation to continue after the induction process has occurred, epithelial polarity per se must be maintained. Three general mechanisms contribute to the maintenance of epithelial polarity: 1) delivery of transmembrane and secreted proteins to

the appropriate membrane plasma membrane domain; 2) selective retention of the appropriate integral membrane proteins in membrane domains; and 3) prevention of lateral diffusion of transmembrane proteins between the apical and basolateral domains by the tight junction barrier (Le Gall, et al. , 1995).

Newly synthesized proteins as well as those "recycled" from the plasma membrane are sorted just before or immediately after leaving the Golgi apparatus (Odorizzi, et al. , 1996), and are segregated and packaged into specific vesicles destined for the apical or basolateral surface (Wandinger-Ness, et al. , 1990; Drubin & Nelson, 1996). These vesicles move along the fibers of cytoskeletal elements to the appropriate membrane domain (Le Gall, et al. , 1995; Brown & Stow, 1996; Mays, et al. , 1994). Secreted proteins sorted in this fashion include BM components (Natori, et al. , 1992; Svennevig, et al. , 1995). In addition, integral membrane proteins with a polarized distribution such as growth factor receptors (Crepaldi, et al. , 1994), channel proteins, and ion pumps (Brown & Stow, 1996) are often sorted into vesicles and delivered directly to the appropriate surface domain.

Proteins can also become polarized on the cell surface if their retention time is significantly longer when they are delivered to one membrane domain than the other. Many transmembrane proteins, such as the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, are stabilized in the appropriate membrane domain by interactions with components of adherens junctions, desmosomes,

adhesion plaques, and/or elements of the cortical cytoskeleton (Le Gall, et al., 1995; Mays, et al., 1995). Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase can be delivered to the cell surface randomly, but it is retained in the basolateral membrane because it is linked to the cortical cytoskeleton (Peters, et al., 1995; Marrs, et al., 1993). The influence of extracellular matrix components on epithelial polarity

The establishment of epithelial cell polarity during development of the kidney has been examined in vivo as well as in vitro. Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK cell line) cells cultured under appropriate conditions become polarized and exhibit many of the characteristics of renal tubular epithelium, such as vectorial transport of ions and water (Leighton, et al., 1970). In these cells, both cell-cell and cell-substratum adhesion is required to develop a fully polarized phenotype (Drubin & Nelson, 1996; Eaton & Simons, 1995). When MDCK cells are grown in suspension culture, they exhibit qualities of a renal neoplasm, namely uncontrolled growth and invasiveness when transplanted into an animal (Leighton, et al., 1970). If MDCK cells in suspension culture are allowed to contact each other, they form small aggregates in which E-cadherinmediated cell-cell adhesion is sufficient to define the lateral membrane domain, and basolateral proteins become restricted to areas of cell-cell contact in the aggregate (Drubin & Nelson, 1996).

It is generally accepted that cell-cell contacts establish the lateral domain of epithelial cells while cell-substratum contacts define the apicobasolateral axis, presumably by contact-induced orientation of cytoskeletal

elements (Drubin & Nelson, et al. , 1996; Eaton & Simons, 1995; Wang, et al. , 1994; Ojakian & Schwimmer, 1988; Vega-Salas, et al. , 1987). Furthermore, proper development of a polarized phenotype is dependent on the nature of the cell-substratum interaction. Extracellular matrix, including BM material, is laid down by cells within a tissue, and different cell types and tissues produce ECM with unique components and/or structural characteristics (Birk & Linsenmayer, 1994; Fitch & Linsenmayer, 1994; Ekblom, 1981b). In some cell lines, including rat kidney cells, the composition and organization of ECM, in turn, can affect cell morphology, gene expression, and polarity of cells contacting that matrix (Pienta, et al. , 1991; Van Adelsberg, et al. , 1994).

Cellular responses to ECM components are mediated by cellmembrane receptors, including integrins (von der Mark, et al. , 1992; Dedhar & Hannigan, 1996). After the onset of nephrogenic differentiation in the mouse developing renal tubule, the interaction of cellular receptors with the ECM glycoprotein laminin is crucial for cell polarization and tubule formation, and for the subsequent maintenance of the polarized phenotype (Ekblom, et al. , 1980; Ekblom, 1996; Durbeej & Ekblom, 1997).

Laminin is a heterotrimer composed of α , β , and γ chains (Timpl & Brown, 1994). During kidney development, β and γ laminin chains are produced throughout the uninduced mesenchyme as well as by developing epithelial cells. The laminin α chain, however, is produced only by induced cells and is found exclusively in the BM of developing

tubules (Klein, et al. , 1988; Durbeej & Ekblom, 1997). Antibodies to the cell binding sites of the α , β , and γ chains of laminin (Timpl & Brown, 1994; Durbeej & Ekblom, 1997) inhibit the development of polarity of kidney tubular cells in organ culture but not the condensation of induced mesenchyme, suggesting that this BM protein plays a role in the development of the epithelial phenotype (Klein, et al. , 1988). The $\alpha_6\beta_1$ integrin receptor, which binds to the carboxy terminal end of the cell binding domains of laminin (the E8 fragment), has been shown to be essential for epithelial polarization during nephrogenesis (Goodman, 1992). During the formation of nephric structures from induced mesenchyme, the spatial and temporal distribution of the α_6 integrin subunit correlates with that of the laminin α chain. Antibodies to the α_6 subunit that selectively block its binding to laminin E8 severely inhibit polarization in developing renal tubules (Sorokin, et. al, 1990).

Another laminin receptor, α -dystroglycan, has been implicated in epithelial morphogenesis. Alpha-dystroglycan binds to the E3 fragment of laminin (Ekblom, 1996) and is coexpressed with the laminin α chain during tubule formation (Durbeej, et al. , 1995). Antibodies that disrupt the binding of α -dystroglycan to laminin also inhibit development of renal tubules (Durbeej, et al. , 1995). The 37/67 kDa laminin receptor may also play a role in development of polarity. Treatment of MDCK cells plated on laminin with antibodies to this receptor results in missorting of an apical membrane marker (Salas, et al. , 1992). There is also evidence

that a cell-surface glycolipid, bearing the galactose-containing Forssman antigen, mediates cell-laminin interactions that are crucial for the maintenance of cell polarity in renal epithelial cells (Zinkl, et al., 1996). It seems clear that laminin expression is crucial for development of epithelial polarity, and that laminin may be acting through several concurrent pathways to exert an effect on cellular phenotype.

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

Because cellular interactions with laminin are so crucial for the development and maintenance of epithelial polarity, and because laminin is a high-affinity ligand for galectins, it is possible that galectins may affect cell polarization during development of nephric tubules and/or play a role in the maintenance of the polarized phenotype. In the present study I examined the expression of the chick 14 kDa and 16 kDa (hereafter indicated by C14 and C16, respectively) galectin proteins in the differentiating mesonephros of the chick embryo from 4 to 10 days of incubation. In situ hybridization revealed that message for the 16 kDa galectin was present in the 4 day mesonephros, indicating that mesonephric C16 was produced in that tissue. The expression of C16 protein in the mesonephros was confirmed by immunolocalization in tissue sections, and by Western blotting of tissue extracts. C16 appears in the basal laminae surrounding mesonephric tubules and in the glomerular basement membrane (GBM); two potential ligands, laminin

and FN, colocalize with the galectin. Since C16 was expressed in the basal lamina I investigated whether hapten inhibitors of the galectin could affect epithelial-mesenchymal transformation. To determine the possible functions of C16 in nephrogenic differentiation, chick mesonephroi were cultured in a defined medium in the presence of thiodigalactoside and lactose, hapten inhibitors of galectins. Interference with galectin function in this manner resulted in changes in the cellular architecture of the mesonephros and in a partial return of the tubular epithelial cells to a mesenchymal identity. This was reflected by the fact that the tubular epithelial cells, which normally express only epithelial-specific proteins, began to express mesenchyme-specific proteins simultaneously with epithelial proteins.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE

Immunohistochemistry of the chick mesonephriclgonadal complex Fixation, Embedding, and Sectioning. Embryos from 4 to 10 days of incubation, or embryonic tissues, were washed briefly in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing 0.15 M NaCl and 5 mM NaKHPO₄ (pH 7.4) and immediately fixed in 1% acetic acid in 95% ethanol for 1 hour at room temperature. Fixed tissues were dehydrated in a graded ethanol series, transferred to xylene, and embedded in Paraplast X-Tra (Oxford Labware) under vacuum. Paraplast tissue blocks were sectioned at 7 μm with a Reichert-Jung 2040 Autocut rotary microtome. Paraplast tissue sections were placed onto glass slides coated with 2% 3-aminopropyl triethoxysilane in acetone, and stored at room temperature until used for histological staining with hematoxylin-eosin or for immunofluorescence analysis.

Immunofluorescense Staining. Sections were dewaxed with xylene and rehydrated with a graded alcohol series (100%, 95%, 70%, and 50% ethanol) and equilibrated in PBS (pH 7.4). Non-specific binding was blocked by incubating the tissue sections with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 5% normal goat serum in PBS, at room temperature, for one hour. To examine the expression pattern of the 16 kDa galectin and its putative ligands during the development of the mesonephric/gonadal

Antisera	Antigen	Host Animal (pAb or mAb)	Source
R10	chick liver 16 kDa galectin	rabbit (pAb)	Zalik *
D16	chick pectoral muscle 16 kDa galectin	rabbit (pAb)	Didier
K14	chick 14 kDa galectin	rabbit (pAb)	Kasai [‡]
R701	chick liver E-cadherin	rabbit (pAb)	Gallin°
B3/D6	avian fibronectin	mouse (mAb)	DSHB⁺
31-2	avian taminin	mouse (mAb)	DSHB
H5	chicken vimentin	mouse (mAb)	DSHB
β4/B4	avian Na.K-ATPase	mouse (mAb)	DSHB
α-ACt	α-actinin	rabbit (pAb)	Sigma

Table 4.	Antisera	used	during	the	course	of	this	study
----------	----------	------	--------	-----	--------	----	------	-------

Zalik laboratory

Gift from E. Didier, Universite de Clermont Blaise Pascal, Laboratoire d'Immunologie G, Aubiere Cedex, France.

[±] Gift from K. Kasai, Teikyo University, Department of Biological Chemistry, Kanagawa, Japan.

^{*} Gift from W.J. Gallin, University of Alberta, Department of Biological Sciences, Edmonton, Canada

Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Department of Pharmacology and Molecular Sciences, Balrtimore, USA.

complex, sections from 4 to 10 day embryos were incubated with one of the following primary polyclonal (pAb) or monoclonal (mAb) antisera: anti-16 kDa galectin pAb (D16), anti-avian laminin mAb (31-2) hybridoma supernatant, or anti-avian FN mAb (B3/D6) hybridoma supernatant. To establish the distribution of certain marker proteins to aid in the immunohistochemical analysis of the cultured mesonephros, sections from early developing (5 day) and fully developed (7 day) mesonephroi were also incubated with one of the following antisera: anti-E-cadherin pAb (R701), anti- α -actinin (α -ACT) pAb, anti-vimentin mAb (H5) hybridoma supernatant, or anti-Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase mAb (β 4/B4) hybridoma supernatant. Details of the antigen-specificity and source of these antisera are given in Table 4. Hybridoma supernatants containing monoclonal antisera (31-2, B3/D6, H5, and β 4/B4) were used undiluted. All other antisera were diluted in PBS with 1% BSA. The D16 antiserum and the control sera, i.e. rabbit or mouse normal serum (Sigma), used as controls for polyclonal and monoclonal antisera, respectively, were applied at a 1:100 dilution. The R-701 and α -ACT antisera were diluted 1:250. Tissue sections were incubated with the primary antisera for 3 hours at room temperature, washed twice with PBS with 0.1% Tween-20 (TPBS), and washed once with PBS. For sections incubated with polyclonal primary antisera, the secondary antisera were either tetramethyl rhodamine isothiocyanate (TRITC)-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG or fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Jackson Laboratories) diluted 1:100. For sections incubated with monoclonal primary antisera, the secondary antisera was FITC-conjugated goat antimouse IgG (Jackson Laboratories) diluted 1:50. Slides were incubated overnight at 4°C in the dark with the secondary antibodies and washed the following day with TPBS and PBS, as described previously. Subsequently, all sections were briefly incubated with 0.5 µg/ml 4,6diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI, Sigma) to stain nuclear DNA. After a final rinse in PBS, a Mowiol-based mounting medium containing anti-
fading agents (Zalik, et al. , 1990) was applied to the tissue sections. Fluorescence was viewed with a Zeiss Photomicroscope III. Photographs were taken using Kodak Ektachrome 400 color slide film. *In situ hybridization to detect galectin mRNA in the*

mesonephric/gonadal complex

The DNA clone 302 for the chicken 16 kDa galectin was a gift from Dr. Ken-ichi Kasai (Teikyo University, Kanagawa, Japan). Residues 250-356 corresponding to the least similar regions of the 16 and 14 kDa chicken galectins were generated using PCR and were cloned into the PCR II vector using the PCR Optimizer Kit (Invitrogen, San Diego, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Using the DIG-RNA labeling kit (Boehringer Mannheim, Laval, QU Canada), the DIG-labeled RNA probe, recognizing a single RNA species of the correct size, was generated (Marsh, et. al., 1995)

Precautions were taken throughout the procedure to avoid contamination of any solutions with RNase. Embryos from four-day incubated eggs were isolated and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in ribonuclease (RNase)-free Pannett and Compton's saline (New, 1966). Following dehydration in dioxane, embryos were embedded in low melting point Paraplast (Oxford Labware). Five mm-thick sections were cut on a rotary microtome, then floated and fixed onto Poly-L-Lysine slides (Baxter). Sections were dewaxed, and rehydrated with a graded alcohol series before treatment with proteinase K to digest cellular proteins. Next,

slides were post-fixed in 4% formaldehyde and rinsed with diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC) water. Non-specific binding of probe was minimized by incubating slides in 0.25% acetic anhydride in 0.1M triethanolamine and briefly rinsing in DEPC water. Sections were then dehydrated through a graded alcohol series and allowed to air dry. The slides were incubated for 3-4 hours at 55°C in hybridization buffer (50%) deionized formamide, 25% 20X PIPES, 10% 50X Denhardt's [Brahic & Ozden, 1992], 0.002% SDS, 2.5% 10mg/ml salmon sperm DNA, 2.5% herring sperm DNA, 2.5% yeast tRNA). Next, sections were incubated with the appropriate digoxigenin (DIG)-labeled probe at a concentration of $5 \,\mu\text{g/ml}$ in hybridization buffer overnight at 55°C. Following hybridization, slides were washed at room temperature in four 30 minute changes of 2X saturated sodium citrate (SSC) solution containing 300 mM NaCl and 30 mM sodium citrate. Next, slides were incubated for 1 hour in 0.1 SSC containing 15 mM NaCl and 1.5 mM sodium citrate, before a final 1 hour incubation in Buffer 1 (0.1M Tris pH 7.4 and 0.05M NaCl,). Nonspecific adherence of anti-DIG antisera was minimized by blocking sections in Buffer 1 containing 5% BSA for one hour. Endogenous tissue alkaline phosphatase (AP) activity was inactivated by three 15 minute incubations in Buffer 1 with 1 mM levamisole. Slides were then incubated for two hours at room temperature with AP-conjugated anti-DIG Fab¹ fragments (Boehringer Mannheim) diluted 1:400 in Buffer 1 with 1% BSA. Following a brief wash in Buffer 1, sections were equilibrated in Buffer 3

(0.1M Tris, 0.05M MgCl, 0.1M NaCl, pH 9.5) before the color reaction was developed in Buffer 3 containing the substrates nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT) and 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate (BCIP) (Boehringer Mannheim). Slides were washed repeatedly with distilled water to stop the developing reaction and were mounted with GelTol (Immunon). *Preparation of crude galectin extracts from chick embryo mesonephroi and gonads*

The mesonephroi, right gonad, and left gonad were removed from 12 dozen 10 day chick embryos and transferred to ice-cold PBS (pH 7.2) in graduated cone-tipped plastic centrifuge tubes. The tissues were then centrifuged at 1000 x g for 1 minute to determine packed tissue volume, and the PBS was decanted and replaced with 10 volumes of ice-cold lectin extraction solution (LES). LES consists of PBS with 300 mM β -lactose, 4 mM β-mercaptoethanol, and 0.25 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF). Tissues were homogenized in LES using a Polytron homogenizer (Brinkmann) and left shaking overnight at 4°C. Homogenates were subsequently centrifuged at 80 000 x g at 4°C, for 90 minutes. The resulting supernatants, hence called crude galectin extracts, were transferred to Spectrapor dialysis tubing (MW cut off 6000 - 8000). Lactose was removed by exhaustive dialysis against PBS containing 4 mM β -mercaptoethanol (MEPBS, pH 7.2), and extracts were concentrated to the original tissue volume on a bed of polyethylene glycol (PEG, MW 20,000). Total protein concentration was determined using the Pierce Micro BCA Protein Assay

Reagent Kit with bovine γ -globulin as the protein standard. When necessary, crude galectin extracts were further concentrated by acetone precipitation.

Partial purification of galectin from crude mesonephros extract:

Purification of Galectin Using an Affinity Column. Galactosebinding activity in the crude extract from 10 day chick mesonephros was further purified using column or batch affinity chromatography. APL-Sepharose was prepared by linking para-aminophenyl-β-D-galactoside (APL, Sigma) to Sepharose 6B (Pharmacia) beads and poured into a 10 ml column attached to an LKB 2111 Multirac pump and fraction collector. Protein levels in the fractions were detected by a Uvicord S 2138 Monitor (OD₂₈₀) and recorded on an LKB 2210 Potentiometric Recorder. One ml of crude extract from 10 day chick mesonephroi was applied to the column and washed with MEPBS. Subsequently, the column was washed with 300 mM sucrose in PBS (pH 7.2), to remove non-specifically bound proteins. Following a wash with 10 volumes (100 ml) of MEPBS, galectins were eluted by application of a 300 mM lactose in PBS solution.

Purification of Galectin by a Batch Method. Crude galectin extracts from 10 day mesonephros were incubated with α -lactose immobilized on 6% beaded agarose (Sigma). Purification was carried out in 10 ml polypropylene snap-cap tubes using 1 ml of α -lactose beads. The lactoseconjugated beads were thoroughly washed in MEPBS (pH 7.2) and pelleted by light centrifugation at 700 x g for 1 minute. One ml of crude

mesonephros extract was diluted in 3 ml of MEPBS and applied to the beads, which were left shaking at 4°C overnight. After light centrifugation, the supernatant was removed. The beads were then washed 3 times with 4 ml of MEPBS, followed by overnight incubation with 4 ml of 300 mM sucrose in PBS (pH 7.2). The sucrose-eluted material was removed by centrifugation and the beads were washed as before. Four ml of 300 mM lactose in PBS were added to the beads which were incubated overnight at 4°C with shaking. The lactose-eluted material was removed by centrifugation and possible residual galectin was removed from the beads by washing 3 time with MEPBS, as above. All supernatant fractions, including MEPBS washes, were saved for analysis by dot immunoblotting.

Immunodot Analysis of Fractions Obtained During Galectin Purification. To identify galectin-containing fractions from the affinity purification procedures, all fractions were subjected to immunoblot analysis using a polyclonal antiserum raised against 16 kDa galectin from chick liver (R10). Two microlitre samples of each fraction were removed and dotted onto Trans-Blot nitrocellulose membrane (Biorad, 2 µm pore size) and allowed to dry. Controls consisted of 2 µl dots of MEPBS, bovine fetuin (2 mg/ml solution), and egg albumin (2 mg/ml solution). Membranes with dot blots were washed overnight in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) containing 50 mM Tris-HCl and 0.15 M NaCl, pH 7.5, to remove residual lactose or sucrose. Non-specific binding was blocked by overnight

incubation, at 4°C, with 5% electrophoresis-grade BSA (Sigma A 2153) in TBS. To detect galectin, dot blots were incubated overnight at 4°C with the R10 antiserum diluted 1:1000 in TBS with 1% BSA, washed two times with TBS containing 0.05% Tween-20 (Biorad) (TTBS), and three times with TBS. Subsequently, blots were incubated for 3 hours at room temperature with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Biorad) diluted 1:3000 in TBS containing 1% BSA, and then washed with TTBS and TBS, as above. Galectin-containing dots were detected by the HRP color reaction using 4-chloro-1-napthol (Biorad) as described by Hawkes et al. (1982).

Fractions exhibiting galectin immunoreactivity were pooled and concentrated to a volume of 1 ml as described previously. Total protein concentration in each partially purified galectin extract was determined as described previously. When necessary, these extracts were further concentrated by acetone precipitation.

SDS-PAGE of crude and partially purified galectin extracts

Crude and partially purified galectin extracts were analyzed by sodium dodecylsulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). For reference purposes, a crude galectin extract previously prepared from 15 day yolk sac was run concurrently. One mm-thick polyacrylamidegradient (10%-18%) gels were prepared using the Biorad Mini-Protean II apparatus. Protein concentration in the samples was normalized to 2.3 µg/µl for the crude extracts and 0.3 µg/µl for the pure extracts and samples

were suspended in SDS sample buffer (50 mM dithiothreitol, 0.07 M Tris-HCl, 5% SDS, 22% glycerol, 30% urea, and 0.01% bromophenol blue), pH 6.8. Broad-range protein molecular weight standards (Biorad) were diluted 1:20 in sample buffer, according to manufacturers directions. Proteins were reduced in the SDS sample buffer by heating at 95°C for 5 minutes before application to the gel. Gels were run, in a buffer containing 25 mM Tris, 0.2 M glycine, and 0.2% SDS, at 100 mV constant voltage until the dye front passed through the stacking gel. Once proteins entered the separating gradient gel, the voltage was increased to 200 mV until the dye front reached the bottom of the gel. Proteins were visualized by staining the gels with Coomassie R-250 dye (Biorad).

Immunoblot analysis of extracts

Immediately after SDS-PAGE, gels were placed in Transfer Buffer containing 25 mM Tris, 0.2 M glycine, and 20% methanol and allowed to equilibrate for 30 minutes. Gels were assembled into the Biorad Mini Protean II Western transfer apparatus which was placed in ice. Electrophoretic transfer to nitrocellulose was performed for 2-3 hours at a constant amperage of 200 mA. After transfer, protein standards were visualized on the nitrocellulose membrane by staining with Ponceau Quick Red (Sigma).

Immunoreactive (galectin-containing) bands were detected on the nitrocellulose membrane by immunoblot analysis. Several thin strips were cut from each lane so that different antibodies could be used for the

analysis. Immunostaining and detection of immunoreactive bands on the blot strips was performed as described above for dot blot staining. The primary antisera used were: R10, a polyclonal antiserum (pAb) raised in rabbit against 16 kDa galectin from chick liver; D16, a pAb to 16 kDa galectin of chick pectoral muscle, and control (normal) rabbit serum. All sera were diluted 1:1000 in TBS with 1% BSA.

Culture of isolated mesonephroi in a defined medium

Five-day incubated eggs were swabbed with 70% ethanol and allowed to dry in in a positive-pressure air flow hood. Embryos were removed aseptically into filter-sterilized Tyrode's saline (0.8% NaCl, 0.02% KCl, 0.02% CaCl₂, 0.01% MgCl•6H₂O, 0.005% NaH₂PO₄•2H₂O, 0.1% NaHCO₃, and 0.1% glucose), pH 7.2, and staged according to Hamburger and Hamilton (1951). Mesonephroi from stage 25-26 embryos were dissected out and removed to a drop of Basic Medium in a sterile tissueculture treated plastic petri dish on ice. Basic Medium is a 1:1 mixture of Ham's F12 and Dulbecco's Minimum Essential Medium (DMEM) with 1 mM glutamine, 1 mg/L insulin, 1 μ g/L selenium, 50 μ g/ml conalbumin, 50 μ g/ml gentamycin, and 50 μ g/ml polymyxin-B-sulfate (all from Sigma). Using a tungsten needle, the ends of the mesonephroi were removed and discarded. The central portion of each organ, approximately 1.5 mm long and less than 1 mm in diameter, was transferred to the top of the membrane filter (polycarbonate membrane with 4 μ m pore size) in a Costar Transwell (Corning) tissue culture plate (wells 6.5 mm diameter).

After the drop of medium surrounding the mesonephros had soaked into the suspended membrane filter, test medium was added to the well underneath the filter. Test media consisted of Basic Medium with 50 mM maltose, lactose, or thiodigalactoside (TDG), or Basic Medium alone. The Transwell plates were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ and high humidity, in a water-jacketed incubator (Forma Scientific model 3157). After 24 hours, approximately half of the medium below the membrane filter was removed and replaced with the same volume of the same fresh medium. After 48 hours the membrane support with the attached tissue was removed and fixed first with 1% acetic acid in 95% ethanol for 30 minutes at room temperature, and subsequently overnight at -20°C. Fixed tissues were embedded in Paraplast as described previously. Sections were cut and used for immunofluorescence staining, as described above, or were stained with hematoxylin and eosin to observe tissue architecture.

RESULTS

Immunolocalization of 14 kDa and 16 kDa galectin in the chick mesonephric/gonadal complex.

In 4 day embryos, both C14 and C16 galectin proteins are expressed in the primordial germ cells (PGCs), which are in the process of colonizing the genital ridge (GR) (Fig. 6, A and B). In the 7 day embryo, after the PGCs have established themselves in the GR, PGCs cease to express the C14 and C16 galectin proteins; at this stage both galectins are found only in what appears to be ECM material of the gonad. The most intense staining for both galectins is found at the boundary between the gonadal cortex and medulla (Fig. 6, C and D). In subsequent development PGCs start to reexpress the 16 kDa galectin protein, as evidenced by the fact that in 10 day embryos PGCs have regained a diffuse cytoplasmic stain for the 16 kDa galectin (Fig. 6, F). The 14 kDa galectin protein in 10 day PGCs is not detectable by immunofluorescent staining (Fig. 6, E). Both galectins persist in the gonadal ECM.

Both galectin proteins are expressed already in the 4 day chick mesonephros (Fig. 7, A and B). Staining for C14 is predominantly cytoplasmic (Fig. 7, A) and this largely intracellular distribution persists through 10 days of incubation (Fig. 7, C and E). Immunofluorescence for C16 in the mesonephros of the 4 day embryos is largely cytoplasmic, and often is abundant in the basal cytoplasm. Galectin accumulations can be seen in many cells, giving the staining a granular appearance (Figs. 7, B;



Figure 6. Immunofluorescence staining of C14 and C16 in the developing gonad. The anti-C14 antiserum K14 and anti-C16 antiserum D16 were used to detect these galectin proteins in the gonad of 4-10 day chick embryos. In the 4 day embryo (A,B) in the genital ridge (gr), which is the presumptive gonad, both C14 (A) and C16 (B) galectins are present in the cytoplasm of primordial germ cells (arrows) colonizing the genital ridge. By 7 days of incubation (C,D), galectin staining has disappeared from the primordial germ cells, which are located in the gonadal cortex (c). The 14 kDa galectin (C) can be seen in matrix material (arrowheads) at the boundary between cortex and medulla (m). C16 is also seen in this boundary ECM, and additionally is found in ECM in the medulla (D). In the 10 day gonad (E,F), C14 (E) is abundant in the ECM at the cortex/medulla boundary and is also seen in medullary ECM. The 16 kDa galectin (F) remains in the medullary ECM and is particularly abundant in the boundary ECM. In plate F, the C16-immunoreactive material in the upper right is dorsal mesentery. Scale bars = 50 μ m.



Figure 7. Immunofluorescence staining of C14 and C16 in the developing mesonephros. The anti-C14 antiserum K14 and anti-C16 antiserum D16 were used to detect these galectin proteins in the mesonephros of 4-10 day chick embryos. In the 4 day mesonephros (A,B), C14-immunoreactive material (A) is present in condensates (arrows) in the basal cytoplasm of tubule (t) cells, and in the glomeruli (g). At the same stage (B), C16-rich condensates (arrows) are abundant in the glomeruli (g). Cytoplasmic condensates are also present in the basal cytoplasm of tubule cells in the 4 day mesonephros. Yellow fluorescence in the glomeruli is due to autofluorescence of hemoglobin in erythrocytes present in the glomerular capillaries. By 7 days of incubation (C,D) C14 (C) present in the cytoplasm of tubule cells and what appear to be podocytes in the glomerulus. The tubule basal laminae and GBM do not contain C14 galectin protein. In contrast, at 7 days C16 (D) is concentrated in tubule and glomerular basement membranes (arrowheads) and cytoplasmic immunoreactivity is faint. Cytoplasmic staining for C14 persists in tubule cells of the 10 day mesonephros (E). At this stage, C16 (F) is abundant in tubule basal laminae (arrowheads) and is not detected in tubule cell cytoplasm. Scale bars = $50 \mu m$.

and 8, B). In particular, the podocytes of the developing glomeruli are intensely stained with the anti-16 kDa galectin antiserum (Fig. 7, B). However, as development proceeds, the 16 kDa galectin accumulates in the basement membranes surrounding mesonephric tubules and in the glomerular basement membrane of the 7 day embryonic mesonephros (Fig. 7, D). By 10 days of incubation, there is intense C16 immunoreactivity in the basal laminae of the tubules (Fig 7, F) and in the GBM (Fig. 12, B). *Detection of C16 mRNA in 4 day embryonic mesonephros*

It has been suggested (Didier, et al., 1988) that 16 kDa galectin present in the embryonic chick mesonephros is produced elsewhere in the embryo and travels through the blood until it becomes trapped in the GBM and tubule basement membranes. In the present study, *in situ* hybridization with a probe to the 16 kDa galectin mRNA transcript was used to determine if the C16 galectin in the mesonephric basement membranes was synthesized by the mesonephric tissue. In the 4 day embryo, C16 galectin message was found in the Wolffian duct, developing tubules, and developing glomeruli of the mesonephros (Fig. 8, A) suggesting that this galectin is, in fact, produced by the mesonephros itself. Close examination of the immunolocalization of C16 protein in 4 day mesonephros (Fig 8, B) reveals that this lectin is found in granular cytoplasmic inclusions in the podocytes, in the squamous epithelial cells lining the Bowman's capsule, and in the tubule cells.

Figure 8. Detection of C16 mRNA and immunofluorescence staining of C16-rich cytoplasmic condensates in the 4 day mesonephros. (A) Detection of the C16 message in distinct tissues of the 4 day chick embryo by *in situ* hybridization. C16 mRNA is present in the Wolffian duct (wd), in the developing glomeruli (g) and tubules (t) of the mesonephros, in the genital ridge (gr) and in the notochord (n). For comparison, C16 RNA was not detected in the dorsal mesentery (dm), dorsal aorta (da) and the surrounding mesenchyme. In (B), C16 immunoreactivity is present in cytoplasmic condensates (arrows) in podoctyes of the glomerular tuft, which is within the Bowman's capsule (bc). C16-rich condensates can also been seen in the basal cytoplasm of tubule cells (arrow). (C) is the same section as (B), stained with DAPI to visualize nuclei. Scale bar in (A) = 200 μ m; in (B) and (C) = 50 μ m.







SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis of crude galectin extracts

Lactose-extracts of chick 10 day embryonic left gonad, right gonad, and mesonephros were separated by SDS-PAGE (Fig. 9, A) and transferred to nitrocellulose for immunoblot analysis using two anti-C16 polyclonal antisera, R10 and D16 (Table 4). For reference purposes, a similar extract from 5 day yolk sac, a rich source of both C16 and C14, was used as a positive control.

Analysis by SDS-PAGE of crude lactose-extracts from gonad and mesonephros (Fig. 9, A) reveals that the protein spectra of these extracts differ. In particular, a number of proteins with apparent molecular mass between 45- and 98 K are seen in the gonad/mesonephric extracts but are not seen in the yolk sac. Immunoblot analysis of nitrocellose transfers of SDS-PAGE-separated proteins from the same extracts was performed to confirm the presence of C16 (Fig. 9, B). The R10 antisera, raised against C16 from chick liver, recognizes a band with an apparent molecular mass of approximately 16 K in extracts from combined right and left gonad, mesonephros, and yolk sac, indicating the presence of C16 in those extracts. This antiserum is known to cross-react with the C14 galectin to some degree (Zalik, et al. , 1990) Thus the faint bands at 14 K in the immunoblot strips prepared from gonad and mesonephros extracts likely indicate the presence of C14 in those extracts. In the yolk sac extract R10, besides reacting with the 14 kDa galectin, also detects a protein of slightly



Β. Figure 9. SDS-PAGE and immunoblot analysis of crude galectin extracts from left and right gonad, and mesonephros of 10 day chick embryos. In (A) crude extracts from 10 day left gonad (lane 1), right gonad (lane 2) and mesonephros (lane 3) were separated by SDS-PAGE and the resulting gel was stained to reveal proteins. For comparative purposes, a crude extract from 5 day chick yolk sac (lane 4) was also used. Protein molecular weight standards (in kDa) are in lane S. In (B) SDS-PAGE separated crude extracts were transferred to nitrocellulose and immunoblotted with the anti-C16 antisera R10 (lanes 1-3) and D16 (lanes 4-6). Normal rabbit serum (lanes 7-9) was used as a control. Lanes 1, 4 and 6 are a mixture of crude extracts from 10 day left and right gonad. Lanes 2, 5 and 8 are a crude extract from 10 day mesonephros. Lanes 3, 6 and 9 are an extract from 5 day yolk sac. Protein molecular weight standards (in kDa) are in lane S. Arrowheads indicate approximately 16 kDa on the blot. The slight difference in the location of the C16 immunoreactive band in the gonad and mesonephros are due to "smiling" in the gel (such curvature can be seen in A). The gonad extract was loaded in the centre of the gel while the others were more peripheral.

lower apparent molecular weight; this has been suggested to be an isoform of C14 (Guay & Zalik, 1994). The D16 antiserum, which was used for immunohistochemical studies, recognizes a single 16 K band in nitrocellulose transfers of extracts prepared from gonad, mesonephros, and yolk sac. It does not appear to cross-react with the 14 kDa galectin. In these transfers R10 and D16 react weakly with bands present at approximately 40 and 30 K respectively. Such reactivity has been observed before in galectin preparations (Guay, 1993) and may represent higherorder oligomers of the galectins or as-yet-uncharacterized proteins with some immunological identity with the galectins. Normal rabbit sera, used as a control, did not bind to any proteins in the extracts (Fig. 9, B). *Concentration of 16 kDa galectin in crude extracts of the mesonephros by batch and column affinity chromatography.*

SDS-PAGE and immunoblot analysis of the crude galectin extract (above) demonstrated that the anti-16 kDa galectin antisera recognized a protein of the appropriate apparent molecular weight. We wished also to demonstrate that this protein had lactose/galactose-binding activity and thus was in fact a galectin. Lactose-affinity chromatography was used to concentrate lactose-binding proteins from crude galectin extracts of the mesonephros of the 10 day chick embryo. Two methods, batch and column affinity chromatography, were used. The presence of galectin in the different fractions was detected with R10 using dot blot analysis. A representative dot blot is shown in Fig. 10 (A). Dots marked C_1 , C_2 , and C_3



Figure 10. Immunodot analysis of fractions obtained during partial purification of galectin in crude extracts from 10 day chick mesonephros and subsequent immunoblot analysis of those partially purified extracts after SDS-PAGE. (A) Lactose-binding proteins in crude galectin extract from 10 day mesonephros were concentrated by two affinity chromatography protocols. Dots C_1 , C_2 and C_3 are controls consisting of MEPBS, bovine fetuin and ovalbumin, respectively. Dots 2-17 are fractions from batch affinity chromatography; fraction #11 (*) was reserved for SDS-PAGE and Western blotting analysis. Dots L_1 - L_4 and S_1 - S_2 are from column affinity chromatography. S_1 - S_2 were sucrose-eluted fractions while L_1 - L_4 were eluted with lactose. Fraction L_1 (**) was reserved for further analysis. (B) Partially purified extracts #11 and L_1 , and crude galectin extract from 10 day chick mesonephros, were separated by SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose, and immunoblotted with the anti-C16 antisera R10 (lanes 1-3) and D16 (lanes 4-6). Lanes 1 and 4 are 10 day crude mesonephric extract. Lanes 2 and 5 are from fraction L_1 ; lanes 3 and 6 are from fraction #11. Protein molecular weight standards (in kDa) are shown in lane S. are controls consisting of MEPBS, bovine fetuin, and egg albumin, respectively. Dots marked with numbers 2-17 are fractions obtained from batch affinity chromatography. In these batch fractions, galectin immunoreactivity was found in fractions 2-8, obtained after washing the beads with MEPBS and 300 mM sucrose solution. Galectin immunoreactivity in these fractions indicates that some mesonephros galectin was bound non-specifically to the derivatized beads, and could be removed by washing with MEPBS and sucrose. The antiserum did not detect galectin in fractions 9 and 10, indicating that non-specifically bound galectin had been cleared from the beads by that time. The immunoreactive fraction number 11 (Fig. 10, A; marked with *) is galectin specifically eluted from the beads by application of lactose. This fraction was reserved for subsequent analysis by SDS-PAGE and Western immunoblotting.

The results of the partial purification of the galectins using column lactose-affinity chromatography are shown in fractions L_1-L_4 and S_1-S_2 in Figure 10 (A). Dots labeled S_1 and S_2 are fractions eluted after the application of sucrose to remove non-specifially bound proteins, while dots L_1-L_4 are fractions obtained after elution with lactose. Fraction L_1 (**) was reserved for analysis by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting.

To confirm the presence of the 16 kDa galectin, immunoreactive fractions from column (L_1) and batch affinity chromatography (#11) (Fig 10, A), as well as a sample of crude lactose-extract from 10 day

mesonephros, were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose for Western blot analysis using the R10 and D16 antisera (Fig. 10, B). The R10 antiserum, which is very sensitive for immunoblotting, recognized a band of approximately 16 K (apparent molecular weight) in crude mesonephros (strip 1) and both affinityconcentrated extracts (strips 2 and 3). The D16 antiserum, which is less sensitive than R10 for immunoblotting, did not detect the 16 kDa galectin in this crude extract (strip 4) but did react with 16 K species in the concentrated samples (strips 5 and 6). Since total protein loaded in each lane was equalized, these results indicate that the proportion of C16 was enriched considerably in fraction L₁, and to a lesser extent in fraction #11. This indicates that the proteins detected in the Western blot and in immunohistochemical studies have lactose-binding activity and are indeed galectins.

Colocalization of C16 and two potential ligands in the mesonephros.

Fibronectin and laminin have been suggested as endogenous galectin ligands (Cooper, 1997; Ozeki, et al., 1995). To determine the localizaton of these matrix glycoproteins in the mesonephric/gonadal complex, sections from 4-10 day embryos were immunostained with the anti-C16 galectin polyclonal antiserum D16 as well as with monoclonal antisera to avian fibronectin (B3/D6) and avian laminin (31-2) (Table 4).

In the 6 day embryo, gonadal expression of the C16 galectin protein is present in matrix material in the medulla and is also seen in the ECM



Figure 11. Immunofluorescence staining of C16 galectin and the potential galectin ligands laminin and fibronectin in the developing gonad of 6 and 10 day chick embryos. The antisera D16, 31-2, and B3/D6 were used to detect C16, laminin, and fibronectin, respectively. In the 6 day gonad (A, C and E), C16 (A) is present in matrix material throughout the medulla (m) and at the boundary (arrowheads) between cortex (c) and medulla. At this stage, laminin (C) and fibronectin (E) are also located in ECM at the cortex/medulla boundary. By 10 days of incubation (B, D and F), C16 protein (B) is abundant in the medullary and boundary ECM, where laminin (D) is also located. Fibronectin (F) is prominent in the ECM at the cortex/medulla boundary while a small amount of fluorescence is present in the medulla. (dm, dorsal mesentery) Scale bars = 50 μm.



Figure 12. Immunofluorescence staining of C16 galectin and the potential galectin ligands laminin and fibronectin in the developing mesonephros of 6 and 10 day chick embryos. The antisera D16, 31-2, and B3/D6 were used to detect C16, laminin, and fibronectin, respectively. In the 6 day embryo (A, C and E), C16 (A) is abundant in basal laminae (arrowheads) of mesonephric tubules (t) and in the GBM (arrowheads) of the glomerulus (g). (C) is a timed exposure of 6 day mesonephric tissue stained with anti-laminin antisera. The photograph was exposed for the same length of time as (D), which was immunostained in the same experiment. The inset in (C) is DAPI staining to visualize nuclei in that section. Fibronectin immunoreactivity (E) is present in tubule basal laminae (arrowhead) and in the centre of the glomeruar tuft, in matrix material which is assumed to be mesangial matrix. At 10 days (B, D and F), D16 (B) and laminin (D) are localized in the tubule basal laminae and GBM (arrowheads). Fibronectin (F) persists in tubule basal laminae (arrowhead) and in glomerular matrix material; in addition some is present in tubule cell cytoplasm. (g, glomerulus; t, tubule) Scale bars = $50 \mu m$.

found at the boundary between cortex and medulla (Fig 11, A). At this stage of development laminin and fibronectin have the same localization as the C16 galectin at the medulla/cortex boundary (Fig 11, C and E). As development proceeds the spatial distribution of C16, laminin, and fibronectin in the gonad does not change. By 10 days of incubation, there is intense immunoreactivity for all three proteins at the boundary between cortex and medulla (Fig 11, B, D and F)), and less intense staining for C16, laminin, and fibronectin in the dorsal mesentery at this stage of development.

In the 6 and 10 day mesonephros, C16 is found in the basement membrane surrounding the tubules and in the GBM (Fig. 12, A and B). In the mesonephros of the 6 day embryo, fibronectin is present both in the apical cytoplasm of tubule cells and in the basal lamina of tubules and glomeruli (Fig. 12, E). By 10 days of mesonephros development, the cytoplasmic content of fibronectin has increased and some remains in the basement membranes (Fig. 12, F). It was not possible to detect the presence of laminin in the 6 day mesonephros. A photograph of laminin immunofluorescence in the 6 day mesonephros, with the film exposed for the same length of time as required to photograph 10 day laminin immunofluorescence in the mesonephros, is shown in Figure 12 (C); it appears black. Detectable laminin immunostaining appears in the mesonephros around 7 days of incubation (not shown) and by 10 days this

protein is found exclusively in tubule basal laminae and GBM (Fig. 12, D), and has the same localization as the 16 kDa galectin (Fig. 12, B).

Histology of the mesonephros under culture conditions

In order to test the effect of galectin hapten-inhibitors in the maintenance of mesonephric epithelial differentiation, an *in vitro* system for the culture of the chick mesonephros in a defined medium had to be developed. Isolated mesonephroi from stages 25-26 (Hamburger & Hamilton, 1951), or approximately 5 days of incubation, were cultured in media with various components. It was necessary to assay tissue viability in each of these culture conditions, so tissues were fixed and processed for histological staining with hematoxylin and eosin to reveal tissue architecture. A defined medium containing a high concentration of conalbumin sustained mesonephric tissue for up to 3 days of culture with a reasonable preservation of tissue morphology. Tissues cultured for 48 hours in this medium are shown in Figure 13 (A and B). In such tissues, nephric tubules and glomeruli appeared similar to those in vivo. Tubule cells are cuboidal and typically have basal nuclei. Glomerular tufts are compact, and the Bowman's capsule is well-defined. In addition, this medium supported continued cell division as evidenced by the presence of mitotic figures (Fig. 13, B, arrowhead).

Next, mesonephric tissue was cultured in the high-conalbumin medium with the addition of maltose, TDG, or lactose. Addition of

Figure 13. General histological appearance of mesonephros cultured for 48 hours in the absence of added sugars or in the presence of maltose, TDG or lactose. Sections from cultured mesonephroi were stained with hematoxylin and eosin to show tissue architecture. Mesonephric tissue cultured without added sugar (A, B) or in the presence of maltose (C, D) maintained its tissue architecture as demonstrated by the general organization of the glomeruli (g) and the mesonephric tubules (t). Tubule cells are cuboidal and nuclei are generally restricted to the basal cytoplasm. A mitotic figure is shown in B (arrowhead). In contrast, tissue cultured in the presence of TDG (E, F) or lactose (G, H) has a "disorganized" appearance. More specifically, many tubules are not clearly demarcated from the surrounding mesenchyme. Tubule cells are misshapen and often appear to have elongated into the lumen, obstructing the latter. Tubule epithelium has largely become pseudostratified; that is, nuclei are not restricted to basal cytoplasm. In addition, in cultures with hapten inhibitors of the galectins areas of cell death can be seen (*). This cell death is not due to generalized toxicity of those hapten inhibitors because cell division continues (arrowhead in F indicates a cell in metaphase). Scale bars = $50 \,\mu m$.



maltose to the medium (Fig. 13, C and D) did not result in any noticeable changes in tissue architecture when those tissues are compared to cultures without added saccharides (Fig. 13, A and B). Mesonephric tissue cultured in the presence of the galectin hapten-inhibitors TDG (Fig. 13, E and F) or lactose (Fig. 13, G and H) display a general "disorganization" of tissue architecture. Many nephric tubules in such cultures have lost the lumen. Tubule cells, in general, are not cuboidal in shape as is characteristic for renal epithelial cells. In addition, tubule cell nuclei are often displaced from the basal cytoplasm; this effect is termed pseudostratification. Finally, in cultures with TDG and lactose, areas of cell death which were not observed in control or maltose-treated cultures, are present (Fig. 13, E and G, *). In other areas of those same tissues, mitotic figures can be seen (Fig 13, F, arrowhead), indicating that TDG and lactose are not inherently cytotoxic.

The presence of hapten inhibitors of galectins had a distinct effect on the structural organization of the glomerular tuft. In control tissues cultured without added sugars (Fig. 14, A) or with the addition of maltose (Fig. 14, B), the glomerular tuft is compact. Within the tuft, darkly stained podocyte cell bodies can be seen in close association with the non-cellular material of the GBM. The cytoplasmic protrusions of podocyte foot processes cannot be distinguished from the GBM in these photographs. In TDG- (Fig. 14, C) and lactose-treated (Fig. 14, D) cultures, many glomeruli appear to have been disrupted by those galectin inhibitors. In these



Figure 14. Histological appearance of glomeruli in mesonephric tissue cultured for 48 hours in the absence of added sugars or in the presence of maltose, TDG or lactose. Sections from cultured mesonephroi were stained with hematoxylin and eosin to show tissue architecture. Glomeruli in tissues cultures without added sugar (A) or in the presence of maltose (B) are shown. Note that the glomerular tuft is compact and that the podoctyes are closely associated with the GBM. In contrast, many glomeruli in tissues cultured with TDG (C) or lactose (D) have a disrupted appearance. Namely, the glomerular tuft is not compact as in control cultures (A and B) and podoctyes can be seen that appear to have lifted off of the GBM (arrows). (g, glomerulus; t, tubule) Scale bars = $50 \,\mu$ m. disrupted glomeruli, the glomerular tuft has a ragged appearance, and in many cases podocytes can be seen that have no visible connection to the GBM (Fig. 14, C and P, arrows).

Localization of basement membrane proteins in cultures of mesonephric tissue

To test the effect of sugar hapten inhibitors in mesonephros differentiation, nine different mesonephric explants, from 3 separate culture experiments, were reserved for immunofluorescent staining using a variety of antisera to basement membrane proteins and, later, to marker molecules. In control, sugar free, cultures, or in cultures incubated in the presence of maltose, the basement membrane localization of the 16 kDa galectin, fibronectin, and laminin was not noticeably different from that of uncultured embryos (not shown). Although the application of lactose or TDG to the cultured mesonephros was hypothesized to disrupt cell adhesion to the basal laminae, C16, fibronectin, and laminin were found in ECM material, particularily in basal laminae and the GBM.

In cultures without added sugar or with the addition of maltose, staining of the GBM for C16, laminin and fibronectin typically appeared as sharp "lines" of acellular material between rows of podocytes; representative GBM (arrowhead) immunoreactivity for C16 is shown in Figure 15 (A). In cultures treated with TDG (Fig. 15, C to F) or lactose (not shown), immunoaccessible material in the GBM appears as an amorphous



Figure 15. Immunofluorescence staining of C16 and laminin in the GBM of cultured mesonephric tissue. The antisera D16 and 31-2 were used to detect C16 and laminin, respectively. DAPI was used to visualize nuclei (B, D and F). In (A), which shows a control sugar-free culture stained for D16, the typical appearance of the GBM (arrowhead) in control cultures is shown. In (B) the acellular space (arrowhead) occupied by the GBM can be seen. Note that staining for C16 is restricted to a sharp thick line in the centre of the acelluar space; presumably only the cut edge of the GBM is accessible to antisera, as the majority of GBM surface area is covered by podocyte foot processes. In TDG-treated (C-E) cultures, the GBM appears as an amorphous aggregate when stained for C16 (C). Comparing (C) with (D), note that C16-immunoreactive material, some of which is out of the plane of focus, appears to fill a larger acellular space (D, arrowhead). This suggests that more GBM surface area is accessible to the antisera in cultures treated with galectin inhibitors than in control cultures. A similar appearance of the GBM ispresent in lactosetreated cultures. (E) is a serial section with (C), showing laminin immunoreactivity in the GBM. Again, some laminin staining is below the plane of focus, indicating that more GBM material is accessible to the antisera. Scale bars = $50 \mu m$.

aggregate that largely fills the acellular space. This effect could be due to the exposure of more GBM surface area due to the retraction of podocyte foot processes.

In vivo expression of molecular markers of mesonephros differentiation

Changes in histological appearance are valid criteria to determine the effect of galectin hapten inhibitors on mesonephric differentiation. However, it was important to have additional criteria to determine whether the above incubations affected specifically the epithelial or mesenchymal phenotype of mesonephric cells. To that end, a search for molecular markers was undertaken. I tested a number of antisera, on sections from 5 to 7 day embryos, that would allow for the detection of proteins characteristic of epithelia. These included components of cell-cell junctional complexes (desmocollin, desmoplakin, and zonula occludens-1), cellular receptors for the ECM (integrin a6 subunit, syndecan), epithelial-type intermediate filaments (keratin, pan-cytokeratin), and a cytoskeletal/ion pump linking protein called ankyrin (kidney-specific ankyrin A3). When used for immunostaining, under conditions where anti-C16, anti-laminin, and anti-fibronectin antisera stained well, none of these antisera detected proteins in the mesonephric epithelia. This was not suprising since many of the antisera were raised to mammalian proteins and may not recognize avian proteins. However, antisera to avian E-cadherin (R701), chicken vimentin (H5), avian Na/K-ATPase

Marker	Day	Tubule Cells	Glomerular Podocytes	Mesenchymal Cells		
E-cadherin	5	cytoplasm; some concentrated on cell membranes	not present	not present		
	7	basolateral cell membranes	not present	not present		
vimentin	5	basal cytoplasm (faint)	cytoplasm (intense)	cytoplasm (intense)		
	7	not present	cytoplasm (intense)	cytoplasm (intense)		
α−actinin	5	cytoplasm (faint in some tubules, intense in others)	cytoplasm	cytoplasm		
	7	cytoplasm (accumulations in apical cytoplasm of putative proximal tubule cells)	cytoplasm	cytoplasm		
Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase	5	basolateral membrane of cells of some tubules	not present	not present		
	7	basolateral membranes of distal tubule cells (intense)	not present	not present		

Fahla 5	Localization of	markar	molecules	in	5 and	7 do.	amhr	vonio		- h
rable 5.	Localization of	тагкег	molecules	m	5 and	/ day	embr	yonic	mesone	pnros.

(β 4/B4), and α -actinin (α -act) detected these proteins. The use of these antisera allowed for studies on changes in expression pattern of those proteins during development of the epithelial phenotype in the chick mesonephros (Figs. 16 and 17). A summary of the localization of these proteins is given in Table 5.

E-cadherin is the epithelial-specific cadherin and is restricted to epithelial cells. In contrast, the intermediate filament vimentin is expressed by mesenchymal cells and is absent in epithelial cells, which



Figure 16. Double-staining immunofluorescence detection of E-cadherin and vimentin proteins in sections of mesonephros from 5 and 7 day embryos. The antisera R701 and H5 were used to detect E-cadherin and vimentin, respectively. In the 5 day mesonephros (A and B), E-cadherin (A) is present as a diffuse cytoplasmic stain with some concentration in the membrane of tubule (t) cells. In the same section, vimentin protein (B) is found in the cytoplasm of tubule cells, and in mesenchymal cells of the nephric interstitium. By 7 days (C and D), E-cadherin (C) is abundant in the lateral membrane of tubule cells (arrowhead). In the same section, vimentin (D) is restricted to mesenchymal tissue and is no longer seen in tubule cells. The vimentin-rich structure in the upper left of (D) is dorsal mesentery. Scale bars = $50 \,\mu$ m.

instead express keratin in their intermediate filaments. Thus the pattern of E-cadherin and vimentin expression may be used as a gauge of the state of differentiation in the mesonephros. In the 5 day mesonephros, the epithelial marker E-cadherin is present in developing tubules both in the cytoplasm and on basolateral and apical cell surfaces (Fig. 16, A). Ecadherin protein is not expressed by the podocytes of the glomerulus (not shown). By 7 days, E-cadherin is restricted largely to lateral cell surfaces of mesonephric tubules (Fig. 16, C). Vimentin is expressed intracellularily in mesenchyme, in the developing tubule cells (Fig. 16, B), and in the presumptive podocytes of the 5 day mesonephros (not shown). In the 7 day mesonephros, vimentin is restricted to mesenchyme (Fig. 16, D) and glomerular podocytes (not shown). Vimentin is not found in tubule cells which have a discrete basolateral distribution of E-cadherin, that is, in those tubules whose epithelial cells are fully differentiated.

The Na/K-ATPase is reportedly found predominantly on the basolateral cell surface of distal tubule and collecting duct cells of the mammalian kidney (Tiedemann, 1983; Madsen & Tisher, 1986). In the chick mesonephros, at 5 days of incubation, weak Na/K-ATPase immunoreactivity is seen on the basolateral surface of many tubules (Fig. 17, B). By 7 days of incubation only a subset of tubules express Na/K-ATPase, and stain very intensely along the basolateral cell surface (Fig. 17, D); these tubules were assumed to be distal tubules because of the presence of the ATPase. Alpha-actinin is an actin-binding protein (Brown & Stow,



Figure 17. Double-staining immunofluorescence detection of α-actinin and Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase proteins in sections of the embryonic mesonephros. The antisera α -ACT and β 4/B4 were used to detect α -actinin and Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, respectively, in the mesonephroi of 5 and 7 day chick embryos. In the 5 day mesonephros (A and B), α -actinin (A) is found in the cytoplasm of all tubules, but is abundant in a subset of those tubules. In the same section, faint Na^{*}/K^{*} ATPase immunoreactivity (B) is seen in the basolateral membrane of some tubules. Note that tubules rich in α -actinin in (A) are not Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase-positive in (B). At 7 days of incubation (C and D), staining for α -actinin (C) persists in all tubules; a subset of tubules have an apical concentration of this protein (arrowheads). In the same section, intense Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase staining (D) is found in a subset of tubules which are assumed to be distal tubules (dt). Note that Na^+/K^+ ATPase-positive tubules do not have an apical accumulation of α -actinin and thus tubules with such an apical concentration of the latter protein are assumed to be proximal tubules (pt). In (E), a cross-section of the 7 day mesonephros is shown. The non-symmetrical distribution of Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase among the cells of the Wolffian duct (wd) is evident. The medial face of this duct (left), adjacent to the secretory tubules of the mesonephros, is Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase-positive; in the more lateral face of the Wolffian duct (upper right) Na^{+}/K^{+} ATPase is not detectable. Scale bar = 50 μm.
1996) whose distribution, I felt, might change along with the cytoskeletal reorganization that takes place during epithelial differentiation (Mays, et al., 1994; Bacallao, 1995). In the 5 day mesonephros, α -actinin was found in most mesonephric tubules with a diffuse intracellular distribution; some tubules stained very intensely for this protein (Fig. 17, A). In the 7 day mesonephros, most tubules retained a diffuse cytoplasmic distribution of α -actinin, but a subset of tubules had accumulations of this protein in the apical cytoplasm (Fig. 17, C). Tubules with an apical concentration of α -actinin were never Na/K-ATPase-positive, suggesting that, in the chick mesonephros, apical accumulation of this actin-binding protein might be characteristic of proximal tubule cells. Since Na/K-ATPase is found in distal and collecting tubules (Tiedemann, 1983; Madsen & Tisher, 1986), this enzyme and α -actinin could be considered markers of nephron segmentation into proximal and distal tubule elements.

An interesting feature of the expression pattern of Na/K-ATPase was noted. The Wolffian duct, which is part of the collecting system in the mesonephros, had a non-symmetrical distribution of ATPase (Fig. 17, E). In cross section the medial face of the duct, that is, the side of the duct adjacent to the mesonephric interstitium, was always Na/K-ATPasepositive. The outer face of the Wolffian duct, next to the connective tissue that encapsulates the mesonephros, did not have ATPase immunoreactivity.



Figure 18. Double-staining immunofluorescence detection of α -actinin and Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase in mesonephric tissue cultured for 48 hours in the absence of added sugar and in the presence of maltose. The antisera α -ACT and β 4/B4 were used to detect α -actinin and Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, respectively. DAPI was used to visualize cell nuclei (E,F). In both control (A) and maltose (B) cultures, cytoplasmic α -actinin immunoreactivity is seen throughout the mesonephric tissue and is now concentrated in the basal cytoplasm (arrowheads) of tubules. In the same sections, Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase (C and D) is present in basolateral membranes of tubule cells in both control (C) and maltose (D) cultures. Scale bars = 50 µm.



Figure 19. Double-staining immunofluorescence detection of α -actinin and Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase in mesonephric tissue cultured for 48 hours in the presence of TDG and lactose, hapten inhibitors of galectins. The antisera α -ACT and β 4/B4 were used to detect α -actinin and Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, respectively, in 48-hour cultured mesonephroi. DAPI was used to visualize cell nuclei (E,F). In both TDG- (A) and lactose-treated (B) cultures, cytoplasmic α -actinin immunoreactivity is seen throughout the mesonephric tissue and is concentrated in the basal cytoplasm (arrowheads) of tubules. In the same sections, Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase (C and D) is present in tubule cell membranes in both TDG- (C) and lactose-treated (D) cultures. (g, glomerulus; t, tubule) Scale bars = 50 µm.

Expression of marker molecules in cultured mesonephroi

In the cultured mesonephros, regardless of treatment, α -actinin was concentrated in the extreme basal cytoplasm of tubule cells (Fig. 18, A and B; Fig. 19, A and B), in contrast to the diffuse cytoplasmic or apical cytoplasmic stain observed in the mesonephros *in vivo* (Fig. 17, A and C). This suggests a generalized effect of the culture conditions on the distribution of α -actinin. Basolateral distribution of Na⁺/K^{*}ATPase on the surface of tubule cells was not affected by the culture conditions (Fig. 18, C and D; Fig. 19. C and D). In control cultures without added sugar or with maltose, only a subset of the tubules were strongly Na⁺/K^{*}ATPase positive (Fig. 18, C and D), consistent with the localized distribution of the ATPase in distal tubules of the uncultured 7 day mesonephros (Fig. 17, D). In cultures treated with the galectin-inhibitors TDG or lactose (Fig. 19, C and D), many tubules had a weak but positive staining for Na⁺/K^{*}ATPase, a situation found in the 5 day mesonephros *in vivo* (Fig. 17, B).

The pattern of E-cadherin and vimentin expression in control cultures was similar to that in uncultured 7 day mesonephros (Fig. 16, C and D). Namely, Ecadherin was expressed on the basolateral surfaces of mesonephric tubules (Fig. 20, A and B), and vimentin expression was restricted to those tissues that did not express E-cadherin (Fig. 20, C and D). In contrast, in TDG- and lactose-treated cultures, E-cadherin and vimentin often colocalized (Fig. 21, A to D), a pattern of localization seen in cells of the *in vivo* 5 day mesonephros (Fig. 16,A and B). In the cultured organs treated with lactose and TDG, many E-cadherin-positive structures also expressed vimentin.



Figure 20. Double-staining immunofluorescence detection of E-cadherin and vimentin in mesonephric tissue cultured for 48 hours in the absence of added sugar or in the presence of maltose. The antisera R701 and H5 were used to detect E-cadherin and vimentin, respectively. DAPI was used to visualize cell nuclei (E,F). In both control (no sugar) (A) and maltose-treated (B) cultured tissue, E-cadherin is localized to the cell membranes of mesonephric tubule (t) cells. In the same sections, vimentin (C and D) is abundant in glomeruli (g) and is also present in mesenchymal tissue (m). Note that E-cadherin-positive tubules in (A) and (B) do not express vimentin protein (C and D). Yellow fluorescence in glomeruli is due to erythrocyte autofluorescence. Scale bars = $50 \,\mu\text{m}$.



Figure 21. Double-staining immunofluorescence detection of E-cadherin and vimentin in mesonephric tissue cultured for 48 hours in the presence of TDG and lactose, hapten inhibitors of galectins. The antisera R701 and H5 were used to detect E-cadherin and vimentin, respectively. DAPI was used to visualize cell nuclei (E,F). In both TDG- (A) and lactose-treated (B) cultures, E-cadherin protein is found in cell membranes of tubules, and in disorganized structures that are assumed to have been tubules at the beginning of culture. In the same sections, vimentin is seen in glomeruli and in mesenchymal tissue (C, D); in addition vimentin is present in many E-cadherin positive tubules (*). Yellow fluorescence in glomeruli is due to erythrocyte autofluorescence in the glomerular capillaries. Scale bars = $50 \,\mu\text{m}$.

DISCUSSION

Localization of galectin and its potential ligands in the mesonephric/gonadal complex

Earlier in my work, while investigating galectin expression in the primordial germ cells of the gonad, I also examined galectin expression in the associated structure, the mesonephros. I found that the 16 kDa galectin, C16, is abundant in the tubule basal laminae and in the glomerular basement membranes (GBM). Basement membrane localization of C16 in the chick mesonephros after 7 days of incubation has been reported before, by Didier, et al. (1988). These investigators were not able to detect galectin activity in the medium where dissociated cells from 13 day embryonic mesonephros had been cultured. They suggested that this lectin is produced elsewhere in the embryo and released into the circulation, to be eventually sequestered in the mesonephric basement membranes. I observed that at earlier stages of mesonephric development, that is in the 4 day mesonephros, most 16 kDa galectin is found not in the ECM but in the cytoplasm of tubule cells and glomerular podocytes. In situ hybridization revealed that C16 mRNA is present in cells of the Wolffian duct, developing glomeruli and developing tubules of 4 day embryos; this indicates that the RNA message for the synthesis of the 16 kDa galectin is present in these cells. Immunofluorescence examination of the mesonephros at this stage revealed that intracellular galectin is concentrated in small cytoplasmic patches or granules. A

similar organization of galectins into condensates in the submembranous cytoplasm has been reported during the early steps of galectin externalization (Cooper & Barondes, 1990; Mehul & Hughes, 1997). It is probable that the C16 present in the mesonephric basement membranes is released via these cytoplasmic granules. Galectin-rich cytoplasmic granules are abundant only before 5 days of incubation; after this time, few if any of these granules are seen in tubule cells. This observation, coupled with the finding by Didier, et al., (1988) that cells from 13 day mesonephros do not release galectin, suggests that most of the basement membrane galectin is released, en masse, from the tubule cells and podocytes in the early stages of mesonephric development. If this is the case, the release of galectin would coincide with the onset of laminin production by mesonephric tissue (Ekblom, 1981 a & b). The C16 released in this manner into the tubule basement membranes could play a role in the final steps of differentiation into epithelium.

As the mesonephros develops intracellular 16 kDa galectin disappears from tubule cells, presumably as a result of externalization; however it persists in glomerular podocytes. From 5 days onwards in the mesonephric podocytes C16 is present in a diffuse, cytoplasmic localization but can also be seen in isolated condensates. The continued expression, and presumably continued externalization, of C16 by glomerular podocytes may be due to the need to replace basement

membrane galectin which is probably constantly being consumed by mesangial cells during GBM turnover (Walker, 1973).

In the basement membranes of the mesonephros, the 16 kDa galectin colocalizes with laminin and FN. Laminin has been shown to be a high affinity ligand for galectins, including proto-type galectins such as the C16 (Cooper, 1997). Embryonic FN, which is heavily glycosylated and has polylactosamine side chains, has also been shown to be a ligand for galectins (Ozeki, et al. , 1995). Thus in the developing mesonephric basement membrane the most probable ligands for C16 are laminin and/or FN.

Although both the 14 kDa and 16 kDa galectins are found in the ECM of the chick gonad, a profusion of cytoplasmic galectin-rich "granules" is never seen in this organ. It is possible that the mode of galectin externalization differs between the gonad and mesonephros, and that this may reflect a different functional role of these galectins in each of these organs.

Characteristics of the mesonephros cultured in a defined medium

In order to study what roles galectin may play in the development of the chick mesonephros, it was necessary to develop culture conditions to maintain this tissue in a defined medium. Such a system would allow the selective inhibition of galectins with hapten inhibitors, without the confounding effects of serum glycoproteins. Only morphological and ultrastructural information is available for the embryonic chick

mesonephros. As a consequence a defined culture system for the chick mesonephros had to be developed. The membrane filter support system, which I employed, is a common technique used for culture of organ explants (Hardman, et al., 1990; Schultheiss, et al., 1995). Attempts to culture the mesonephros in the presence of fetal calf serum, and in a defined medium that supports growth and differentiation of the mouse metanephros (Woolf, et al., 1995), resulted in death of the mesonephric explants within 24 hours of culture. After numerous trial cultures with culture media of different compositions, a defined medium was developed which contained a high concentration of conalbumin (the chick transferrin). Transferrin is an iron-transport molecule that is essential for *in vitro* organogenesis of the metanephros (Ekblom, et al., 1981). This medium supports mesonephric explants in culture for up to 3 days, with reasonably good preservation of tissue structure. In control sugar-free cultures, as well as in those containing maltose, thiodigalactoside, and lactose, dividing cells were present. The presence of mitotic figures in cultured tissues is an indication that the tissue is healthy and that the culture conditions are supportive of growth.

Molecular markers for mesonephric tissue.

In order to assess changes in cellular phenotypes in the cultured mesonephros, I needed to find marker molecules for its epithelial and mesenchymal cellular components. The marker proteins used in the present studies were the following: E-cadherin, an epithelial-specific

component of adherens junctions; vimentin, an intermediate filament characteristic of mesenchymal cells; Na⁺/K⁺ATPase, an ion exchange pump found on the basolateral surface of distal tubule epithelium; and α actinin, an actin-binding protein that has an apical localization in what appear to be proximal tubule cells. These molecular markers were used to determine whether different experimental treatments had an effect on phenotypic expression in the cells of the cultured chick mesonephros.

When control saccharide-free cultures were immunostained with antisera to Na⁺/K⁺ATPase, E-cadherin and vimentin, the localization of these markers was similar to that in uncultured mesonephros from 7 day chick embryos. The distribution of α -actinin, however, was markedly changed. In the cultured mesonephros this protein was concentrated in the basal cytoplasm. Such a change in distribution of an actin-binding protein suggests that, in the tubular cells of the mesonephros, the organization of the actin cytoskeleton is affected by the culture conditions. Proximal tubule cells characteristically have a brush border consisting of microvilli supported by bundles of actin, and α -actinin is an actin-crosslinking protein (Brown & Stow, 1996). It is possible that the apical concentration of α -actinin in putative proximal tubules is due to the association of α -actinin with the actin at the base anchors of the microvillar axes. If this is the case, the redistribution of α -actinin to the basal cytoplasm in culture may be due to the loss of apical microvilli, which could be a response to a relative uniform environment in culture.

Since in culture there is no difference between the contents of the tubule lumen and the nephric interstitium, there is no need for increased absorptive surface area on the apical cell surface, and the apical microvilli would not be required. Nevertheless distribution of E-cadherin, which is linked to the actin cytoskeleton via catenins (Hitt & Luna, 1994), and the Na⁺/K⁺ATPase, which is retained in the basolateral membrane through interactions with the cytoskeleton (Le Gall, et al. , 1995; Mays, et al. , 1995), were unaffected by culture. This suggests that in the mesonephric tubule cells only limited aspects of actin cytoskeletal organization were affected by the culture conditions. The expression pattern of vimentin in the cultured mesonephros did not differ from that of this embryonic tissue *in vivo*.

Effects of hapten inhibitors of the galectins on cultured mesonephroi

TDG and lactose are galectin-hapten inhibitors that compete with polylactosamine moieties on laminin and other glycoproteins for the galectin CRD binding site. Maltose was used as a control since galectins do not bind this sugar. Lactose and TDG would inhibit any galectin in this system, not just C16. Although my results indicate that C14 is a negligible component of mesonephric basement membranes, the possibility that these sugars would inhibit galectins other than C16 in the ECM cannot be ruled out. In the cartilage of the developing chick embryo, a 30 kDa galectin has been reported (Nurminskaya & Linsenmayer, 1996). The presence of the latter lectin in the chick mesonephros has not been

investigated. However, if a similar situation as in mammalian tissues occurs in the chick mesonephros, it is likely that the chick 30 kDa galectin would be released apically from renal cells into the tubule lumen (Lindstedt, et al., 1993; Mehul & Hughes, 1997; Winyard, et al., 1997) and therefore would not be deposited in the basement membranes where C16 predominates. Regardless of which other galectins may be affected, the presence of TDG and lactose in culture would certainly inhibit binding of C16 to its ligands. When compared to either control sugar-free or maltosetreated mesonephric cultures, mesonephric tissues maintained in the presence of galectin hapten inhibitors exhibited specific effects. There is a strong possiblity that these changes are due to a disturbance of galectin function.

a) Programmed Cell Death. When stained with hematoxylin and eosin, the cultured mesonephros treated with TDG and lactose show areas of cell death. This probably does not indicate a generalized cytotoxic effect of those sugars, since mitotic figures indicating continuing cell division were present in regions of the cultures adjacent to areas of cell death. In control cultures, comparable areas of cell death were not seen. More specific techniques such as TUNEL (TdT-mediated dUTP-biotin nick end labeling) (Gavrieli, et. al., 1992) must be used to determine if the cell death observed in cultured mesonephric tissue treated with galectin hapten inhibitors is indeed programmed cell death (apoptosis) or is necrotic cell

death. TUNEL allows for the *in situ* detection of terminal 3' ends of DNA fragments characteristic of apoptotic cell death.

Disturbance of galectin-binding to its receptors could affect the events involved in the modulation of programmed cell death, or apoptosis, in the mesonephros. In other systems, galectins have been shown to regulate apoptotic events (Perillo, et al., 1997; Rabinovich, et al., 1997; Wada, et al., 1997; Akahani, et al., 1997b; Yang, et al., 1996; Perillo, et al., 1995). In the chick the mesonephros eventually degenerates as the metanephros develops and takes over the excretory and osmoregulatory activity of the mesonephros. Since it is likely that programmed cell death plays a role in the degeneration of the mesonephros, galectins could be involved in the modulation of this event. One of the ways galectins could affect cell survival in the degenerating mesonephros is by modulating integrin-mediated cell-matrix adhesion. Appropriate integrin-ligand interactions can rescue epithelial cells from apoptosis due to loss of cell adhesion; such adhesion-dependent cell death pathways have been collectively termed anoisis (Frisch, et. al., 1996).

b) Adhesion to the GBM. Another effect of the disturbance of galectin function by hapten inhibitors is the partial detachment of glomerular podocytes from their ECM. At the developmental stages used in the present experiments the uncultured mesonephros, as well as cultures maintained in the absence of sugar or the presence of maltose, have an abundant C16 distribution in the GBM. Podocytes also retain a

diffuse cytoplasmic distribution of this galectin, as opposed to tubule cells which, from 5 days of incubation onwards, have little or no intracellular C16. In vivo and presumably in vitro, the foot processes of the glomerular podocytes cover 90% of the GBM, and these processes are the only points of contact between podocytes and the GBM (Mundel & Kriz, 1995). Immunofluorescence for FN, laminin, and C16 reveals the presence of these proteins in the GBM between podocyte cell bodies and capillary spaces; in vivo and in control sugar-free and maltose-treated cultures, the immunostained GBM appears as a sharp line. This suggests that because of the coverage by podocyte foot processes, only the cut edge of the GBM is accessible to those antisera. In cultures with hapten inhibitors FN, laminin and C16 immunofluorescence in the GBM is visible as an aggregate of non-cellular material surrounded by podocytes, suggesting that more antigenic material in the GBM is accesible to the antisera. This effect could be due to retraction of podocyte foot processes subsequent to those processes losing adhesion to the GBM. Hematoxylin and eosin staining confirms that treatment with TDG or lactose results in a loss of structure in the glomerular tuft. Specifically, podocytes appear to have "lifted off" the GBM so that more GBM is exposed, and in some cases podocytes that have no physical connection to the GBM can be seen.

Podocyte foot processes are known to express $\alpha_{3}\beta_{1}$ integrin, which binds laminin, FN and collagen; in addition they express $\alpha_{6}\beta_{1}$ integrin which binds only laminin (Mundel & Kriz, 1995; Davies, 1996; Martins-

Green & Bissel, 1995). These integrins presumably facilitate binding of podocyte foot processes to those glycoproteins in the GBM. The loss of contact between podocytes and the GBM induced by galectin inhibitors suggests that galectins could play a role in adhesion of podocytes to this basement membrane. Histochemical studies with plant lectins have revealed that in the meso- and metanephros the podocyte cell surface, including the basal surface of the foot process, express abundant galactosaminyl-glycoconjugates (Holthöfer, et al. , 1988; Gheri, et al. , 1990; Gheri, et al. , 1993). The detachment of the podocytes from the GBM could be the result of interference by TDG and lactose with the cross-linking of cell-surface galactosides to ECM glycoproteins such as laminin and FN.

c) Modification of Cellular Phenotype. A third effect observed in mesonephric tissue cultured with TDG and lactose is a disruption of tubule architecture. This was evident by the fact that often tubule cells lost their cuboidal shape, the tubule cell nuclei were not restricted to the basal cytoplasm, and when compared to controls the tubule lumen was often obliterated. Also when compared with control cultures, TDG- and lactosetreated explants showed an overall "disorganization" suggestive of a change in the differentiated state of the tubular epithelial cells.

The most striking effect of these galectin hapten inhibitors on cultured mesonephroi is the re-expression of vimentin intermediate filaments in tubular epithelial cells expressing E-cadherin. Nephrogenesis can be considered to be a three-step process. First, there is an inductive

event and subsequent compaction of nephrogenic mesenchyme. This is followed by the differentiation of mesenchymal cells into an epithelium with the concurrent expression of E-cadherin (Davies, 1996). Finally, epithelial cells differentiate further into the segment-specific phenotypes. In the mammalian metanephros, and presumably in the meta- and mesonephros of other species, final differentiation into podocytes involves a partial return to mesenchymal phenotype as evidenced by loss of E-cadherin and the re-expression of vimentin intermediate filaments (Mundel & Kriz, 1995).

In the 5 day mesonephros *in vivo*, tubules often co-express Ecadherin and vimentin; however, in the 7 day mesonephros, which is comparable to explants from the 5 day mesonephros cultured for 2 days as in this study, vimentin is restricted to mesenchymal tissues and tubule cells expressing the epithelial marker E-cadherin are always vimentinnegative. This localization was also observed in control explants cultured in the absence of sugar or the presence of maltose. The concurrent expression of vimentin and E-cadherin in the tubular-epithelial cells of cultures treated with galectin hapten inhibitors suggests that the cells are dedifferentiating or re-acquiring features of mesenchyme.

Cellular interactions with laminin, in particular with the laminin α chain, are crucial for differentiation and moreover are required for the maintenance of the renal epithelial phenotype (Klein, et al., 1988; Drubin & Nelson, 1996). Modulation of cellular binding to laminin by galectins

could in principle affect: a) the differentiation into epithelium; b) the segment-specific specialization of epithelial phenotypes of the nephron; and c) the maintenance of the epithelial phenotypes. Tubule cells that are re-expressing vimentin could either be dedifferentiating into mesenchyme, or differentiating further into podocytes which typically express vimentin but lack E-cadherin. Based on the short-term culture conditions of the present experiments, it cannot be determined whether the cells expressing vimentin have stopped producing E-cadherin. The presence of E-cadherin in those tubules could be due to an insufficient time avilable for removal of E-cadherin from the cell membrane. In addition, although the histological localization and the subcellular distribution of the Na⁺/K⁺ATPase was not markedly different between control and hapten-treated cultures, qualitatively it appeared that in hapten-treated cultures the percentage of tubules with Na⁺/K⁺ATPaseexpressing cells had increased. This suggests an effect on nephron segmentation.

Regardless of whether TDG and lactose cause dedifferentiation into mesenchyme, further differentiation into podocyte-like cells, or modifications in the phenotypic segmentation of the nephron, these results strongly suggest that galectins are important for the maintenance of the renal phenotype. Experiments using younger tissues would be required to determine if galectins are necessary for initial development of renal epithelium.

The requirement for cell-laminin interactions for the development and the maintenance of renal epithelia is well established (Timpl & Brown, 1994; Durbeej & Ekblom, 1997). Given the high affinity of galectins for laminin and the colocalization of C16 and laminin in tubule basement membranes, it is reasonable to suggest that the effects of TDG and lactose on tubule differentiation are due to a disruption of galectin-laminin interactions. Several cellular laminin receptors have been implicated in epithelial differentiation including $\alpha_6\beta_1$ integrin (Sorokin, et al., 1990; Goodman, 1992), the 37/67 kDa laminin/elastin receptor (Salas, et al., 1992), and α -dystroglycan (Durbeej, et al. , 1995). Theoretically, by binding to laminin and sterically blocking association of this glycoprotein with its receptors, galectins in the mesonephric basement membranes could modulate cell-matrix adhesion. During development of mouse skeletal muscle, steric inhibition of integrin-laminin binding by Galectin-1 has been identified as a key factor in the terminal differentiation of myoblasts (Cooper, et al., 1991; Gu, et al., 1994). If galectin in the mesonephric basement membranes functions in a similar fashion, by disrupting receptor-laminin binding, then galectins would likely be acting as a negative factor in differentiation of the renal epithelium. As demonstrated in the myoblast system, adding excess galectin ligands in this case would alleviate steric inhibition and increase the binding of laminin to cellular receptors, which would likely have a stabilizing

influence on differentiation. Such a scenario is not supported by the results of this study.

Another possibility is that in the mesonephric basement membranes, dimerized galectins are cross-linking laminin to a galactosylated cell-surface receptor. If occupation of this receptor by a galectin is required for maintenance of the epithelial phenotype, then galectin hapten inhibitors would disrupt cellular phenotype, as was seen in this study. If mesonephric basement membrane galectins function in this manner, then what is the nature of the galactosylated cell surface receptor? A good candidate for such a receptor is a galactosylated lipid. Glycolipids can have polarized distributions in the membrane of epithelial cells. Kidney-derived (MDCK) epithelial cells accumulate galactosylceramide glycosphingolipids in the basolateral membrane domain (van der Bijl, et al., 1996). In the same MDCK cells, glucosyl-ceramide glycosphingolipids are randomly distributed in the cell membrane. Interaction of laminin with a cell-surface glycosphingolipid bearing the Forssman pentasaccharide (GalNAc-[α1-3]-GalNAc-[β1,4]-Gal-[α1,4]-Gal- $[\beta_{1,4}]$ -Glc- $[\beta_{1,1}]$ -ceramide) has been implicated in the development of the epithelial phenotype (Zinkl, et al., 1996). Antibodies to this glycolipid inhibit MDCK cell adhesion to laminin and prevent the development and maintenance of cell polarity. A Forssman saccharide, putatively conjugated to a lipid moiety (Siddiqui & Hakamori, 1971), is expressed on the surface of chick mesonephric cells (Szulman, 1975), and antibodies to

this saccharide antigen prevent reformation of tubules in cultures of dissociated chick mesonephric cells.

The nature of the interaction between the Forssman saccharide and laminin has not been determined. However, laminin could be linked to the Forssman glycolipid through a dimerized galectin cross-link. The Forssman disaccharide (GalNAc-[α 1,3]-GalNAc)) has been identified as the natural ligand for the *Geodia cydonium* galectin (Hanisch, et al. , 1996). Further experiments are necessary to determine if the chick 16 kDa galectin binds to a Forssman glycolipid on the surface of chick mesonephric cells, and if that glycolipid is involved in the development and maintenance of renal epithelial cell polarity.

REFERENCES

- Abbot, W. M. and Feizi, T. (1991). Soluble 14 kDa β-galactoside-specific bovine lectin: evidence from mutagenesis and proteolysis that almost the complete polypeptide chain is necessary for integrity of the carbohydrate recognition domain. *J. Biol. Chem.* **266**: 5552-5557.
- Abrahamson, D. R. and Leardkamolkarn, V. (1991). Development of kidney tubular basement membranes. *Kidney Int*. **39**: 382-393.
- Ahmed, H., Pohl, J., Fink, N. E., Strobel, F. and Vasta, G. R. (1996). The primary structure and carbohydrate-specificity of a β-galactosyl-binding lectin from toad (*Bufo arenarum Hensel*) ovary reveal closer similarities to the mammalian Galectin-1 than to the galectin from the clawed frog *Xenopus laevis*. J. Biol. Chem. 271: 33083-33094.
- Ahmed, H. and Vasta, G. R. (1994). Galectins: conservation of functionally and structurally relevant amino acid residues defines two types of carbohydrate recognition domains. *Glycobiology* 4: 545-549.
- Akahani, S., Inohara, H., Nangia-Makker, P. and Raz, A. (1997a). Galectin-3 in tumor metastasis. *TIGG* 9: 69-75.
- Akahani, S., Nangia-Makker, P., Inohara, I., Kim, H. C. and Raz, A. (1997b). Galectin-3: a novel antiapoptotic molecule with a functional BH1 (NWGR) domain of Bcl-2 family. *Cancer Res.* 57: 5272-5276.
- Arata, Y., Hirabayashi, J. and Kasai, K. (1997). The two lectin domains of the tandem repeat 32-kDa galectin of the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* have different binding properties: studies with recombinant protein. J. Biochem. 121: 1002-1009.
- Baird, J. B. L., McConnell, J. E. and Davies, J. A. (1994). Towards a genetic basis for kidney development. *Mech. Develop.* **48**: 3-11.
- Bacallao, R. (1995). The role of the cytoskeleton in renal development. Sem. Neph. 15: 285-290.
- Barak-Briles, E., Gregory, W., Fletcher, P. and Kornfeld, S. (1979). Vertebrate lectins: comparison of properties of β–galactoside binding lectins from tissues of calf and chicken. J. Cell Biol. 81: 528-537.
- Barondes, S. H. (1988). Bifunctional properties of lectins: lectins redefined. *TIBS* 13: 480-482.

Barondes, S. H. (1997). Galectins: a personal overview. TIGG 9: 1-7.

- Barth, A. I. M., Nathke, I. S. and Nelson, W. J. (1997). Cadherins, catenins and APC protein: interplay between cytoskeletal complexes and signaling pathways. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 9: 683-690.
- Beyer, E. C. (1980). Two lactose binding lectins from chicken tissue. J. Biol. Chem. 255: 4236-4239.
- Beyer, E. C. and Barondes, H. C. (1982). Quantitation of two endogenous lactose-inhibitable lectins in embryonic and adult chicken tissues. *J. Cell Biol.* 92: 23-27.
- Birk, D. E. and Linsenmayer, T. F. (1994). Collagen fibril assembly, deposition, and organization into tissue-specific matrices. *Extracellular Matrix Assembly and Structure*. (P. D. Yurchenco, D. E. Birk and R. P. Mecham, ed.) New York, Academic Press. pp. 91-128.
- Blackshaw, S. E., Brett, C. T., Curtis, A. S. G., Dow, J. A. T., Edwards, J. G., Lackie, J. M., Lawrence, A. J. and Moores, G. R. (1995). *The Dictionary* of Cell Biology. London, Academic Press.
- Borradori, L. and Sonnenberg, A. (1996). Hemidesmosomes: roles in adhesion, signaling and human diseases. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 8: 647-656.
- Bourne, Y., Bolgiano, B., Liao, D., Strecker, G., Cantau, P., Herzberg, O., Feizi, T. and Cambilau, C. (1994). Crosslinking of mammalian lectin (Galectin-1) by complex biantennary saccharides. *Nature Structural Biology* 1: 863-870.
- Brahic, M. and Ozden, S. (1992). Simultaneous detection of cellular RNA and proteins. In Situ Hybridization: A Practical Approach. (D. G. Wilkinson, ed.) Oxford, IRL Press at Oxford University Press. 85-104.
- Brewer, C. F. (1997). Cross-linking activities of galectins and other multivalent lectins. *TIGG* 9: 155-165.
- Brown, D. and Stow, J. L. (1996). Protein trafficking and polarity in kidney epithelium: from cell biology to physiology. *Physiological Reviews* 76: 245-297.
- Bulger, R. E. (1983). The urinary system. *Histology: Cell and Tissue Biology*. (L. Weiss, ed.) New York, Elsevier Biomedical. pp. 869-913.

- Burger, A., Filsinger, S., Cooper, D. N. W. and Hansch, G. M. (1996). Expression of the 14 kDa galactose-binding protein, Galectin-1, on human tubular epithelial cells. *Kidney Int.* 50: 754-759.
- Carlon, N., Pizant, J. and Stahl, A. (1983). Mesonephric origin of the gonadal primitive medulla in chick embryos. *Anat. Embryol.* 166: 399-414.
- Castronovo, V., Luyten, F., van den Brule, F. A. and Sobel, M. E. (1992). Identification of a 14 kDa laminin binding protein (HLBP14) in human melanoma cells that is identical to the 14 kDa galactoside binding lectin. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 297: 132-138.
- Chiu, M. L., Parry, D. A. D., Feldman, S. R., Klapper, D. G. and O'Keefe, E. J. (1994). An adherens junction protein is a member of the family of lactose-binding lectin. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 31770-31776.
- Cho, M. and Cummings, R. D. (1995). Galectin-1, a β–galactoside binding lectin in Chinese Hamster Ovary cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**: 5207-5212.
- Cho, M. and Cummings, R. D. (1996). Characterization of monomeric forms of Galectin-1 generated by site-directed mutagenesis. *Biochemistry* 35: 13081-13088.
- Cho, M. and Cummings, R. D. (1997). Galectin-1: oligomeric structure and interactions with polylactosamine. *TIGG* 9: 47-56.
- Citi, S., Sabanay, H., Jakes, R., Geiger, B. and Kendrick-Jones, J. (1988). Cingulin, a new peripheral component of tight junctions. *Nature* 333: 272-275.
- Colnot, C., Ripoche, M., Fowlis, D., Cannon, V., Scaerou, F., Cooper, D.N.W., and Poirer, F. (1997). The role of galectins in mouse development. *TIGG* 9: 31-40.
- Cooper, D. N. W. (1997). Galectin-1: secretion and modulation of cell interactions with laminin. *TIGG* 9: 57-67.
- Cooper, D. N. W. and Barondes, S. H. (1990). Evidence for export of a muscle lectin from cytosol to extracellular matrix and for a novel secretory system. J. Cell Biol. **110**: 1681-1691.
- Cooper, D. N. W., Boulianne, R. P., Charlton, S., Farrell, E. M., Sucher, A. and Lu, B. C. (1997). Fungal galectins, sequence and specificity of two isolectins from *Coprinus cinereus*. J. Biol. Chem. 272: 1514-1521.

- Cooper, D. N. W., Massa, S. M. and Barondes, S. H. (1991). Endogenous muscle lectin inhibits myoblast adhesion to laminin. J. Cell Biol. 115: 1437-1448.
- Cowin, P. and Burke, B. (1996) Cytoskeleton-membrane interactions. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 8: 56-65.
- Crepaldi, T., Pollack, A. L., Prat, M., Zborek, A., Mostov, K. and Comoglio, P. M. (1994). Targeting of the SF/HGF receptor to the basolateral domain of polarized epithelial cells. J. Cell Biol. 125: 313-320.
- Crittenden, S. L., Roff, C. F. and Wang, J. L. (1984). Carbohydrate-binding protein 35: identification of the galactose-specific lectin in various tissues of mice. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 4: 1252-1259.
- Dagher, S. F., Wang, J. L. and Patterson, R. J. (1995). Identification of Galectin-3 as a factor in pre-mRNA splicing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92: 1213-1217.
- Danielsen, E. M. and van Deurs, B. (1997). Galectin-4 and small intestinal brush border enzymes form clusters. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 8: 2241-2251.
- Davies, J. L. (1996). Mesenchyme to epithelium transition during development of the mammalian kidney tubule. Acta Anat. 156: 187-201.
- Dedhar, S. and Hannigan, G. E. (1996). Integrin cytoplasmic interactions and bidirectional transmembrane signaling. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 8: 657-669.
- Den, H. and Malinzak, D. A. (1977). Isolation and properties of β–Dgalactoside-specific lectin from chick embryo thigh muscle. *J. Biol. Chem.* **252**: 5444-5448.
- Didier, E., Didier, P., Bayle, D. and Chevalier, M. (1988). Lectin activity and distribution of chicken lactose lectin I in the extracellular matrix of the chick developing kidney. *Cell Diff.* 24: 83-96.
- Do, K., Smith, D. F. and Cummings, R. D. (1990). LAMP-1 in CHO cells is a primary carrier of poly-N-acetyllactosamine chains and is bound preferentially by a mammalian S-type lectin. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 173: 1123-1128.
- Dowling, J., Yu, Q. and Fuchs, E. (1996). β₁ integrin is required for hemidesmosome formation, cell adhesion, and cell survival. *J. Cell Biol.* **134**: 559-572.

- Drickamer, K. (1988). Two distinct classes of carbohydrate-recognition domains in animal lectins. J. Biol. Chem. 263: 9557-9560.
- Drickamer, K. and Taylor, M. E. (1993). Biology of animal lectins. Ann. Rev. Cell Biol. 9: 237-264.
- Drubin, D. G. and Nelson, W. J. (1996). Origins of cell polarity. Cell 84: 335-344.
- Durbeej, M. and Ekblom, P. (1997). Dystroglycan and laminin: glycoconjugates involved in branching epithelial morphogenesis. *Exp. Lung Res.* 23: 109-118.
- Durbeej, M., Larsson, E., Ibraghimov-Beskarovnaya, O. and Roberts, S. L. (1995). Non-muscle α-dystroglycan is involved in epithelial development. J. Cell Biol. 130: 79-91.
- Eaton, S. and Simons, K. (1995). Apical, basal, and lateral cues for epithelial polarization. *Cell* 82: 5-8.
- Ekblom, P. (1981a). Determination and differentiation of the nephron. *Med. Biol.* **59**: 139-160.
- Ekblom, P. (1981b). Formation of basement membranes in the embryonic kidney: an immunohistological study. J. Cell Biol. 91: 1-10.
- Ekblom, P., Thesleff, I., Miettinen, A. and Saxen, L. (1981). Organogenesis in a defined medium supplemented with transferrin. *Cell Diff.* **10**: 281-288.
- Ekblom, P. (1996). Receptors for laminins during epithelial morphogenesis. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 8: 700-706.
- Ekblom, P., Alitalo, K., Vaheri, A., Timpl, R. and Saxen, L. (1980). Induction of a basement membrane glycoprotein in embryonic kidney: possible role of laminin in morphogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77: 485-489.
- Ekblom, P., Sariola, H., Karkinen-Jaaskelainen, M. and Saxen, L. (1982). The origin of the glomerular endothelium. *Cell Diff.* 11: 35-39.
- Fitch, J. M. and Linsenmayer, T. F. (1994). Interstitial basement membrane components in development. *Extracellular Matrix Assembly and Structure*. (P. D. Yurchenco, D. E. Birk and R. P. Mecham, ed.) New York, Academic Press. pp. 441-459.
- Foddy, L., Stamatoglou, S. C. and Hughes, R. C. (1990). An endogenous carbohydrate-binding protein of baby hamster kidney (BHK21 C13) cells:

temporal changes in cellular expression in the developing kidney. J. Cell Sci. 97: 139-148.

- Fowlis, D., Colnot, C., Ripoche, M. and Poirer, F. (1995). Galectin-3 is expressed in the notochord, developing bones, and skin of the postimplantation mouse embryo. *Dev. Dyn.* 203: 241-251.
- Friebova, Z. (1975). Formation of the chick mesonephros. 1. General outline of development. *Folia Morph.* 23: 19-28.
- Friebova-Zemanova, Z. (1981). Formation of the chick mesonephros. 4. Course and architecture of the developing nephrons. Anat. Embryol. 161: 341-354.
- Friebova-Zemanova, Z. and Goncharevskaya, O.A. (1982). Formation of the chick mesonephros. 5. Spatial distribution of the nephron population. *Anat. Embryol.* 165: 125-139.
- Frisch, S.M., Vuori, K., Ruoslahti, R., and Chan-Hu, P. (1996). Control of adhesion-dependent cell survival by Focal Adhesion Kinase. J. Cell Biol. 134: 793-799.
- Furuse, M., Hirase, T., Itoh, M., Nagafuchi, A., Tsukita, S. and Tsukita, S. (1993). Occludin: a novel integral membrane protein localizing at tight junctions. J. Cell Biol. 123: 1777-1788.
- Furuse, M., Itoh, M., Hirase, T., Nagafuchi, A., Yonemura, S., Tsukita, S. and Tsukita, S. (1994). Direct association of occludin with ZO-1 and its possible involvement of localization of occludin at tight junctions. J. Cell Biol. 127: 1617-1626.

Gabius, H. (1997). Animal lectins. Eur. J. Biochem. 243: 543-576.

Garrod, D., Chidgey, M. and North, A.(1996). Desmosomes: differentiation, development, dynamics and disease. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 8, 670-678.

- Garrod, D. R. (1993). Desmosomes and hemidesmosomes. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 5: 30-40.
- Gauer, S., Yao, J., Schoecklmann, H. O. and Sterzel, R. B. (1997). Adhesion molecules in the glomerular mesangium. *Kidney Int.* **51**: 1447-1453.
- Gavrieli, Y., Sherman, Y., and Ben-Sasson, S.A. (1992). Identification of programmed cell death in situ via specific labeling of nuclear DNA fragmentation. J. Cell Biol. **119**: 493-501.

- Gheri, G., Gheri-Bryk, S. and Petrelli, V. (1990). Histochemical detection of sugar residues in the chick embryo mesonephros with lectinhorseradish peroxidase complexes. *Histochem.* 95: 63-71.
- Gheri, G., Gheri-Bryk, S., Sgambati, E., and Russo, G. (1993). Chick embryo metanephros: the glycosylation pattern as revealed with lectin conjugates. *Acta Histochem.* 94: 113-124.
- Gibley, C. W. and Chang, J. P. (1967). Fine structure of the functional mesonephros in the eight-day chick embryo. *J. Morph.* **123**: 441-462.
- Gibley, C. W. J. (1967). Histochemistry of the mesonephros in the developing chick. *Texas Rep. Biol. Med.* 25: 380-395.
- Gitt, M. A., Colnot, C., Poirer, F., Nani, K. J., Barondes, S. H. and Leffler, H. (1998). Galectin-4 and Galectin-6 are two closely related lectins expressed in the mouse gastrointestinal tract. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 2954-2960.
- Gitt, M. A., Jordan, E. T. and Leffler, H. (1997). Galectin-2, Galectins-5 and -9, and Galectins-4 and -6. *TIGG* 9: 87-93.
- Gitt, M. A., Massa, S. M., Leffler, H. and Barondes, S. H. (1992). Isolation and expression of a gene encoding L-14-II, a new human soluble lactosebinding lectin. J. Biol. Chem. 267: 10601-10606.
- Gitt, M. A., Wiser, M. F., Leffler, H., Herrmann, J., Xia, Y., Massa, S. M., Cooper, D. N. W., Lusis, A. J. and Barondes, S. H. (1995). Sequence and mapping of Galectin-5, a β–galactoside-binding lectin, found in rat erythrocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 5032-5038.
- Goodman, S. L. (1992). $\alpha_6\beta_1$ integrin and laminin E8: an increasingly complex simple story. *Kidney Int.* **41**: 650-656.
- Green, K. J. and Jones, J. C. R. (1996). Desmosomes and hemidesmosomes: structure and function of molecular components. *FASEB J.* **10**: 871-881.
- Griepp, E. and Robbins, E. (1983). Epithelium. *Histology: Cell and Tissue Biology.* (L. Weiss, ed.) New York, Elsevier Biomedical. pp. 109-138.
- Grobstein, C. (1956). Inductive interactions in tissue development. *Adv. Canc. Res.* **4**: 187-236.
- Gu, M., Wang, W., Song, W. K., Cooper, D. N. W. and Kaufman, S. J. (1994). Selective modulation of $\alpha_7\beta_1$ integrin with fibronectin and laminin by

L-14 lectin during skeletal muscle differentiation. J. Cell Sci. 107: 175-181.

- Guay, C. K. (1993). Analysis of the galactose-binding lectins during the development of the chick yolk sac. University of Alberta (MSc thesis).
- Guay, C. K. and Zalik, S. E. (1994). Expression of the 14 kDa and 16 kDa galactoside-binding lectins during differentiation of the chick yolk sac. *Roux's Arch. Dev. Biol.* **204**: 126-140.
- Haas, T. A. and Plow, E. F. (1994). Integrin-ligand interactions: a year in review. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 6: 656-662.
- Hadari, Y., Paz, K., Dekel, R., Mestrovic, T., Accili, D. and Zick, Y. (1995). Galectin 8: a new rat lectin, related to Galectin-4. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270: 3447-3453.
- Hadari, Y. R., Eisenstein, M., Rina, Z. and Zick, Y. (1997). Galectin-8: on the road from structure to function. *TIGG* 9: 103-112.
- Hamburger, V. and Hamilton, H. L. (1951). A series of normal stages in the development of the chick embryo. J. Morph. 88: 49-92.
- Hamilton, H.L. (1952). Lillie's Development of the Chick: An Introduction to Embryology. Holt, Rinehart & Winston, New. York.
- Hanisch, F., Baldus, S.E., and Kümmel, T.A. (1996). Forssman disaccharide is the specific ligand of a galectin from the sponge *Geodia cydonium* but does not mediate its binding to nuclear protein np56. *Glycobiology* 6: 321-336.
- Hardman, P., Spooner, B.S., and Klement, B.J. (1990). Growth and morphogenesis of embryonic mouse organ on Biopore membrane. In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. 26: 1119-1120.
- Hart, G. W., Haltiwanger, R. S., Holt, G. D. and Kelly, W. G. (1989). Glycosylation in the nucleus and cytoplasm. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 58: 841-874.
- Hawkes, R., Niday, E. and Gordon, J. (1982). A dot immunobinding assay for monoclonal and other antibodies. *Anal. Biochem.* **119**: 142-147.
- Hedgepeth, C. M., Conrad, L. J., Zhang, J., Huang, H., Lee, V. M. Y. and Klein, P. (1997). Activation of the Wnt signaling pathway: a molecular mechanism for lithium action. Dev. Biol. 185: 82-91.

- Henry, M. D. and Campbell, K. P. (1996). Dystroglycan: an extracellular matrix receptor linked to the cytoskeleton. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 8: 625-631.
- Herrmann, J., Turck, C. W., Atchison, R. E., Huflejt, M. E., Poulter, L., Gitt, M. A., Burlingame, A. L., Barondes, S. H. and Leffler, H. (1993). Primary structure of the soluble lactose binding lectin L-29 from rat and dog and interaction of its non-collagenous proline-, glycine-, tyrosine-rich sequence with bacterial and tissue collagenase. J. Biol. Chem. 268: 26704-26711.
- Herzlinger, D. (1995). Inductive interactions in kidney development. Sem. Neph. 15: 255-262.
- Herzlinger, D., Qiao, J., Cohen, D., Ramakrishna, N. and Brown, A. M. C. (1994). Induction of kidney epithelial morphogenesis by cells expressing Wnt-1. Dev. Biol. 166: 815-818.
- Hinck, L., Nelson, W. J. and Papkoff, J. (1994). Wnt-1 modulates cell-cell adhesion in mammalian cells by stabilizing β -catenin binding to the cell adhesion protein cadherin. *J. Cell Biol.* **124**: 729-741.
- Hirabayashi, J. (1993). A general comparison of two major families of animal lectins. *TIGG* 5: 251-270.
- Hirabayashi, J. (1997). Galectins have been found in the mushroom *Coprinus* cinereus. TIGG **9**: 181-182.
- Hirabayashi, J., Arata, Y. and Kasai, K. (1997). Galectins from the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* and the genome project. *TIGG* 9: 113-122.
- Hirabayashi, J. and Kasai, K. (1993). The family of metazoan metalindependent β–galactoside binding lectins: structure, function, and molecular evolution. *Glycobiology* 3: 297-304.
- Hirabayashi, J., Satoh, M. and Kasai, K. (1992). Evidence that *Caenorhabditis elegans* 32-kDa β -galactoside binding protein is homologous to vertebrate β -galactoside binding lectins. *J. Biol. Chem.* **267**: 15485-15490.
- Hirabayashi, J., Ubukata, T. and Kasai, K. (1996). Purification and molecular characterization of a novel 16-kDa galectin from the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Biol. Chem.* **271**: 2497-2505.
- Hitt, A.L. and Luna, E.J. (1994). Membrane interactions with the actin cytoskeleton. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 6: 120-130.

- Holthöfer, H., Hennigar, R.A., and Schulte, B.A. (1988). Glomerular sialoconjugates of developing and mature rat kidneys. *Cell Diff.* 24: 215-222.
- Huang, T. W. (1979). Basal lamina heterogeneity in the glomerular capillary tufts of human kidneys. J. Exp. Med. 149: 1450-1459.
- Hubert, M., Wang, S., Wang, J. L., Seve, A. and Hubert, J. (1995). Intranuclear distribution of Galectin-3 in mouse 3T3 fibroblasts: comparative analyses by immunofluorescence and immunoelectron microscopy. *Exp. Cell Res.* 220: 397-406.
- Huflejt, M. E., Jordan, E. T., Gitt, M. A., Barondes, S. H. and Leffler, H. (1997). Strikingly different localization of Galectin-3 and Galectin-4 in human colon adenocarcinoma T84 cells. J. Biol. Chem.. 272: 14294-14303.
- Hughes, R. C. (1994). Mac-2: a versatile galactose-binding protein of mammalian tissues. *Glycobiology* 4: 5-12.
- Huss, R. E. and Marsh, D. J. (1975). A model of NaCl and water flow through paracellular pathways of renal proximal tubules. *J. Membrane Biol.* 23: 305-347.
- Inohara, H., Akahani, S., Koths, K. and Raz, A. (1996). Interactions between Galectin-3 and Mac-2-binding protein mediate cell-cell adhesion. *Canc. Res.* 56: 4530-4534.
- Inohara, H. and Raz, A. (1995). Functional evidence that cell surface Galectin-3 mediates homotypic cell adhesion. *Canc. Res.* **55**: 3267-3271.
- Iozzo, R. V. (1994). Perlecan: a gem of a proteoglycan. Matrix Biol. 14: 203-208.
- Jarzem, J. and Meier, S. P. (1987). A scanning electron microscope survey of the origin of the primordial pronephric duct cells in the avian embryo. *Anat. Record* **218**: 175-181.
- Jeeva, J. and Zalik, S. E. (1996). Hapten inhibitors of the endogenous galactosebinding lectins and anti-lectin antibodies inhibit primitive streak formation in the early chick embryo. *Glycobiology* 6: 517-526.
- Jia, S. and Wang, J. L. (1988). Carbohydrate binding protein 35: complementary cDNA sequence reveals homology with proteins of the heterogenous nuclear RNP. J. Biol. Chem. 263: 6009-6011.
- Jones, D. B. (1977). Correlative scanning and transmission electron microscopy of glomeruli. *Lab. Invest.* **37**: 569-578.

- Kasai, K. and Hirabayashi, J. (1996). Galectins: A family of animal lectins that decipher glycocodes. J. Biochem. 119: 1-8.
- Kishore, U., Eggleton, P. and Reid, K. B. M. (1997). Modular organization of carbohydrate recognition domains in animal lectins. *Matrix Biol.* 15: 583-592.
- Kispert, A., Vainio, S., Shen, L., Rowitch, D. H. and McMahon, A. P. (1996). Proteoglycans are required for maintenance of Wnt-11 expression in the ureter tips. *Development* 122: 3627-3637.
- Klein, G., Langegger, M., Timpl, R. and Ekblom, P. (1988). Role of laminin A chain in the development of epithelial cell polarity. *Cell* 55: 331-341.
- Klingensmith, J. and Nusse, R. (1994). Signaling by *wingless* in Drosophila. *Dev. Biol.* **166**: 396-414.
- Kobiler, D. and Barondes, S. H. (1977). Lectin activity from embryonic chick brain, heart, and liver: changes with development. *Dev. Biol.* 60: 326-330.
- Koch, P. J. and Franke, W. W. (1994). Desmosomal cadherins: another growing multigene family of adhesion molecules. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 6: 682-687.
- Kuhn, K. (1995). Basement membrane (Type IV) collagen. Matrix Biol. 14: 439-445.
- Kuklinski, S. and Probstmeier, R. (1998). Homophilic binding properties of Galectin-3: involvement of the carbohydrate recognition domain. J. Neurochem. 70: 814-823.
- Le Gall, A. H., Yeaman, C., Muesch, A. and Rodriguez-Boulan, E. (1995). Epithelial cell polarity: new perspectives. *Sem. Neph.* 15: 272-284.

Leffler, H. (1997). Introduction to galectins. TIGG 9: 9-19.

- Leighton, J., Estes, L. W., Mansukhani, S. and Brada, Z. (1970). A cell line derived from normal dog kidney (MDCK) exhibiting qualities of papillary adenocarcinoma and of renal tubular epithelium. *Cancer* 26: 1022-1028.
- Leonidas, D. D., Elbert, B. L., Zhou, S., Leffler, H., Ackerman, S. J. and Acharya, K. R. (1995). Crystal structure of human Charcot-Leyden crystal protein,

an eosinophil lysophospholipase, identifies it as a new member of the carbohydrate binding family of galectins. *Structure* **3**: 1379-1393.

- Levi, G. and Teichberg, V. L. (1981). Isolation and physicochemical characterization of electrolectin, a β–D-galactoside binding lectin from the electric organ of *Electrophorus electricus*. J. Biol. Chem. 256: 5735-5743.
- Liao, D., Kapadia, G., Ahmed, H., Vasta, G. R. and Herzberg, O. (1994). Structure of S-lectin, a developmentally regulated β-galactosidebinding protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91: 1428-1432.
- Lindstedt, R., Apodaca, G., Barondes, S. H., Mostov, K. E. and Leffler, H. (1993). Apical secretion of a cytosolic protein by Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. J. Biol. Chem. 268: 11750-11757.
- Lipsick, J. S., Beyer, E. C., Barondes, S. H. and Kaplan, N. O. (1980). Lectins from chicken tissues are mitogenic for Thy-1 negative murine spleen cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 97: 56-61.
- Lobsanov, Y. D., Gitt, M. A., Leffler, H., Barondes, S. H. and Rini, J. M. (1993). X-ray crystal structure of the human dimeric S-Lac-lectin, L-14-II, in complex with lactose at 2.9-Å resolution. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**: 27034-27038.
- Lobsanov, Y. D. and Rini, J. M. (1997). Galectin structure. TIGG 9: 145-154.
- Lotan, R., Belloni, P. N., Tressler, R. J., Lotan, D., Xu, X. and Nicolson, G. L. (1994). Expression of galectins on microvessel endothelial cells and their involvement in tumour cell adhesion. *Glycoconjugate J.* 11: 462-468.
- MacDonald, J. A. (1988). Extracellular matrix assembly. Ann. Rev. Cell Biol. 4: 183-207.
- Madsen, K. M. and Tisher, C. C. (1986). Structural-functional relationships along the distal nephron. *Am. J. Physiol.* **250**: F1-F15.
- Madsen, P., Rasmussen, H. H., Flint, T., Gromov, P., Kruse, T. A., Honore, B., Vorum, H. and Celis, J. E. (1995). Cloning, expression, and chromosome mapping of human Galectin-7. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 5823-5829.
- Magnaldo, T. and Michel, D. (1997). Galectin-7, a new marker of mammalian stratified epithelia. *TIGG* 9: 95-102.

- Mahanthappa, N. K., Cooper, D. N. W., Barondes, S. H. and Schwarting, G. A. (1994). Rat olfactory neurons can utilize the endogenous lectin, L-14, in a novel cell adhesion mechanism. *Development* **120**: 1373-1384.
- Marrs, J. A., Napolitano, E. W., Murphy-Erdosh, C., Mays, R. W., Reichardt, L. F. and Nelson, W. J. (1993). Distinguishing roles of the membranecytoskeleton and cadherin mediated cell-cell adhesion in generating different Na+,K+-ATPase distributions in polarized epithelia. The J. Cell Biol. 123: 149-164.
- Marschal, P., Herrmann, J., Leffler, H., Barondes, S. H. and Cooper, D. N.
 W. (1992). Sequence and specificity of a soluble lactose-binding lectin from *Xenopus laevis* skin. J. Biol. Chem. 267: 12942-12949.
- Marsh, R.G., Jeeva, J., and Zalik, S.E. (1995). In the chick embryo, galactosebinding lectins are expressed early in gastrulation and inhibiting their function alters primitive streak formation. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **6**: 322a
- Martins-Green, M. and Bissel, M.J. (1995). Cell-ECM interaction in development. Sem. Dev. Biol. 6: 149-159.
- Massa, S. M., Cooper, D. N. W., Leffler, H. and Barondes, S. H. (1993). L-29, an endogenous lectin, binds to glycogonjugate ligands with positive cooperativity. *Biochem.* 32: 260-267.
- Matsutani, E. and Yamagata, T. (1982). Chick endogenous lectin enhances chondrogenesis of cultured chick limb bud cells. *Dev. Biol.* 92: 544-548.
- Mayer, U. and Timpl, R. (1994). Nidogen: a versatile binding protein of basement membranes. *Extracellular Matrix Assembly and Structure*. (P. D. Yurchenco, D. E. Birk and R. P. Mecham, ed.) New York, Academic Press. pp. 389-416.
- Mays, R. W., Beck, K. A. and Nelson, W. J. (1994). Organization and function of the cytoskeleton in polarized epithelial cells: a component of the protein sorting machinery. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 6: 16-24.
- Mays, R. W., Siemers, K. A., Fritz, B. A., Lowe, A. W., van Meer, G. and Nelson, W. J. (1995). Hierarchy of mechanisms involved in generating Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase polarity in MDCK cells. J. Cell Biol. 130: 1105-1115.
- Mehul, B. and Hughes, R. C. (1997). Plasma membrane targeting, vesicular budding and release of Galectin-3 from the cytoplasm of mammalian cells during secretion. *J. Cell Sci.* **110**: 1169-1178.

- Merkle, R. K. and Cummings, R. D. (1988). Asparagine-linked oligosaccharides containing poly-N-acetyllactosamine chains are preferentially bound by immobilized calf heart agglutinin. J. Biol. Chem. 263: 16143-16149.
- Michael, A. F., Keane, W. F., Raij, L., Vernier, R. L. and Mauer, S. M. (1980). The glomerular mesangium. *Kidney Int.* 17: 141-154.
- Morris, J. E. (1967). The biphasic course of regression in the chick mesonephros. *Experientia* 23: 307-308.
- Mosher, D. F., Sottile, J., Wu, C. and MacDonald, J. A. (1992). Assembly of extracellular matrix. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 4: 810-818.
- Müller, W. E. G., Blumbach, B., Wagner-Hülsmann, C. and Uta, L. (1997). Galectins in the phylogenetically oldest metazoa, the sponges, (Porifera). *TIGG* 9: 123-130.
- Mundel, P. and Kriz, W. (1995). Structure and function of podocytes: an update. Anat. Embryol. 192: 385-397.
- Muramatsu, T. (1988). Alterations of cell surface carbohydrates during differentiation and development. *Biochimie* 70: 1587-1596.
- Muramoto, K. and Kamiya, H. (1992). The amino acid sequence of a lectin from conger eel, *Conger myriaster*, skin mucus. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1116**: 129-136.
- Narbaitz, R. and Kapal, V. K. (1986). Scanning electron microscopical observations on the differentiating mesonephros of the chick embryo. *Acta Anat.* **125**, 183-190.
- Nathke, I. A., Hinck, L. and Nelson, W. J. (1995). The cadherin/catenin complex: connections to multiple cellular processes involved in cell adhesion, proliferation and morphogenesis. *Sem. Dev. Biol.* 6: 89-95.
- Nathke, I. S., Hinck, L., Swedlow, J. R., Papkoff, J. and Nelson, W. J. (1994). Defining interactions and distributions of cadherin and catenin complexes in polarized epithelial cells. *J. Cell Biol.* **125**: 1341-1352.
- Natori, Y., O'Meara, Y. M., Manning, E. C., Minto, A. W. M., Levine, J. S., Weise, W. J. and Salant, D. J. (1992). Production and polarized secretion of basement membrane components by glomerular epithelial cells. *Am. J. Physiol.* 262: F131-F137.

- New, D.A.T. (1966). The Culture of Vertebrate Embryos. Logos Press/Academic Press, New. York. p. 5.
- Nowak, T. P., Kobiler, D., Roel, L. F. and Barondes, S. H. (1977). Developmentally regulated lectin from embryonic chick pectoral muscle. J. Biol. Chem. 252: 6026-6030.
- Nurminskaya, M. and Linsenmayer, T. F. (1996). Identification and characterization of up-regulated genes during chondrocyte hypertrophy. *Dev. Dyn.* 206: 260-271.
- Nusse, R. and Varmus, H. E. (1992). Wnt genes. Cell 69: 1073-1087.
- Ochieng, J., Green, B. N., Evans, S., James, O. and Warfield, P. (1998). Modulation of the biological functions of Galectin-3 by matrix metalloproteinases. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1379: 97-106.
- Ochieng, J. and Warfield, P. (1995). Galectin-3 binding potentials of mouse tumor EHS and human placental laminin. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 217: 402-406.
- Oda, Y., Hermman, J., Gitt, M. A., Turck, C. W., Burlingame, A. L., Barondes, S. H. and Leffler, H. (1993). Soluble lactose-binding lectin from the rat intestine with two different carbohydrate-binding domains in the same peptide chain. J. Biol. Chem. 268: 5929-5939.
- Oda, Y. and Kasai, K. (1984). Photochemical cross-linking of β-galactosidebinding lectin to polylactosamino-proteoglycan of chick embryonic skin. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* **123**: 1215-1220
- Oda, Y., Leffler, H., Sakakura, Y., Kasai, K. and Barondes, S. H. (1991). Human breast carcinoma cDNA encoding a galatoside-binding lectin homologous to mouse Mac-2 antigen. *Gene* 99: 279-283.
- Odorizzi, G., Pearse, A., Domingo, D., Trowbridge, I. S. and Hopkins, C. R. (1996). Apical and basolateral endosomes of MDCK cells are interconnected and contain a polarized sorting mechanism. *J. Cell Biol.* **135**: 139-152.
- Ojakian, G. and Schwimmer, R. (1988). The polarized distribution of an apical cell surface glycoprotein is maintained by interactions with the cytoskeleton of Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. J. Cell Biol. 107: 2377-2387.
- Ojakian, G. K. and Schwimmer, R. (1994). Regulation of epithelial cell surface polarity reversal by β_1 integrins. *J. Cell Sci.* 107: 561-576.
- Ozawa, M. and Kemler, R. (1992). Molecular organization of the uvomorulincatenin complex. J. Cell Biol. 116: 989-996.
- Ozeki, Y., Matsui, T., Nitta, K., Kawauchi, H., Takayanag, Y. and Titani, K. (1991). Purification and characterization of β–galactoside binding lectin from frog (*Rana catesbeiana*) eggs. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* **178**: 407-413.
- Ozeki, Y., Matsui, T., Yamamoto, Y., Funahashi, M., Hamako, J. and Titani, K. (1995). Tissue fibronectin is an endogenous ligand for Galectin-1. *Glycobiology* 5: 255-261.
- Pace, K. E. and Baum, L. G. (1997). Induction of T lymphocyte apoptosis: a novel function for Galectin-1. *TIGG* 9: 21-29.
- Paratoud, P., Levi, G., Teichberg, V. I. and Strosberg, A. D. (1987). Extensive amino acid homologies between animal lectins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84: 6345-6348.
- Patterson, R. J., Dagher, S. F., Vyakarnam, A. and Wang, J. L. (1997). Nuclear galectins: functionally redundant components in processing of premRNA. TIGG 9: 77-85.
- Perillo, N. L., Pace, K. E., Sellhamer, J. J. and Baum, L. G. (1995). Apoptosis of T-cells mediated by Galectin-1. *Nature* **378**: 736-739.
- Perillo, N. L., Uittenbogaart, C. H., Nguyen, J. T. and Baum, L. G. (1997). Galectin-1, an endogenous lectin produced by thymic epithelial cells, induces apoptosis of human thymocytes. J. Exp. Med. 185: 1851-1858.
- Peters, D. M. P. and Mosher, D. F. (1994). Formation of fibronectin extracellular matrix. *Extracellular Matrix Assembly and Structure*. (P. D. Yurchenco, D. E. Birk and R. P. Mecham, ed.) New York, Academic Press. pp. 315-350.
- Peters, L. L., John, K. M., Lu, F. M., Eicher, E. M., Higgins, A., Yialamas, M., Turtzo, L. C., Otsuka, A. J. and Lux, S. E. (1995). Ank3 (epithelial ankyrin), a widely distributed new member of the ankyrin gene family and the major ankyrin in kidney, is expressed in alterantively spliced forms, including forms that lack the repeat domain. J. Cell Biol. 130: 313-330.
- Pfeifer, K., Haasemann, M., Gamulin, V., Bretting, H., Fahrenholz, F. and Müller, W. E. G. (1993). S-type lectins occur also in invertebrates: high conservation of the carbohydrate recognition domain in the lectin

genes from the marine sponge *Geodia cydonium*. *Glycobiology* **3**: 179-184.

- Pienta, K. J., Murphy, R. C., Getzenberg, R. H. and Coffey, D. S. (1991). The effect of extracellular matrix interactions on morphologic transformations *in vitro*. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* **179**: 333-339.
- Poirer, F. and Robertson, E. J. (1993). Normal development of mice carrying a null mutation in the gene encoding the L14 S-type lectin. *Development* **119**: 1229-1236.
- Potts, J. R. and Campbell, I. D. (1994). Fibronectin structure and assembly. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 6: 648-655.
- Powell, L. D. and Varki, A. (1995). I-type lectins. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 14243-14246.
- Puche, A. C., Poirer, F., Hair, M., Bartlett, P. F. and Key, B. (1996). Role of Galectin-1 in the developing mouse olfactory system. *Dev. Biol.* 179: 274-287.
- Rabinovich, G. A., Modesti, N. M., Castagna, L. F., Landa, C. A., Riera, C. M. and Sotomayor, C. E. (1997). Specific inhibition of lymphocyte proliferation and induction of apoptosis by CLL-I, a β–galactoside binding lectin. J. Biochem. 122: 365-373.
- Ranscht, B. (1994). Cadherins and catenins: interactions and functions in embryonic development. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 6: 740-746.
- Reichsman, F., Smith, L. and Cumberledge, S. (1996). Glycosaminoglycans can modulate extracellular localization of the wingless proteins and promote signal transduction. *J. Cell Biol.* 135: 819-827.
- Romanoff, A. L. (1960). The urogenital system. *The Avian Embryo: Structural* and Functional Development. New York, The Macmillan Company. pp. 783-862.
- Ruoslahti, E. (1988). Structure and biology of proteoglycans. Ann. Rev. Cell Biol. 4: 229-255.
- Salas, P. J. I., Ponce, M. I., Brignoni, M. and Rodriguez, M. L. (1992). Attachment of Madin-Darby canine kidney cells to extracellular matrix: role of laminin binding protein related to the 37/67 kDa laminin receptor in the development of plasma membrane polarization. *Biol. Cell* 75: 197-210.

- Sanford, G. L. and Harris-Hooker, S. (1990). Stimulation of vascular cell proliferation by β-galactoside specific lectins. *FASEB J.* 4: 2912-2918.
- Sarafian, V., Jadot, M., Foidart, J., Letesson, J., van den Brule, F. A., Castronovo, V., Wattiaux, R. and Wattiaux-de Coninck, S. (1998).
 Expression of LAMP-1 and LAMP-2 and their interactions with Galectin-3 in human tumor cells. *Int. J. Cancer* 75: 105-111.
- Sariola, H. (1984). Incomplete fusion of the epithelial and endothelial basement membrane in interspecies hybrid glomeruli. *Cell Diff.* 14: 189-195.
- Sariola, H., Ekblom, P. and Henke-Fahle, S. (1989). Embryonic neurons as in vitro inducers of differentiation of nephrogenic mesenchyme. Dev. Biol. 132: 271-281.
- Sariola, H., Kuusela, P. and Ekblom, P. (1984a). Cellular origin of fibronectin in interspecies hybrid kidneys. J. Cell Biol. 99: 2099-2107.
- Sariola, H., Timpl, R., von der Mark, K., Mayne, R., Fitch, J. M., Linsenmayer, T. F. and Ekblom, P. (1984b). Dual origin of glomerular basement membrane. *Dev. Biol.* 101: 86-96.
- Sato, S., Burdett, I. and Hughes, R. C. (1993). Secretion of baby hamster kidney 30-kDa galactose-binding lectin from polarized and non-polarized cells: a pathway independent of the endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi complex. *Exp. Cell Res.* 207: 8-18.
- Saxen, L. (1987). Organogenesis of the Kidney. Cambridge, UK. Cambridge University Press.
- Schiller, A. and Tiedemann, K. (1981). The mature mesonpehric nephron of t he rabbit embryo. III. Freeze-fracture studies. *Cell Tiss. Res.* 221: 431-442.
- Schlondorff, D. (1996). Roles of the mesangium in glomerular function. *Kidney Int.* **49**: 1583-1583.
- Schmidt, A., Heid, H. W., Schafer, A., Nuber, U. A., Zimbelmann, R. and Franke, W. W. (1994). Desmosomes and cytoskeletal architecture in epithelial differentiation: cell-type specific plaque components and intermediate filament anchorage. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 65: 229-245.
- Schultheiss, T.M., Xydas, S., and Lassar, B.M. (1995). Induction of avian cardiac myogenesis by anterior endoderm. *Development* **121**: 4203-4214.

- Schuster, V. L. (1990). Organization of collecting duct intercalated cells. *Kidney Int.* **38**: 668-672.
- Sharon, N. and Lis, H. (1987). A century of lectin research (1888-1988). *TIBS* **12**: 488-491.
- Sheil, M. J. and Caplan, M. J. (1995). The generation of epithelial polarity in mammalian and *Drosophila* embryos. *Sem. Dev. Biol.* 6: 39-46.
- Siddiqui, B. and Hakamori, S.E. (1971). A revised structure of the Forssman glycolipid hapten. J. Biochem. 246: 5766-5769.
- Skrincosky, D. M., Allen, H. J. and Bernacki, R. J. (1993). Galaptin-mediated adhesion of human ovarian carcinoma A121 cells and detection of cellular galaptin-binding glycoproteins. *Cancer Res.* 53: 2667-2675.
- Sorokin, L. and Ekblom, P. (1992). Development of tubular and glomerular cells of the kidney. *Kidney Int.* 41: 657-664.
- Sorokin, L., Sonnenberg, A., Aumailley, M., Timpl, R. and Ekblom, P. (1990). Recognition of the laminin E8 cell-binding site by an integrin possessing the α_6 subunit is essential for epithelial polarization in the developing kidney tubule. *J. Cell Biol.* **111**: 1265-1273.
- Spinardi, L., Einheber, S., Cullen, T., Milner, T. A. and Giancotti, F. G. (1995). A recombinant tail-less integrin β_4 subunit disrupts hemidesmosomes, but does not suppress $\alpha_6\beta_4$ -mediated cell adhesion to laminins. *J. Cell Biol.* **129**: 473-487.
- Spinardi, L., Ren, Y., Sanders, R. and Giancotti, F. G. (1993). The β_4 subunit cytoplasmic domain mediates the interaction of $\alpha_6\beta_4$ integrin wih the ytoskeleton of hemidesmosomes. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 4: 871-884.
- Svennevig, K., Prydz, K. and Kolset, S. O. (1995). Proteoglycans in polarized epithelial Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. *Biochem. J.* **311**: 881-888.
- Szulman, A.E. (1975). Experimental *in vitro* organogenesis and its modification by antibody directed to a cell surface antigen. *Dev. Biol.* 43: 101-108.
- Tiedemann, K. (1979). Architecture of the mesonephric nephron in pig and rabbit. Anat. Embryol. 157: 105-112.
- Tiedemann, K. (1983). The pig mesonephros. I. Enzyme histochemical observations on the segmentation of the nephron. *Anat. Embryol.* **167**: 113-123.

- Tiedemann, K. (1985). The pig mesonephros. III. Distal tubule, collecting tubule, and Wolffian duct: SEM- and TEM-studies. Anat. Embryol. 172: 123-132.
- Tiedemann, K. and Egerer, G. (1984). Vascularization and glomerular ultrastructure in the pig mesonephros. *Cell Tiss. Res.* 238: 165-175.
- Tiedemann, K. and Wettstein, R. (1980). The mature mesonephric nephron of the rabbit embryo. I. SEM studies. *Cell Tiss. Res.* 209: 95-109.
- Tiedemann, K. and Zaar, K. (1983). The pig mesonephros. II. The proximal tubule: SEM, TEM, and freeze-fracture images. Anat. Embryol. 168: 241-252.
- Timpl, R. (1996). Macromolecular organization of basement membranes. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 8: 618-624.
- Timpl, R. and Brown, J. C. (1994). The laminins. Matrix Biol. 14: 275-281.
- van Adelsberg, J., Edwards, J. C., Takito, J., Kiss, B. and Al-Awqati, Q. (1994). An induced extracellular matrix protein reverses the polarity of band 3 in intercalated cells. *Cell* **76**: 1053-1061.
- van den Brule, F. A., Buicu, C., Balder, M., Sobel, M. E., Cooper, D. N. W., Marschal, P. and Castronovo, V. (1995a). Galectin-1 modulates human melanoma cell adhesion to laminin. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm.* 209: 760-767.
- van den Brule, F. A., Buicu, C., Sobel, M. E., Liu, F. T. and Castronovo, V. (1995b). Galectin-3, a laminin binding protein, fails to modulate adhesion of human melanoma cells to laminin. *Neoplasma* 42: 215-219.
- van der Bijl, P., Lopes-Cardozo, M. and van Meer, G. (1996). Sorting of newly synthesized galactosphingolipids to the two surface domains of epithelial cells. J. Cell Biol. **132**: 813-821.
- Vasta, G. R., Ahmed, H., Mario, A. L. and Bianchet, M. A. (1997). Galectins from amphibian species: carbohydrate specificity, molecular structure, and evolution. *TIGG* 9: 131-144.
- Vega-Salas, D. E., Salas, P. J. I., Gundersen, D. and Rodriques-Boulan, E. (1987). Formation of the apical pole of epithelial (Madin-Darby canine kidney) cells: polarity of an apical protein is independent of tight junctions

while segregation of a basolateral marker requires cell-cell interactions. *J. Cell Biol.* **104**: 905-916.

- Veis, A. and George, A. (1994). Fundamentals of interstitial collagen selfassembly. Extracellular Matrix Assembly and Structure. (P. D. Yurchenco, D. E. Birk and R. P. Mecham, ed.) New York, Academic Press. pp. 15-46.
- Vogel, K. G. (1994). Glycosaminoglycans and proteoglycans. Extracellular Matrix Assembly and Structure. (P. D. Yurchenco, D. E. Birk and R. P. Mecham, ed.) New York, Academic Press. pp. 243-280.
- von der Mark, K., von der Mark, H. and Goodman, S. (1992). Cellular responses to extracellular matrix. *Kidney Int.* **41**: 633-640.
- Vyakarnam, A., Dagher, S. F., Wang, J. L. and Patterson, R. J. (1997). Evidence for a role for Galectin-1 in pre-mRNA splicing. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 17: 4730-4737.
- Wada, J. and Kanwar, Y. S. (1997). Identification and characterization of Galectin-9, a novel β-galactoside-binding mammalian lectin. J. Biol. Chem. 272: 6078-6086.
- Wada, J., Ota, K., Kumar, A., Wallner, E. I. and Kanwar, Y. S. (1997).
 Developmental regulation, expression, and apoptotic potential of Galectin-9, a β-galactoside binding lectin. J. Clin. Invest. 99: 2452-2461.
- Wagner-Hülsmann, C., Bachinski, N., Diehl-Seifert, B., Blumbach, B., Steffen, R., Pancer, Z., and Müller, W.E.G. (1996). A galectin links the aggregation factor to cells in the sponge (*Geodia cydonium*) system. *Glycobiology* 6: 785-793.
- Walker, F. (1973). The origin, turnover and removal of glomerular basementmembrane. J. Pathol. 110: 233-244.
- Wandinger-Ness, A., Bennett, M. K., Antony, C. and Simons, K. (1990). Distinct transport vesicles mediate the delivery of plasma membrane proteins to the apical and basolateral domains of MDCK cells. J. Cell Biol. 111: 987-1000.
- Wang, A. Z., Wang, J. C., Ojakian, G. C. and Nelson, W. J. (1994).
 Determinants of apical membrane formation and distribution in multicellular epithelial MDCK cysts. Am. J. Physiol. 267: C473-C481.

- Wang, J. L., Werner, E. A., Laing, J. G. and Patterson, R. J. (1992). Nuclear and cytoplasmic localization of a lectin-ribonucleoprotein complex. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 20: 269-274.
- Weber, M. (1992). Basement membrane proteins. Kidney Int. 41: 620-628.
- Wells, V. and Malluci, L. (1991). Identification of an autocrine negative growth factor: mouse β -galactoside-binding protein is a cytostatic factor and cell growth regulator. *Cell* 64: 91-97.
- Wettstein, R. and Tiedemann, K. (1981). The mature mesonephric nephron of the rabbit embryo. II. TEM-studies. *Cell Tiss. Res.* **218**: 161-180.
- Wilson, T. J. G., Firth, M. J., Powell, J. T. and Harrison, F. L. (1989). The sequence of the mouse 14 kDa β–galactoside-binding lectin and evidence for its synthesis on free cytoplasmic ribosomes. *Biochem. J.* 261: 847-852.
- Winyard, P. J. D., Bao, Q., Hughes, R. C. and Woolf, A. S. (1997). Epithelial Galectin-3 during human nephrogenesis and childhood cystic diseases. J. Am. Soc. Neph. 8: 1647-1657.
- Wollner, D. A., Krzeminski, K. A. and Nelson, W. J. (1992). Remodeling the cell surface distribution of membrane proteins during the development of epithelial cell polarity. *J. Cell Biol.* **116**: 889-899.
- Woolf, A.S., Kolatsi-Joannou, M., Hardman, P., Andermarcher, E., Moorby, C., Fine, L.G., Jat, P.S., Noble, M.D., and Gherardi, E. (1995). Roles of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor and the met receptor in the early development of the metanephros. J. Cell Biol. 128: 171-184.
- Woynarowska, B., Skrincosky, D. M., Haag, A., Sharma, M., Matta, K. and Bernacki, R. J. (1994). Inhibition of lectin-mediated ovarian tumor cell adhesion by sugar analogs. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 22797-22803.
- Yamoaka, K., Ingendoh, A., Tsubuki, S., Nagai, Y. and Sanai, Y. (1996).
 Structural and functional characterization of a novel tumor-derived rat Galectin-1 having transforming growth factor (TGF) activity: the relationship between intramolecular disulfide bridges and TGF activity. J. Biochem. 119: 878-886.
- Yang, R., Hsu, D. K. and Liu, F. (1996). Expression of Galectin-3 modulates Tcell growth and apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93: 6737-6742.
- Yurchenco, P. D. (1994). Assembly of laminin and type IV collagen into basement membrane networks. *Extracellular Matrix Assembly and*

Structure. (P. D. Yurchenco, D. E. Birk and R. P. Mecham, ed.) New York, Academic Press. pp. 351-388.

- Yurchenco, P. D. and O'Rear, J. J. (1994). Basal lamina assembly. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 6: 674-681.
- Zalik, S. E., Didier, E., Didier, P., Ledsham, I. M., Bayle, D. and Sanders, E. J. (1994). Expression of the galactose-binding lectins during the formation of organ primordia in the chick embryo. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 38: 55-68.
- Zalik, S. E., Schneider, W. J. and Ledsham, I. M. (1990). The gastrulating chick blastoderm contains 16-kDa and 14-kDa galactose-binding lectins possibly associated with an apolipoprotein. *Cell Diff. Dev.* **29**, 217-231.
- Zhou, Q. and Cummings, R. D. (1990). The S-type lectin from calf heart tissue binds selectively to the carbohydrate chains of laminin. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 281: 27-35.
- Zinkl, G. M., Zuk, A., van der Bijl, P., van Meer, G. and Matlin, K. S. (1996). An antiglycolipid antibody inhibits Madin-Darby Canine Kidney cell adhesion to laminin and interferes with basolateral polarization and tight junction formation. J. Cell Biol. 133: 695-708.